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DATES 

¶ Prior to 1752 the year began on 25 March (Lady Day). In order to avoid confusion, a date which in the 
modern calendar would be written 2 February 1714 is written 2 February 1713/4 - i.e.  the baptism, 
marriage or burial occurred in the 3 months (January, February and the first 3 weeks of March) of  
1713 which 'rolled over' into what in a modern calendar would be 1714. 

¶ Civil registration was introduced in England and Wales in 1837 and records were archived quarterly; 
hence, for example, 'born in 1840Q1' the author here uses to mean that the birth took place in 
January, February or March of 1840. Where  only a baptism date is given for an individual born after 
1837, assume the birth was registered in the same quarter. 

 
BIRTHS, MARRIAGES AND DEATHS 

Databases of all known Skidmore and Scudamore bmds can be found at 
www.skidmorefamilyhistory.com 

 
PROBATE 

A list of all known Skidmore and Scudamore wills - many with full transcription or an abstract of its 
contents - can be found at www.skidmorefamilyhistory.com in the file Skidmore/Scudamore One-Name 
Study Probate. 

 
CITATION 

Please respect the author's contribution and state where you found this information if you quote it. 
Suggested citation 
'The Skidmore and Scudamore Families of Frampton Cotterell, Gloucestershire 1650-1915 by Linda 
Moffatt at the website of the Skidmore/ Scudamore One-Name Study www.skidmorefamilyhistory.com'. 

 
PRIVACY 

The Skidmore/ Scudamore One-Name Study does not, as a matter of course, publish any biographical 
detail from the last 100 years, unless with permission of descendants.  

 

 

This is a work in progress. The author is pleased to be informed of errors and to receive additional 
information for consideration for future updates at skidmore@one-name.org 

This file was last updated 

by Linda Moffatt on 

8 March 2016. 
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PREFACE 
 
The first account of this family was written by the late Warren Skidmore in 2006. With Warren's blessing, I 
revised parts of his 2006 piece and took it forward to include people born up to the time of the British census 
of 1911. The account would not be nearly so complete without the labours of the late John Hunt of Potton, 
Bedfordshire who acquired most of the raw material long before the days of the Internet. We are also 
indebted to the late Mrs Kathleen Skidmore who turned up many of the records noticed here on the London 
families. 
 
Since the publication on our website of the 1st edition in 2012 much more material has become available. This 
2nd revision in 2015 takes the story on to 1915. It also includes the World War 1 service of a number of men, as 
well as numerous other minor amendments and additions to our knowledge made over the past three years. 
Linda Moffatt, May 2015.  
 
 

INTRODUCTION 

 

The origin of the Frampton Cotterell Skidmores in Westerleigh. 
 
DŀǎŎŜƭȅƴΩǎ ƭŀƴŘǎ ŀǘ CǊŀƳǇǘƻƴ /ƻǘǘŜǊŜƭƭ ŀƴŘ ²ŜǎǘŜǊƭŜƛƎƘ ŘŜǎŎŜƴŘŜŘ ǘƻ {ƛǊ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ {ŜȅƳƻǳǊ ǿƘƻ ŘƛŜŘ ŀǘ 
Frampton Cotterell on 23 April 1627. An inquest post mortem taken at Thornbury on 31 July 1628 shows that 
ƘŜ ŘƛŜŘ ƻǿƴƛƴƎ ǘƘŜ ƳŀƴƻǊ ŎŀƭƭŜŘ άDŀǎƭƛƴƎǎέ alias Frampton Cotterell. The messuages, cottages, closes, 

meadows, pastures (as well as the advowson of the church) are named but nothing is said about the tenants. 
SŜȅƳƻǳǊΩǎ ǎƳŀƭƭ ƘƻƭŘƛƴƎ ƛƴ ²ŜǎǘŜǊƭŜƛƎƘ όƴƻǿ ǎƘƻǿƴ ŀǎ нл ŀŎǊŜǎ ƻŦ ǇŀǎǘǳǊŜύ ƛǎ ŀƭǎƻ ƳŜƴǘƛƻƴŜŘΦ bƻǘƘƛƴƎ ƛǎ ǎŀƛŘ 
about the tenant who held it, but it might possibly have been James Skidmore (ca.1565-1629), a substantial 
yeoman like his father, who had a farmstead at Ashbury at the time of his death (about two years after 
Seymour died).

1
 Ashbury was a hamlet close to Frampton Cotterell but is now lost as a place-name.

2
 The eldest 

Skydmore son and heir in each generation had probably held this freehold farm at Brownfield in Ashbury. The 

                                                           
1
  Warren Skidmore, unpublished. 

2
 It survived until at least 1830 when it appears as a knoll in the Ordnance Survey map with coordinates at 156-682(812).  

It may have been formerly reckoned as a part of Mayshill. 
 

Simple sketch plan to show the position of Westerleigh village, of Mayshill, and of Ashbury.  
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younger sons, as always, were forced to either negotiate a leasehold from the lord of the manor, to learn a 
useful trade in the parish, or better still to be apprenticed to a tradesmen in the cities which offered the very 
best opportunity for advancement. Many of the sons left Westerleigh for Bristol, went up to London, or off to 
Ireland or New England, and at a still later date to Australia. 
 
 

The use of the surnames Skidmore and Scudamore in the Frampton Cotterell families. 
 
The families using the parish church of St Peter's, Frampton Cotterell were baptised, married and buried with 
the surname Scudamore until mid-1841 - the burial register clearly shows the switch between May 1841 (at 
the burial of Ann Scudamore) and August 1841 (at the burial of Lucy Skidmore). This coincides with the first 
British census to list all members of a household, taken on 6 June 1841, at which families in Frampton 
Cotterell, Winterbourne and Bristol were enumerated as Skidmore. In the early years of the 19th century when 
Frampton Cotterell boys were apprenticed, their surname was recorded as Skidmore. The descendants of our 
Frampton Cotterell families using St Michael's church in Winterbourne (first entry 1792) are always found as 
Skidmore, as are those who moved to work on the Gloucester docks, the coal mines of Monmouthshire, the 
ironworks in Bristol and those who became hatters in Southwark, London. This suggests strongly that the 
Frampton Cotterell families were known as Skidmore but were recorded up to 1841 by custom as Scudamore 
by the clergy of St Peter's. 
 
Some families from Frampton Cotterell and Winterbourne moved into Bristol during the 1840s and were 
initially boot and shoemakers - see descendants of Pinnell Skidmore [21] and of Daniel Skidmore [23]

3
. Certain 

of the descendants of Daniel [23] later used the surname Scudamore on an 'everyday basis', some from as 
early as the 1850s, others from as late as the 1890s. Details can be found in the text and on the family tree 
which accompanies this account. It seems that brothers from a single family adopted the surname at different 
times, at least as far as can be judged by the names they gave to census enumerators - see the sons of Luke 
Skidmore [49]. In fact, Luke's son Daniel Skidmore in his will (proved in 1876) named as one of his executors his 
brother George Scudamore. 
 
 

The first Skidmores in Frampton Cotterell parish. 
 
Skidmore families are found in the neighbouring parish of Westerleigh as early as the 15th century though the 
earliest mention of Skidmore residing in Frampton Cotterell does not occur in the parish registers of St Peter's 
there until the 1680s. Edward Skidmore was buried on 11 January 1682/3 at Frampton Cotterell and his widow 
Sarah (née Atwood) followed on 27 December 1688. A younger Edward Skidmore and William Skidmore, 
presumably brothers or cousins, were raising their families in Frampton Cotterell during the 1690s and 1700s. 
We presently have no evidence of the occupation of Edward Skidmore but we know that William Skidmore 
was a feltmaker at Frampton Cotterell when on 19 June 1699 he was a bondsman at the marriage of Richard 
Prior, a feltmaker of Stoke Gifford, and Elizabeth Hollister of Frampton Cotterell (a couple who intended to 
marry at Augustine the Less, Bristol). We know that the art of feltmaking existed in the Westerleigh family in 
the late 17th century. Robert Skidmore (1640-77) was apprenticed on 26 March 1655 to Abraham Read, a 
citizen and weaver of London, for a term of seven years. He was admitted a freeman in the WŜŀǾŜǊΩǎ Iŀƭƭ ƻƴ у 
5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ мсто ŀƴŘ ƭƛǾŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ ǇŀǊƛǎƘ ƻŦ {ǘ hƭŀǾŜΩǎΣ {ƻǳǘƘǿŀǊƪΦ Iƛǎ ǎƻƴ wƻōŜǊǘΣ ōŀǇǘƛȊŜŘ нн WŀƴǳŀǊȅ мсспκр ŀǘ 
{ǘ hƭŀǾŜΩǎ ϥǘƘŜ ǎƻƴ ƻŦ wƻōŜǊǘ ŀƴŘ {ǳǎŀƴ {ƪƛŘƳƻǊŜϥ is presumably the Robert Skidmur of London, a member of 
the Company of Feltmakers

4
 who took the Association Oath in 1696

5
. He had died there before 10 January 

1711/2 when the administration of his estate was given to his widow Jane. 

                                                           
3
  The male heads of the households described below are given code numbers which enable them to be easily tracked  

through this account. These codes match those in the master databases of birth, marriages, deaths and censuses 
produced by the Skidmore/ Scudamore One-Name Study. 

4
  The Worshipful Company of Feltmakers. The first reference to Feltmakers is in London in 1180. In 1269 the Cappers  

became officially established. Hurers made shaggy caps and in 1311 the Hatters were active. The Hurers and Cappers 
amalgamated with the Hatters and then merged with the powerful Haberdashers in 1502. Many feltmakers were 
already members of the Haberdashers and, as the Haberdashers controlled the retail outlets and the raw materials, 
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At present, the Skidmore/ Scudamore DNA Project has obtained genealogical DNA evidence from only three 
male descendants of Frampton Cotterell residents. These three DNA results match each other but do not 
match those from descendants out of the adjoining parish of Westerleigh. The three participants all descend 
from one man - Daniel Skidmore FCL[11]. Daniel [11]'s first wife died in 1769 which suggests his birth was 
around 1740-1745. His baptism as Skidmore or Scudamore has yet to be found and Warren Skidmore has 
tentatively suggested he is a son of Daniel [5]. When more men of Skidmore/ Scudamore descent volunteer to 
take part in our DNA study, it is possible that we will be able to establish that Westerleigh and Frampton 
Cotterell Skidmores are indeed 'genetic cousins'. 

 
Feltmaking and hatmaking in Frampton Cotterell. 
 
Feltmaking and hatmaking was already well-established in the area, in London and elsewhere. Hatting began 
as a cottage industry in the 16th century because of the ŀōǳƴŘŀƴŎŜ ƻŦ ǊŀōōƛǘΩǎ ŦǳǊ ǿƘƛŎƘ ǿŀǎ ŀƴ ŜǎǎŜƴǘƛŀƭ 
ingredient of felt

6
. It was the experienced workforce plus plentiful coal that later encouraged Christy & Co. of 

Bermondsey, London to construct two 3-storey hat factories in Park Lane, Frampton Cotterell, between 1818 
and 1823. 
 
Christy's former hat factory, Frampton 
Cotterell, 
from www.framptoncott.co.uk 
 
The upper floors are divided into cubicles 
with tiny closed windows to minimise 
draughts that disturb fine wool used for 
hats. This road was named Penny Lane 
because householders got one penny per 
bucket of urine used in hatmaking. There 
were 120 employees in 1834 making 1300 
hats per week.  
 
 
 
 
The factory system (where the employer paid people a wage for their labour, employees worked set hours and 
the products were sold by the factory owner) was introduced here by Christy. It replaced the domestic system 
which Ƴƻǎǘ ƭƛƪŜƭȅ ŜȄƛǎǘŜŘ ŦƻǊ ƘŀǘǘƛƴƎ ƛƴ CǊŀƳǇǘƻƴ /ƻǘǘŜǊŜƭƭ ǇǊƛƻǊ ǘƻ /ƘǊƛǎǘȅΩǎ ǿƻǊƪǎ, by which a man bought raw 
materials from a merchant to create a product. The merchant paid him for each article, organised the work of 
many others, providing materials for them to create articles then paying them for the number produced.  
 
Luke Fowler, manager of Christy's Hat Factory in Frampton Cotterell, found that men became dissatisfied with 
working conditions and unwilling to do certain tasks. The men came out on strike in 1834 and after this was 
settled not everybody got their jobs back. The work force was down to 80 by 1840 then further reduced in 
1845. When Christy introduced new machinery to speed-up the work of fur cutting in 1864 there was another 
strike so production ceased in 1866

7
. 

                                                                                                                                                                                     
this unification seemed sensible. The Feltmakers were the only group to survive in name and became synonymous with 
hatters and is today the Livery Company of the hatters. From  www.feltmakers.co.uk 

5
  Oaths of allegiance were used to secure the loyalty to the sovereign and to help identify potential opponents. They  

were relatively common in post-Reformation and revolutionary England. Association Oath Rolls for City of London 
Livery Companies followed the discovery in 1696 of a plot to assassinate William III. A transcription of the Association 
Oath Rolls for the City of London Livery Companies are now available on British Origins. This dataset contains the 
names of over 21,500 members of 77 livery companies. It is likely that for most Companies the great majority of 
members would have signed the Oath Roll. 

6
  South Gloucestershire Heritage Forum, Heritage & Archaeology Newsletter, Autumn 2009. Chris Heal was a research  

student at the University of Bristol, where his subject was Ψ¢ƘŜ IŀǘǘƛƴƎ LƴŘǳǎǘry of Bristol & South Gloucestershire 
1570-мфллΩΦ 

7
  www.framptoncott.co.uk 
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The following chart shows how the decline in hatmaking in south Gloucestershire is reflected in the migration 
of Skidmore families, particularly to the town of Bristol. 
 

Number of persons bearing the surname Skidmore or Scudamore 

and numbers of males of different occupations. 

 

 

 

Census 
year 

Frampton 
Cotterell 
and 
Westerleigh 

Winterbourne Bristol Gloucester London Monmouthshire Total 

1841 64 20   11 14 22 8 139 

 11 HATTERS 
1 carpenter 
1 shoemaker 

6 HATTERS 
1 shoemaker 
1 butcher 
2 brickmakers 
2 quarrymen 

 
1 ironworker 

 
3 boatmen 
2 ag labourer 
1 brickmaker 

3 HATTERS 
1 grocer 
2 printers 

 
1 tailor 
2 colliers 

 

1871 18 31 90 24 Gloucester 
[+ 10 in  
Cheltenham] 

30 
 

12 215 

 2 HATTERS 
1 tailor 
1 groom 

2 HATTERS 
1 plasterer 
4 ag labourer 
2 quarrymen 

4 HATTERS 
5 shoemakers        2 tailors 
1 groom        1 coach builder 
4 labourers            1 painter 
1 brewer             1 innkeeper 
1 grocer           1 cabinet mkr 
1 clerk                    1 haulier 

 
1 boatman 
1 brickmaker 
1 lock keeper 
1 shopkeeper 
1 sawmill wkr 
1 dock labourer 
[1 shoemaker] 

1 HATTER 
2 masons 
1 plumber 
3 labourers 
1 book mnfr 
1 printer 
1 soldier 

 
3 colliers 
1 labourer 
1 blacksmith 

 

1901 23 33 208 35 
[+13 in 
Cheltenham] 

55 13 
[+ 8 in Glamorgan] 
[+3 in 
Pembrokeshire] 

391 

  
1 plasterer 
1market gdnr 
2 colliers 

 
1 plasterer 
3 ag labourer 
1 railway lab. 
4 masons 
1 labourer 

1 HATTER          
9 shoemkrs            1 tailor 
1 stay presser        2 grocers 
2 warehousemen  1 cashier 
3 clerks             1 accountant 
2 masons         1 piano tuner 
1 tram driver         1 chemist 
1 gardener       1 postmaster 
3 chair mkrs 
1 French polisher 
2 wkr in chocolate mnfr 
1 lab'rer            1 galvaniser              
1 gas stoker 
1 factory engineman    1 collier 
1 firewood dealer   1 cotton 
weaver 
4 tobacco workers  2 carters 
 

 
3 dock labourers 
1 carpenter 
1 navvy 
1 blacksmith 
1 fishmonger 
1 deal porter 
1 wkr at wagon 
works 
[1commission 
agent, 
1 plasterer, 
1 painter, 
1 builder] 

 
2 farriers 
1window cleaner 
1 compositor 
2 painters 
1 coal carter 
1 warehouseman 
1 vellum book 
maker 
1 gas fitter 
2 timber sawyers 
1 engineer's labr 
1 factory packer 
1 railway labourer 

 
1 greengrocer 
2 coalminers 
 
[1 bookbinder 
1 coalminer 
1 warehouseman] 
 
[1 plumber 
1 school teacher] 
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GENERATION 1 
 

For the purposes of this account Edward Skidmore and William Skidmore,  
mentioned in the Introduction above, are considered Generation 1. 

Their descendants can be identified with the prefix FCL in databases of the Skidmore/ Scudamore  
One-Name Study. Thus Edward immediately below is found as FCL [1]. 

 
 
FCL 1.  EDWARD

1
 SKIDMORE. His baptism has not been found, nor has the marriage to his wife Anne _____. 

He is almost certainly a brother or cousin to William Skidmore, described below.  
 
He was one of 26 men who voted at Frampton Cotterell in 1710, but is first noticed there at the baptism of his 
first child in 1695. He was an appraiser of William Turner, a feltmaker of Frampton Cotterell on 31 March 1701. 
Later he was an appraiser of Henry Goff, a blacksmith of the same place on 6 November 1719, signing both of 
the inventories with his mark. His burial has not been found, but his wife is probably the Anne Scudamore 
buried on 24 December 1749 at Frampton Cotterell

8
. 

Children of Edward and Ann Skidmore
9
, baptised at Frampton Cotterell, 

i.  Sarah, baptised 7 December 1695. 
ii.  Edward, born 5 May (baptised 6 May) 1698. [An infant who was christened immediately after 
 birth usually was not expected to live, and nothing more has been learned of this Edward.] 
iii.  Margaret, baptised 13 January 1700/1. She appears to have married John Muzley (Morsley) of 
 Westerleigh

10
 on 14 July 1729 at Frampton Cotterell. According to the IGI, a son Joseph was 

 baptised on 22 May 1737 at Westerleigh. 
iv.  Amy, baptised 19 August 1703.  
v.  Ann, baptised 5 November 1705. 

3.  vi.  JOHN, baptised 5 November 1707. 
4.  vii.  NATHAN, baptised 21 May 1710. 

viii.  Michael, baptised 24 November 1712. He was buried an infant on 12 February 1712/3. 
 
FCL 2.  WILLIAM

1
 SKIDMORE was probably a brother or cousin of the Edward Scudamore next above. He was a 

feltmaker at Frampton Cotterell when on 19 June 1699 he was a bondsman at the marriage of Richard Prior, a 
feltmaker of Stoke Gifford, and Elizabeth Hollister of Frampton Cotterell (a couple who intended to marry at 
Augustine the Less, Bristol). 
 
He married firstly Elizabeth _____ (who was buried on 12 November 1704 shortly after the birth of her only 
child), and secondly Hester (Esther) Price on 24 May 1708 at Frampton Cotterell. William Scudimore, who 
could this man or his son, was buried at Frampton Cotterell on 15 July 1754. 
A child of William and Elizabeth Skidmore, baptised at Frampton Cotterell, 

i.  Ann, baptised 6 November 1704 at Frampton Cotterell, and buried there on 23 April 1705. 
Children of William and Hester (Price) Skidmore, 

ii.  William, baptised 3 April 1709. 
5.  iii.  DANIEL, baptised 24 February 1711/2. 

iv.  James, baptised 25 December 1714. He was buried on 11 March 1719/20 as James Chidmore. 
 

                                                           
8
  The registers for St Peter's can be found at Bristol Record Office and cover the periods C1561-1995 M1561-1983  

B1561-1995. Originals have been checked for the purposes of this account. 
9
  See the comments in the Introduction concerning the use of the two forms of the surname. 

10
  Westerleigh parish consisted of the area around the church, also parts known as Coalpit Heath, Mayshill, and  

Kendalshire. The registers for St James the Great are held at Bristol Record Office and cover the periods C1693-1968 
M1694-1991 B1693-1882. 
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GENERATION 2 

 
 
3.  JOHN

2
 SKIDMORE, son of Edward [1] and Anne (_____) Skidmore, was baptised on 5 November 1707 at 

Frampton Cotterell. He was buried on 1 October 1736 at Frampton Cotterell, and his wife Hester _____, who 
survived him, was buried there on 15 September 1747. 
Children of John and Hester Skidmore, baptised at Frampton Cotterell, 

i.  Hannah, 'of this parish' [Frampton Cotterell] married Thomas Russell 'of Winterbourne' on 26 
 December 1750. [This Hannah Russell had a niece Elizabeth Scudamore who also married still 
 another Thomas Russell in 1787.] 
ii.  Ann, baptised 25 August 1731. She was buried on 5 October 1735. 

6.  iii.  EDWARD, baptised 18 May 1735. 
 
4.  NATHAN

2
 SKIDMORE was baptised on 21 May 1710 at Frampton Cotterell, the son of Edward [1] and 

Anne (_____) Scudamore. He married Sarah _____, and was buried on 8 May 1776 at Frampton Cotterell. 
Children of Nathan and Sarah Skidmore, baptised at Frampton Cotterell, 

i. [perhaps] Lucy, baptised 13 June 1738, daughter of Nathan and Mary Scudamore. 
ii.  Sarah, baptised 9 November 1730. 
iii.  Hannah, baptised 25 February 1732/3. She was buried on 3 November 1747. 

7.  iv.  MICHAEL, baptised 25 May 1736. 
v.  Amy, baptised 3 December 1738. 
vi.  Margaret, baptised 29 March 1741. She was buried on 8 October 1745. 
vii.  Ann, baptised 18 June 1743. 
viii.  Margaret, baptised 25 December 1745. She married Giles Wright on 15 April 1771 at St James 
 the Great, Westerleigh, witnessed by Richard Roach and Hannah Gully. 

 
5.  DANIEL

2
 SKIDMORE, a son of William [2] and Hester (Price) Skidmore, was baptised on 24 February 

1711/2 at Frampton Cotterell. He married firstly Elizabeth (Betty), a daughter of John Mursley (Morsley) of 
Westerleigh, on 25 December 1735 at Pucklechurch. She was born in 1718 and was named with her elder 
sister Hannah Haynes of Bitton in a survey of Westerleigh manor done in 1741. She was buried on 25 April 
1746, the same day as ƘŜǊ ŘŀǳƎƘǘŜǊΩǎ ŎƘǊƛǎǘŜƴƛƴƎΦ IŜ ƳŀǊǊƛŜŘ secondly Joan Wigmore (possibly a widow) of 
Frampton Cotterell on 15 January 1750/1 there. He died on 3 October 1784 at Frampton Cotterell aged 78. 
Children of Daniel and Betty (Mursley) Skidmore, 
8.  i.  EDWARD, baptised 9 January 1736/7 at Iron Acton

11
. 

9.  ii.  WILLIAM, baptised 24 December 1738 at Frampton Cotterell. 
10.  iii.  JOHN, baptised on 22 March 1740/1. 

iv.  Mary, baptised 18 November 1744. She was buried an infant (as Mary Cudimor) on 17 December 
 1744 at Frampton Cotterell. 
v.  Betty, baptised нр !ǇǊƛƭ мтпс όǘƘŜ ǎŀƳŜ Řŀȅ ŀǎ ƘŜǊ ƳƻǘƘŜǊΩǎ ōǳǊƛŀƭύΦ {ƘŜ ƳŀǊǊƛŜŘ Robert 
 Stratford on 5 April 1772 at Frampton Cotterell. The witnesses were Edward Webb and Isaac 
 Fletcher. 

 

                                                           
11

  The registers for St James the Less can be found at Bristol Record Office and cover the periods C1570-1947 M1570- 
1971 B1571-1992. 
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GENERATION 3 

 
 
6.  EDWARD

3
 SKIDMORE, of Frampton Cotterell, was baptised 18 May 1735 at Frampton Cotterell, a son of 

John [3] and Hester (_____) Skidmore. He appears to be the man of his name (called 'of Frampton Cotterell') 
who married Sarah Wright of Westerleigh on 4 June 1761 at St James the Great, Westerleigh (witnessed by 
John Edwards and Gregory Nicholls).  
Children of Edward and Sarah (Wright) Skidmore, baptised at Frampton Cotterell, 
12.  i.  [perhaps] JOHN, born about 1762. 

ii.  Elizabeth, baptised 24 April 1766. She married Thomas Russell on 26 November 1787 by banns at  
Frampton Cotterell. The witnesses were Richard Denby, Edward Scudamore and Solomon 
Maggs. [They had a son Edward Scudamore Russell buried at Westerleigh on 21 January 1794, 
'son of William Russell'.] 

iii.  Sarah, baptised 28 January 1770. She married John Ovens (born 1764)
12

 on 14 September 1790 
 at Frampton Cotterell by banns, with Edward Scudamore and George Wigmore as the witnesses. 
iv.  Mary, baptised 16 May 1773. She married John Trilly by banns on 6 February 1791 at Frampton 
 Cotterell with James Palser and Mary Palser as witnesses. 
v.  Hester (baptised Esther), baptised 3 January 1776. She married Daniel Parsley on 18 April 1797 
 at Frampton Cotterell by banns, with Edward Skidmore and William Parsley as witnesses. 

13.  vi.  EDWARD, baptised 10 January 1779. 
vii.  Ann, baptised 20 March 1781. 
viii.  Hannah, baptised 27 April 1783. She was buried on 25 September 1785. 

 
7.  MICHAEL

3
 SKIDMORE was baptised on 25 May 1736 at Frampton Cotterell, a son of Nathan [4] and 

Sarah (_____) Skidmore. He married Ann ______, whose family name remains to be found, perhaps in London 
where their first known child was baptised. He was a smith of Church Lane, Stepney in 1773. They were living 
in 1781 on Kingsland Road, and in 1783 on Bow Lane in Shoreditch, London. 
Children of Michael and Ann Skidmore (those baptised in Frampton Cotterell recorded as Scudamore, as 
were all Skidmore baptisms there until 1841), 
14. i. MICHAEL, born 20 January 1773 and baptised Skidmore on 12 February 1773, at 23 days old, 
  at St George in the East, Stepney.  

ii.  Rebecca, baptised 2 April 1775 at Frampton Cotterell. 
iii.  Nathan, baptised 23 November 1777 at Frampton Cotterell. 

14a. iv. [perhaps] JOHN. 
iv.  Mary. She was born 5 December 1780 όōŀǇǘƛǎŜŘ мф WŀƴǳŀǊȅ мтумύ ŀǘ {ǘ [ŜƻƴŀǊŘΩǎΣ  

Shoreditch. 
v.  !ƴƴΣ ōƻǊƴ п 5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ όōŀǇǘƛǎŜŘ нс 5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊύ мтуо ŀǘ {ǘ [ŜƻƴŀǊŘΩǎΦ 

 
8.  EDWARD

3
 SKIDMORE, a son of Daniel [5] and Elizabeth (Mursley) Skidmore, was baptised on 9 January 

1736/7 at Iron Acton. He married Elizabeth _____. He appears to have died in 1769, although no burial has 
been found. 
Children of Edward and Elizabeth Skidmore, as known, 
15.  i.  DANIEL, born about 1763. 

ii.  Ann. She married Edward Rolph by banns on 23 June 1800 at Frampton Cotterell. The witnesses 
 were Robert Harcombe and Ann Rolph. He died aged 59 and was buried at Frampton Cotterell 
 on 3 November 1835. 

16. iii. EDWARD (posthumous?), baptised 6 August 1769 at St James the Less, Iron Acton, 'a son of  
  Elizabeth Scudamore'. 
 

                                                           
12

  Birth and death years of children found on IGI (private submission): Thomas OVENS 1791-1861, Sarah 1796-,  
Mary 1800-, Elizabeth 1802-, Ann 1805-07, bap. Aug 1805, Ann bap.17 Aug 1812 Frampton Cotterell. 
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9.  WILLIAM
3
 SKIDMORE was baptised 24 December 1738 at Frampton Cotterell, a son of Daniel [5] and 

Elizabeth (Mursley) Skidmore. He married Eleanor Haynes there on 9 January 1763. They were both of 
Frampton Cotterell, and the witnesses were James Haynes and Levi Turner. She was born in 1743 (an entry in 
the IGI gives her birth on 21 April 1743 at Minchinhampton, Gloucestershire), and was buried on 12 January 
1809 aged 66. William Skidmore was buried on 29 April 1791 aged 52 at Frampton Cotterell. 
Children of William and Eleanor (Haynes) Skidmore, baptised at Frampton Cotterell, 

i.  Susannah, baptised 18 June 1764. She married Thomas Wright on 3 November 1783 at Frampton  
Cotterell. The witnesses were Robert Turner and Edward Scudamore. 

17. ii.  WILLIAM, baptised 11 January 1767. 
iii.  Hester (baptised Esther), baptised 10 February 1771. She married Issachar Turner on 23 August 
 1790 at Frampton Cotterell. The witnesses were James Bryant and Eleanor Scudamore. 
iv.  Eleanor, baptised 19 December 1773. She married James Bryant, a hatter (1768-1849) on 22 
 November 1790 at Frampton Cotterell. The witnesses were Issachar Turner and Stephen 
 Burcombe. They had 15 children and lived in Frampton End. A laundress, she spent her later 
 years on poor relief and died in 1857Q2. 
v.  Hannah, baptised 2 June 1776. She married Robert Tanner, a hatter, on 5 August 1793 at 
 Frampton Cotterell. The witnesses were Thomas Golding and Robert Turner. They had eight 
 Tanner children: Isaac 1793-1796, Mary (d.1798), Robert 1802, Martha 1806-07, Mary 1806, 
 George 1808, Mary 1813 m. James Palser, Hezekiah 1816-39. After her husband's death she 
 went to live with the family of George Skidmore [33], probably her son-in-law, and his wife 
 Hannah (whose baptism has not been located). Hannah Tanner died on 23 February 1843 at 
 Frampton Cotterell. I am grateful for this information to Kevin Brady, descendant of their 
 seventh child  Mary. 
vi.  Mary, baptised 21 December 1778. She married (signing herself as Mary Skidmore) Richard 
 Bryant on 29 May 1797 at Frampton Cotterell. The witnesses were James Bryant and Edward 
 Skidmore. She was perhaps the hatter living in Brockridge, Frampton Cotterell at the time of the 
 1841 census (aged 60[-64]); this lady died before the 1851 census. 
vii.  Ann, baptised 20 March 1781. 

18. viii.  JOHN, baptised 25 December 1783. 
ix. [perhaps] Sarah, baptised at Frampton Cotterell on 21 October 1787, daughter of 'William and 
 Sarah Scudamore'. 

 
10.  JOHN

3
 SKIDMORE was baptised on 22 March 1740/1 at Iron Acton, a son of Daniel [5] and Elizabeth 

(Mursley) Skidmore. He married firstly Hannah Clark on 11 April 1766 at Frampton Cotterell. They were both of 
Frampton Cotterell and the witnesses were William Millett junior and Joseph Curtis.  
 
Hannah was buried on 26 April 1771 at Frampton Cotterell and he married secondly Sarah [Rogers?], at an 
unknown place and date. He died aged 61 and was buried at Frampton Cotterell on 21 April 1802. 
Children of John and Hannah (Clark) Skidmore, baptised at Frampton Cotterell, 
19.  i.  MARK, baptised 23 November 1766. 
Children of John and Sarah Skidmore, 

ii.  Frances, baptised 4 October 1772. She was buried on 14 February 1773 at Frampton Cotterell. 
iii.  Elizabeth, baptised 14 July 1774. She married Thomas Newman by banns on 1 April 1793 at 
 Frampton Cotterell. The witnesses were Nathaniel Hellier and Robert Turner. 

 ?20. iv.  George Rogers, baptised 13 December 1776. 
21.  v.  PINNELL ROGERS, baptised 28 March 1779. 

vi.  Lucy, baptised 3 February 1782. On 1 February 1802 a warrant was issued to the constable of 
 Frampton Cotterell to apprehend William Pearce, a feltmaker of Frampton Cotterell, father of 
 child or children of Lucy Scudamore, a singlewoman of Frampton Cotterell

13
.  

A daughter,  
i. Elizabeth Pearce Skidmore, baptised 20 June 1802. 

vii.  Harriet, baptised 18 July 1784. 
22.  viii.  JOHN, baptised 15 April 1787. 

ix.  Sarah, baptised 22 November 1789 and buried seven days later on the 29th. 

                                                           
13

  Bristol Record Office, P/FC/OP/6/28. Information laid by William Davis, overseer. Signed by Edmund Probyn, J.P. 
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11.  DANIEL

3
 SKIDMORE. His baptism has not been found. Jane the wife of Daniel Scudamore was buried on 

3 August 1769 at Frampton Cotterell, suggesting a birth year for Daniel in the early to mid-1740s. 
 
He married secondly Hannah Wigmore by licence on 25 July 1772 at Frampton Cotterell, the witnesses being 
Isaac Jacques and Samuel Hellier. On 7 May 1777 Daniel Scudamore, his wife Hannah, children Daniel aged 4 
and James 2, moved to Iron Acton by virtue of a Certificate of Settlement from Iron Acton dated 6 February 
1750/1

14
. 

 
He was presumably dead by 1787 when Hannah Scudamore married William Clements at Iron Acton as her 
second husband. 
Children of Daniel and Hannah (Wigmore) Skidmore, 
23.  i.  DANIEL, baptised at Frampton Cotterell 27 September 1772 'a son of Daniel and Hannah    
  Scudamore'. 

ii.  James, baptised 16 April 1775 at Frampton Cotterell. 
?20.  iii.  George, baptised 17 July 1778 at Iron Acton. 
 
 

                                                           
14

  Bristol Record Office, P/FC/OP/2/15 attested by Roger Gregory, churchwarden and overseers and Thomas Young, 
 churchwarden. Henry Creswicke (S), Richard Bayly (S), J.P.'s. 
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GENERATION 4 

 
 
12.  JOHN

4
 SKIDMORE, born about 1762 - and whose baptism has not been found - was (given the date of 

their marriage and the name Edward given to his eldest son) perhaps a son of Edward [6] and Sarah (Wright) 
Skidmore. A hatter of Frampton Cotterell, John Scudamore married Ann Simonds of Westerleigh (born about 
1756) on 18 September 1785 at Westerleigh. Joseph Lloyd and Thomas Saunders were witnesses. This John 
Skidmore appears to ōŜ ǘƘŜ ŦƛǊǎǘ ƻŦ ǘƘŜ ŦŀƳƛƭȅ ǘƻ ǎŜǘǘƭŜ ŀǘ ²ŀǘƭŜȅΩǎ 9ƴŘ ƛƴ the parish of Winterbourne

15
 which 

was at the time as well known as Frampton Cotterell for hat making. His wife died there and was buried at St 
Michael's on 26 August 1834 aged 78 and he foƭƭƻǿŜŘ ƛƴ ŘŜŀǘƘ ŀǘ ²ŀǘƭŜȅΩǎ 9ƴŘΣ ōǳǊƛŜŘ 27 July 1841 'aged 84'. 
[His reported age at death seems to be a small exaggeration, 79 being more likely correct given the marriage 
date of his supposed parents. This age of 84 years was also recorded on 6 June of that year to the census 
enumerator]. 
 
The 1841 census describes the area in which the elderly John Skidmore lived (Enumeration District 17) thus: 
'All that part of the parish of Winterbourne, commencing at R. Simmonds [Robert, journeyman hatter], through 
Wadley end to Frampton Cotterel to W

m
 Pocock's [?William W. Pocock, auctioneer] up to W

m
 E. Parker's and 

the Houses below the Swan, bounded by Wadley's End Lane and Winterbourne on the south and Frampton 
Cotterel on the north.'  
Children of John and Ann (Simonds) Skidmore, baptised at Frampton Cotterell, 
25. i.  Edward, baptised on 2 July 1786 at Frampton Cotterell. He appears to be the hatter found with  

his wife Henrietta _____ (born about 1787) in York Place, Southwark, Surrey at the time of the 
1841 census. Whether they had children and where they lived before 1841 is not presently 
known. Henrietta Skidmore died in 1856 aged 69 and was buried on 16 June at Victoria Park 
Cemetery, Hackney. Her husband - said to be aged 66, a pauper and a hatter, and described as a 
widower in the 1851 census in St George's Workhouse, Southwark - died in 1859 aged 76 and 
was buried on 28 February. 
He perhaps had an  earlier marriage.  

i. Esther, born 4 April 1809, baptised 11 June 1809 at St Mary Magdalen,  
Bermondsey, daughter of Edward Skidmore, hatter of Long Lane, Bermondsey, and 
his wife Charlotte Overett Skidmore. 

The following year at the same church the daughter of Edward Skidmore and Ann Rackstraw 
Skidmore was baptised, 

ii. Sarah, born 29 July 1810, baptised 7 October. 
ii.  Hannah, baptised 4 June 1788. She is probably the lady of her name who married George  

England, a hatter (perhaps baptised at Westerleigh 9 August 1781, son of Thomas England), on 5 
July 1813 at St Michael's, Winterbourne by banns, with John Rodman and Sarah Skidmore (her 
sister) as witnesses. They appear to be the couple found in the census of 1841 (he said to be 60, 
she 58) living - with John England aged 19 and Maria England aged 27 - in the same Enumeration 
District as her father. Hannah England died aged 62 and was buried at Winterbourne on 15 
September 1850. Her husband appears to be the man of his name buried there 14 February 1847 
aged 66. 

iii.  John, born 1790. He was buried on 29 August 1828 aged 38 at St Michael's. 
baptised at St Michael's, Winterbourne, except as noted, 
26. iv.  JEREMIAH, baptised on 27 May 1792.  

v.  Sarah, baptised on 25 December 1793. Living in 1813 when she apparently witnessed her sister  
Hannah's wedding. She appears to have married John Rodman, a hatter of Winterbourne (born 
about 1791), at St Paul, Bristol on 27 December 1816 and they lived with their children at 

                                                           
15

  Winterbourne in South Gloucestershire includes the ecclesiastical parishes of Winterbourne, Winterbourne Down and   
Frenchay, and from 1866 the hamlets of Watley's End, Hicks Common, Pye Corner, Whiteshill and Hambrook were all 
within the Civil Parish. 
The parish registers for Winterbourne can be seen at www.frenchaymuseumarchives.co.uk 
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Winterbourne Down. Mrs Rodman died aged 60 and was buried at Winterbourne on 7 June 
1854, her husband in 1868 aged 78. 

vi.  Elizabeth, baptised on 24 May 1795. 
vii.  Ann, baptised 11 May 1797 at Westerleigh as Scuddamore. 

27. viii.  GEORGE, baptised 22 June 1800 at Westerleigh as Scudamore. 
 
13.  EDWARD

4
 SKIDMORE of Westerleigh was baptised on 10 January 1779 at Frampton Cotterell, a son of 

Edward [6] and Sarah (Wright) Skidmore. He married (signing as 'Edward Skidmore') Sarah Parker on 24 June 
1798 at Frampton Cotterell. The witnesses were John Davis

16
 and Edward Scudamore (presumably his cousin 

Edward [16]). The burials of Edward and his wife have not yet been found. 
A child of Edward and Sarah (Parker) Skidmore, 

i.  John Parker, buried as Skidmore on 8 January 1806 at Westerleigh. 
 
14. MICHAEL

4
 SKIDMORE, born about 1765 according to his age at death, was presumably son of Michael 

[7] and Ann Skidmore, though he was not baptised until 1773. He married Jane Standish on 21 June 1796 at St 
Leonard's, Shoreditch. They were living in Standish Lane, Shoreditch at the time of John's baptism in 1797. 
Michael Skidmore died aged 70 in Kings Court, Shoreditch and was buried from St Leonard's there on 22 July 
1835. 
Children of Michael and Jane (Standish) Skidmore, 

i. John, born 13 June 1797 and baptised 25 June at St Leonard's, Shoreditch. 
28. ii. [perhaps] MICHAEL

5
 SKIDMORE married Ann _____. This could be a second marriage for  

Michael [14]. He was a porter of Long Alley, Shoreditch in 1813. At the time of the 1841 
census his widow appears to have been the Ann Skidmore living in a large boarding house in 
Long Alley, aged 50[-54]. Not found later. 
Children of Michael and Ann Skidmore, 

i. [presumably], Michael, of Kingshead Court, buried at St Leonard's on 11  
November 1814, aged 2. 

ii. Thomas, born 26 September 1813, baptised 18 October at St Leonard's,  
Shoreditch. Thomas Skidmore of Shoreditch, aged 1 year 1 month, was 
buried at the Gibraltar Row Protestant Dissenters' Burial Ground, Bethnal 
Green

17
, on 18 December 1814. 

iii. [perhaps] Louisa, born mid-1820, buried in the Gibraltar Row Protestant  
Dissenters' Burial Ground, Bethnal Green, on 27 February 1822, aged 1 
year 7 months, of Old Artillery Ground. 

iv. Thomas, born 21 May 1821 and baptised 11 June at St Leonard's,  
Shoreditch. He was buried in the Gibraltar Row Protestant Dissenters' 
Burial Ground, Bethnal Green, on 29 September 1822, aged 1 year 3 
months, of Shoreditch. 

 
14a. JOHN

4
 SKIDMORE, who, like Michael [7], lived in Kinglands Road, Shoreditch, was perhaps another of 

Michael's children. He had a wife Susannah _____. The burials of John and his wife have not yet been found. 
A child of John and Susannah Skidmore, 

i. Sarah, baptised 15 September 1799 at St Leonard's, Shoreditch. She died aged 5¼ at Kingsland  
Road and was buried at St Leonard's on 7 November 1805. 

 
15.  DANIEL

4
 SKIDMORE was born about 1763 at Frampton Cotterell, presumably the son of Edward [8] and 

Elizabeth (_____) Skidmore. He married Mary Gardiner on 30 June 1798 by banns at Frampton Cotterell (the 
witnesses being Edward Rolph, presumably his future brother-in-law, and George Gardiner). She was perhaps 
baptised at Frampton Cotterell on 15 July 1764, daughter of Thomas and Sarah Gardiner. Her connection to 
the George Gardiner, hatter of Frampton Cotterell (abt.1772-1853) has not yet been found. 
 

                                                           
16

  A John Davis married an as yet unidentified Charlotte Skidmore at St Philip & St Jacob, Bristol on 3 January 1796. 
17

  Gibraltar Row Burial Ground, Bethnal Green was opened in 1793. There is an alphabetical transcript for the   

years to 1837 three volumes on the shelves at The National Archives. 
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Daniel Skidmore was buried at Frampton Cotterell on 18 December 1831, aged 68 years; his wife's burial has 
not yet been found.  
Children of Daniel and Mary (Gardiner) Skidmore, as known, 

i.  Daniel, baptised 1 March 1801 at St James the Less, Iron Acton. 
ii. Elizabeth, born 9 December 1802, baptised in Bristol (church unknown) on 8 May 1803. 

29. iii.  JOHN, born about 1806. 
iv. Lydia, baptised in Bristol (church unknown) on 31 January 1808. 

 
16.  EDWARD

4
 SKIDMORE (SCUDAMORE) was baptised on 6 August 1769 (called the son of Elizabeth 

Scudamore) at Frampton Cotterell, and presumably the posthumous son of Edward [8] and a wife Elizabeth. 
No marriage to Sarah _____ has been found for this Edward. He is perhaps the Edward Scudamore who 
witnessed the marriage in 1790 of William [17] and in 1798 of Edward [13]. So far neither his burial nor that of 
his wife Sarah or daughter Mary has been found locally. 
Children of Edward and Sarah Scudamore, 

i.  Ann, baptised 7 April 1796, and buried three days later on 10 April 1796 at Frampton Cotterell. 
ii.  Mary, baptised 29 May 1797.  
iii.  John, baptised 24 March 1799 at Frampton Cotterell.  

It is possible he was buried at Frampton Cotterell on 27 March 1825 aged 26 and 'of 
Winterbourne', though this is perhaps more likely John [48]. 

 
17.  WILLIAM

4
 SKIDMORE was baptised on 11 January 1767 at Frampton Cotterell, a son of William [9] and 

Eleanor (Haynes) Skidmore. He married Sarah Ovens on 1 February 1790 at SS Philip and Jacob, Bristol (where 
he is called 'of Frampton Cotterell' in the register and she 'of this parish'). The witnesses were Edward 
Scudamore and Thomas Ovens. 
  
Sarah, 'wife of William Scudamore' and aged 32, was buried on 1 October 1798 at Frampton Cotterell. His 
burial has yet to be found. 

A child of William and Sarah (Ovens) Skidmore, as known, 
i.  Susanna, baptised 9 June 1793 at Frampton Cotterell. She is presumably the lady who married  

Timothy Wilcox, a hatter of Frampton Cotterell, on 28 July 1811 at St John the Baptist, Bristol. 
She died aged 56 and was buried at Frampton Cotterell on 9 June 1847, her husband on 22 
August 1847 aged 63. 

 
18. JOHN

4
 SKIDMORE, a son of William [9] and Eleanor (Haynes) Skidmore, was baptised on 25 December 

1783. He is difficult to distinguish from his first cousin John [22]. He married firstly - and possibly as a minor - 
Hannah Maggs on 28 December 1801 at Frampton Cotterell. The witnesses were William Reeve and William 
Davis. The youngest child of this marriage was born in 1808 in Southwark, London. 
 
The burial - perhaps in London - of Hannah Skidmore has not yet been found. On present evidence it appears 
John Skidmore married secondly Martha Maggs on 14 August 1816 at St James, Bristol and they lived at 
²ŀǘƭŜȅΩǎ 9ƴŘ ƛƴ ²ƛƴǘŜǊōƻǳǊƴŜΦ Their son George and his younger brothers Frederick, Robert and John and 
daughter Sarah were living in Watley's End at the time of the 1841 census with the family of John and Martha 
(Skidmore) Clegg, here presumed to be their half-sister. 
 
A John Skidmore, hatter aged 60[-64], who might be this man, was living at the time of the 1841 census at High 
Street West, Eton, Buckinghamshire. He was a hatter and a pauper living with Thomas and Hannah (Hall) 
Boulton at Frampton Common in 1851, where he was called 'a widower'. He was buried at Frampton Cotterell 
on 14 December 1851, aged 70. 
Children of John and Hannah (Maggs) Skidmore, baptised at Frampton Cotterell, 

i. [perhaps] Martha, born about 1800 in Winterbourne. Martha Skidmore married hatter John  
Clegg (who was born in 1800 at Douglas on the Isle of Man) in 1829 at Kingswood. They were 
living in 1841 with their children in Watley's End, together with George, Frederick, Robert and 
John Skidmore, children of John [18]. She died in 1861Q3. 

ii.  William, baptised 18 July 1802, 'of Winterbourne'. He was a collier in Penllwyn, Clawrplwyf,  
Monmouthshire in 1841. He has yet to be found in the census of 1851 but by 1861 was a collier 
(said to be single and born in 'Gloster', Gloucestershire) lodging with the family of Richard Welsh, 
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an iron weigher, in Bedwellty. The census of 1871 states that William was a widower (born in 
'Framton'), though a marriage in the 1860s has not yet been found. He was then lodging with 
widow Elizabeth Turner in Blackwood, Victoria, Monmouthshire. William appears to be the man 
whose death was registered in Bedwellty in 1874Q2 aged 73.  
Since his birthplace was given as Gloucester and Frampton - which could refer to Frampton-on-
Severn - the possibility remains that either he is not the son of John and Hannah or that they 
spent time in Gloucester. There is insufficient evidence to decide whether or not he married. 

iii.  John, baptised 16 December 1804. 
iv.  Hannah, born 3 December 1805, baptised 12 January 1806. 

She is perhaps the Hannah Skidmore who had a son, 
i. John, baptised 31 August 1823 at Frampton Cotterell. 

v.  Ann Esther, born 1 May (baptised мр aŀȅύ мулу ŀǘ {ŀƛƴǘ {ŀǾƛƻǳǊΩǎΣ {ƻǳǘƘǿŀǊƪΣ Surrey. On 6  
October 1826 a removal order was issued from Southwark to Frampton Cotterell for Ann 
Skidmore, a singlewoman who was pregnant

18
. 

i. George, baptised 13 January 1828 at Frampton Cotterell and buried there later  
that year on 4 May, 'aged 1 year'. 

Children of John and Martha (Maggs) Skidmore, born at Watley's End, baptised at St Michael's, 
Winterbourne, 
30. vi.  GEORGE, baptised on 18 May 1817.  

vii.  Elizabeth, baptised on 24 May 1818. She was a servant at Conway House, Charlton Kings at the  
time of the 1841 census. She married John Dyer, a plasterer (born about 1818 in Charlton Kings, 
perhaps a son of James and Elizabeth Dyer) on 26 August 1845 at Charlton Kings. They lived in 
Horsefair Street, Charlton Kings with their children. Elizabeth Dyer died in 1880Q2 aged 62. 

viii.  Sarah, born 1820-21, baptised (aged 2) on 18 May 1823. She was a family servant in 1841 and  
married in 1846Q1 Richard Webb (born about 1824 in Wotton-under-Edge, Gloucestershire). 
They were living in 1851 at Forwood, Minchinhampton, Gloucestershire, where Mr Webb was a 
groom. By 1861 he was a domestic gardener and their home was in Wotton Road, North Nibley, 
Gloucestershire. He later obtained a position in Bristol, where they lived at 7 St Michael's 
Crescent. During the 1870s he became an agent to a tea dealer and moved by 1881 with 
daughter Eliza to 29 Dollar Street, Cirencester. Mrs Webb is found in the 1881 census in Bristol 
with her married daughter Emily E. Fowler. She later lived in the Rowland Hills Almshouses in 
Wotton-under-Edge. Hers was perhaps the death registered at Dursley in 1903Q3, said to be 
aged 84. 

30a. ix.  FREDERICK, baptised on 18 May 1823.  
31. x.  ROBERT, alias ROBERT TANNER SKIDMORE, baptised 8 May 1825. 

xi.  John, baptised on 27 July 1828. Not yet found after 1841 in British censuses. 
 
19.  MARK

4
 SKIDMORE was baptised 23 November 1766 at Frampton Cotterell, a son of John [10] and 

Hannah (Clark) Skidmore. He was a hatter, and went to Southwark in London (another centre of the hatting 
trade). 
 
Mark Skidmore, a hatter and said to be of the parish of St Helen's, Abingdon, Berkshire, had a licence issued by 
The Bishop of Salisbury in Wiltshire and Berkshire on 28 July 1790 to marry Elizabeth Clement, a spinster of the 
same parish

19
. The bondsman was William George, a brewer of Wantage, Berkshire

20
. She was perhaps born 6 

November 1766, baptised 27 May 1767 at Wantage, daughter of John and Mary Clement. 
 
Elizabeth Skidmore appears to be the 53 year old lady of that name who was buried at Deadmans Place 
Independent Chapel, Southwark on 2 May 1819. He is presumably the Mark Scudamore aged 65 who was 
buried on 5 July 1829 at Holy Trinity, Rangeworthy, Gloucestershire. 

                                                           
18

  Bristol Record Office. P/FC/OP/3/50. From Southwark (Surrey): Ann Skidmore, singlewoman, pregnant. J.S. Caldwell (S),  
John Davies (S), J.P.'s (Surrey).   

19
  Sarum Marriage Licence Bonds. 

20
  He was perhaps baptised 1746 at Wantage, the son of Thomas GEORGE & Mary (?ANTISELL, m.1745 Banbury). 

Siblings Hannah 1747, Susannah 1748, Josiah 1749, Thomas 1751, Mary 1753. More work is needed before this can be 
verified. 

http://www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/archon/searches/locresult_details.asp?LR=2
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Children of Mark and Elizabeth (Clement) Skidmore, 
i. [presumably] John, baptised 1792 at St Helen's, Abingdon, Oxfordshire

21
. 

ii.  Mark, born 1 February 1801, baptised 15 March ŀǘ {ǘ {ŀǾƛƻǳǊΩǎΣ {ƻǳǘƘǿŀǊƪ. 
iii.  Thomas, born 12 April 1803, baptised 7 August ŀǘ {ǘ {ŀǾƛƻǳǊΩǎΣ {ƻǳǘƘǿŀǊƪ. 

 
20.  GEORGE

4
 SKIDMORE married Ann Hemmings on 4 June 1806 at St tŀǳƭΩǎΣ .Ǌƛǎǘƻƭ. 

On present evidence - which is patchy and confusing - it is not possible to decide whether he was baptised 
George Rogers Scudamore on 13 December 1776 at Frampton Cotterell, a son of John [10] and Sally (Rogers?), 
or was the George Scudamore baptised 18 months later on 17 July 1778 at Iron Acton, son of Daniel [11] and 
Hannah (Wigmore). Present evidence suggests that only one of these boys survived into adulthood - a 
journeyman hatter living on Adam's Lane, Frampton Cotterell at the time of the 1841 census. One clue which 
perhaps points to his being the son of Daniel [11] is that his (presumed) son George was living in 1841 in the 
same part of Frampton Cotterell as the children of Daniel [23]. The histories of George's children certainly 
differ from those of Pinnel Rogers Skidmore [21], though the names which George gave to his children suggest 
a closer link to Pinnel Skidmore than to Daniel Skidmore. 
 
George Skidmore was said at the time of the 1841 census (when ages were rounded down to the nearest 5 
years) to be aged 55, placing his birth between 1782 and 1786. However, at his death in May 1849 he was said 
to be aged 76, which would place his birth around 1772-73. 
 
Ann Skidmore was perhaps baptised 25 January 1776 at Frampton Cotterell, daughter of George and Sarah 
Hemmings

22
. She was living in 1851, a pauper [i.e. on parish relief], at The Ridge, St {ŀǾƛƻǳǊΩǎΣ /ƻŀƭǇƛǘ IŜŀǘƘΦ 

She was said in 1841 to be aged 60[-64], and in 1851 to be aged 73 and was born at Winterbourne. She is 
presumably the lady living at the time of the 1861 census in Chipping Sodbury Workhouse, who died aged 80 
and was buried at Frampton Cotterell on 24 December of that year. 
 
The marriage of George Skidmore to Ann Hemmings took place on 4 June 1806 at St tŀǳƭΩǎΣ .ǊƛǎǘƻƭΦ However, 
there were earlier children of a couple called George and Ann baptised at Frampton Cotterell between 1798 
and 1800. A daughter Sarah Skidmore, born about 1801, appears to be sister to William Skidmore born about 
1815; they are both known to be children of George Skidmore from Australian records. They both emigrated to 
Australia in 1848 and William was apprenticed to Sarah's husband. On 27 July 1809 a warrant was issued to 
George Skidmore by Samuel Webb, charged by William Skuse, acting Overseer of Frampton Cotterell, for 
absconding from the parish leaving his wife and family chargeable to the parish

23
 (suggesting more than one 

child at this time). Until other evidence emerges, it is here assumed that all the children listed below are those 
of George [20] described here. 
Children of George and Ann Skidmore, baptised at Frampton Cotterell, 
32.  i.  JOHN, baptised 9 September 1798, 'son of George and Ann Scudamore'. 
33. ii.  GEORGE, baptised 27 November 1800, 'son of George and Ann Scudamore'. 

iii.  Sarah, born about 1801. She married firstly George Green, a hatter, on 28 June 1822 at St  
Nicholas, Bristol and they lived in Frampton Cotterell. George Green and seven children are 
found there at the time of the 1841 census. (William Skidmore, a poor child aged 14, was 
apprenticed on 30 December 1830 to George Green, a hatter of Frampton Cotterell, to learn 
hatting - this was presumably her brother William [35]). 
The family emigrated in 1848 to New South Wales. Green died in 1850 soon after arriving in 
Australia and Sarah married secondly James Pickering in 1853, and 3rdly John Gabb in 1858. She 
died on 23 March 1879 aged 78 at Sydney. Her death record notes that she was a daughter of 
George Skidmore, and had lived in New South Wales for 31 years. 
George and Sarah Green's eldest son Mark married Cecelia Jemima Agnes Coffey and continued 
as a hatter, with a shop in George Street, Sydney. 

Children of George and Ann (Hemmings) Skidmore, baptised at Frampton Cotterell, 
iv.  Hannah, born 22 May (baptised 6 September) 1807. She appears to have married Thomas  

                                                           
21

  Oxfordshire Family History Society Index 2009 09 23. 
22

  Ref. IGI, not checked with original. 
23

  Bristol Record Office. P/FC/C/1/6. 



Skidmore (Scudamore) Families of Frampton Cotterell     Linda Moffatt © 2015 
 

17 

 

Heavens, an agricultural labourer (born about 1795), on 18 December 1823 at Frampton 
Cotterell. Abraham Huggins was a witness. The family lived at Winterbourne Down and he died 
in 1859Q3. Mrs Heavens and some of their children continued to live in Winterbourne, where 
she died in 1864Q1. 

v.  Martha, born 27 January (baptised 25 February) 1810.  
34.  vi.  THOMAS, born 1811. 
35.  viii.  WILLIAM, born about 1815 and baptised 6 December 1823 at Frampton Cotterell. 
 
 
21.  PINNELL

4
 SKIDMORE was baptised Pinnell Rogers Scudamore (but otherwise is found as Pinnell 

Skidmore) on 28 March 1779, a son of John [10] and Sally (Rogers?) Skidmore. He was a hatter and married 
Tryphena Maggs on 3 February 1802 at Frampton Cotterell, with William House and William Davis acting as 
witnesses. They lived at Frampton Cotterell until 1817 and then moved into Bristol, or at least used the 
Ebenezer Chapel there for baptisms.  
 
If their son William has been correctly identified in later censuses (as the husband of Betsy Cooper) then his 
birth took place in the Fishponds area of Bristol around 1807. Pinnell and his wife would appear to have spent 
some time in Bristol between around 1815 and 1820 when some of their children were baptised at the 
Ebenezer Wesleyan Chapel, Old King Street there. (More research is needed into the local development of 
Methodism, since it is possible that local Methodist meetings were held at Westerleigh but baptisms took 
place at Bristol). 
 
They were living in 1841 in Kendalshire, Westerleigh. The Bristol Mercury reported on 4 March 1843 the sale of 
houses in Winterbourne in the possession of Pinnell Skidmore and Thomas Skidmore. The latter was 
presumably Thomas [33], his nephew. Tryphena Skidmore died at Winterbourne and was buried at St 
Michael's on 25 May 1843, followed by her husband who was buried on 28 April 1850 at Winterbourne called 
in the register 'of Coalpit Heath' aged 71. 
Children of Pinnell Rogers and Tryphena (Maggs) Skidmore, 

i.  William, buried an infant at Frampton Cotterell on 30 May 1802. 
36.  ii.  WILLIAM, born 8 April 1806. 

iii. Hannah, born about 1806 in Chapelton, Gloucestershire or about 1811 in Fishponds, Bristol  
according to different censuses. She married coal miner Samuel Tovey (?d.1844Q1) and they 
were living with their children in Kendalshire, Westerleigh in 1841. Hannah Tovey, a widow and 
outdoor farm servant, was living by 1851 at Brockridge Hill, Frampton Cotterell, with lodger 
Thomas Williams, whom she later married on 19 March 1866 at Holy Trinity, Bristol (stating that 
her father was 'Pennel Skidmore'). He was a labourer born about 1821 at Frampton Cotterell, 
son of Abraham Williams, and they continued to live at Brockridge until at least 1871. 

the following baptised at Frampton Cotterell, 
iv.  Charles, born 19 October (baptised 20 November) 1807. He was buried on 26 November 1807. 
v.  John, born 24 September (baptised 30 October) 1808. He was buried on 10 January 1809. 
vi.  Daniel, born 31 December 1809 (baptised 28 January 1810). He is perhaps the child buried six  

days later on 4 February 1810 (although if this is so called John in the register). 
vii.  Martha, born 22 March (baptised 4 April) 1811. She died an infant, buried 17 April 1811. 
viii.  Thomas, baptised 24 January 1813. The name of his first wife is not known. He married secondly,  

by licence (and using the surname Skidmore) Alice Moody, a spinster, on 9 February 1834 at 
Winterbourne. R. Clark and James Harcombe were witnesses. Nothing further known. 

ix.  Martha, baptised 14 May 1815. She was buried at Frampton Cotterell on 20 December 1815. 
37. x.  JOSEPH, baptised 2 February 1817. 

xi.  Martha, born 26 December 1818 and baptised on 19 October 1819 at the same time as her older  
brother William at the Ebenezer Wesleyan Chapel, Old Kings Street, Bristol. 

  xii.  John, born 1821 at Winterbourne. 
xiii.  Esther, baptised 22 April 1823, and buried four days later at Frampton Cotterell on 27 April 1823  

'aged one year'. 
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22.  JOHN
4
 SKIDMORE, hatter of Winterbourne, was baptised 15 April 1787, a son of John [10] and Sarah 

(Rogers?) Skidmore.  
 
A hatter, John Skidmore married Ann Banfield on 11 September 1808 at St James, Bristol. Ann Banfield appears 
to have been baptised on 30 January 1785 at Winterbourne, daughter of Richard and Elizabeth (Jones) 
Banfield. The burial of Ann Skidmore, aged 44 of Watley's End, took place on 18 October 1829 at 
Winterbourne.  
 
Widower John Skidmore, a hatter and son of John Skidmore hatter, married Mrs Elizabeth Kitchen on 20 
August 1837 at St James, Bristol. They were both said to be resident at the Horse Fair, Bristol, close to St 
James' church, but it can perhaps safely be assumed that they were, in fact, residents of Winterbourne. 
Elizabeth was born about 1789, daughter of John Wright. John Skidmore was enumerated as a hatter aged 52 
in the 1841 census and was living with his wife ŀǘ ²ŀǘƭŜȅΩǎ 9ƴŘΦ Elizabeth Skidmore died later in that same year 
and was buried at Winterbourne on 10 October 1841, aged 52.  
 

He appears to have married thirdly Harriet Maggs on 31 January 1842 at St James, Bristol (who had been born 
at Winterbourne about 1792, daughter of Solomon Maggs). He and Harriet aged 64 and 59 were enumerated 
in 1851, along with Elizabeth Cullimore, aged 9, a lodger. He died immediately thereafter and was buried at 
Winterbourne, aged 63, on 25 May 1851. 
Children of John and Ann (Banfield) Skidmore, born in Winterbourne, 

i.  Ann, baptised on 26 March 1809. She married Thomas Lowe, a journeyman felt hat maker (born  
about 1806 at Winterbourne) on 29 April 1833 at St James, Bristol and was living in 1841 in 
Watley's End next to her father and stepmother

24
. Their first son John Lowe was born on 19 

February муоу ƛƴ ²ƛƴǘŜǊōƻǳǊƴŜΣ Ǉƻǎǎƛōƭȅ ²ŀǘƭŜȅΩǎ 9ƴŘ as he was baptised at Salem Chapel in 
²ŀǘƭŜȅΩǎ 9ƴŘ ƻƴ но aŀȅ муофΦ IŜ ǿŀǎ ƭŀǘŜǊ ōŀǇǘƛǎŜŘ ŀǘ {ǘ aƛŎƘŀŜƭΩǎΣ ²ƛƴǘŜǊōƻǳǊƴŜ ƻƴ м9 
October 1845. 
On 15 February 1872 the Trustees of the Perry Almshouses in Winterbourne wrote in the 
minutes: 'Whereupon the Trustees approved of and nominated Anne Lowe aged 63 who was 
born in and lived in the parish of Winterbourne all her life and is otherwise duly qualified and her 
ƘǳǎōŀƴŘ ¢ƘƻƳŀǎ [ƻǿŜ ǘƻ ƻŎŎǳǇȅ ǘƘŜ ƘƻǳǎŜ bƻо Χ'. Ann Lowe died in August 1879 with a stated 
age of 71 on her death certificate. The informant was her son-in-law George Tanner, husband of 
¢ƘƻƳŀǎ ŀƴŘ !ƴƴΩǎ ŘŀǳƎƘǘŜǊ {arah. 

39. ii.  JOSEPH, baptised 14 October 1810. 
40. iii.  MOSES, born 8 February 1812. 

iv.  Stephen, born 1815 at Winterbourne. He was a labourer, lodging close to the home of his  
brother Moses at the time of the 1841 census. Later that year he married firstly Mary Ann, a 
daughter of William Pandy, a waterman, of Bushley, Worcestershire (born 1808, and previously 
the widow of _____ Caldwell), on 13 June 1841 at Barnwood, Gloucestershire. He was a 
brickmaker at Nine Acres Brick Yard in Sandhurst, Gloucestershire, rising to foreman by 1871. He 
then became a coal merchant, no doubt in the business of his brother Jabez,  and was living by 
1881 with his wife at 37 Mark Street, Gloucester. She died at Gloucester early in 1883, and he 
married secondly Helen Augusta (born 1830 in Nottinghamshire), daughter of Joseph Keveren of 
Gloucester on 24 July 1883 at St aŀǊƪΩǎΣ DƭƻǳŎŜǎǘŜǊΦ He died on 29 March 1887 at Gertrude Villa, 
Oxford Road, Gloucester (after a long and painful illness according to an obituary in the 
Gloucester Citizen), leaving a will. His widow was a dress and mantle maker at 93 Oxford Street in 
1891, and married James Redwood, a widower, on 30 September 1891 at St John the Baptist, 
Gloucester. 

v.  Valentine
25

, born 1817 (baptised 28 April 1822 at St Michael's, Winterbourne on the same day as  

                                                           
24

  I am grateful to Lawrence Lowe, descendant of their son George Lowe, and others for help - given our existing evidence  
- in disentangling the histories of John [18] and John [22]. 

25
  Valentine and Orson, a romance which has been attached to the Carolingian cycle. It is the story of twin brothers,  

abandoned in the woods in infancy. Valentine is brought up as a knight at the court of Pippin, while Orson grows up in 
a bear's den to be a wild man of the woods, until he is over-come and tamed by Valentine, whose servant and comrade 
he becomes . The two eventually rescue their mother Bellisant, sister of Pippin and wife of the emperor of Greece, by 
whom she had been unjustly repudiated, from the power of a giant. 1911 Encyclopædia Britannica.  
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his brother Caleb). A boatman on the Severn, he was lodging at the time of the 1841 census on 
the Quay at Ashleworth. By 1861 he had become a lock keeper, presumably near to his lodgings 
in Bath Lane, St Mary de Crypt, Gloucester, but he was later a lock keeper at nearby Hempsted. 
He married Elizabeth (born 1829), a widow of William Bubb, on 31 October 1864 at Hempsted. 
He died on 9 October 1875 at Gloucester Infirmary apparently without issue and leaving a will, 
and his widow continued to live at their home at Barn Close Cottages, Hempsted with her former 
mother-in-law Mary Bubb. Eliza Skidmore was a laundress, living alone, at Hempsted village in 
1891. She died there in 1897Q3 aged 75. 

41. vi.  CALEB, baptised 28 April 1822 at Winterbourne. 
vii.  Orson, born 1823 at Winterbourne. He was a brickmaker in the village of Longford St Mary  

before his marriage to Emma (born 1825), the daughter of William Hancock of Longford, 
Gloucestershire on 20 November 1849 at St aŀǘǘƘŜǿΩǎΣ ¢ǿƛƎǿƻǊǘƘΣ DƭƻǳŎŜǎǘershire. He was a 
bricklayer, aged 24, in 1851 and they were living on Tewkesbury Road, Longford St Mary. He 
became a grocer there by 1861 and was living with his wife in 1871 at St aŀǊȅΩǎΣ [ƻƴƎŦƻǊŘ ƛƴ ŀ 
household that included Elizabeth Handcock his mother-in-law, aged 69. He died in 1878Q2, 
aged 56, and his widow continued their grocery business on Longford Road until at least 1891. 
She was cared for in her later years in Gloucester Asylum and died in 1903Q2 aged 79. 

42. viii.  JABEZ, born in 1825 at Winterbourne. 
 
23.  DANIEL

4
 SKIDMORE, hatter of Frampton Cotterell, was baptised there on 27 September 1772, son of 

Daniel [11] and Hannah (Wigmore) Skidmore. He married Ann Holder on 18 November 1788 at Frampton 
Cotterell, the witnesses being Daniel Taylor and William Scudamore. On 26 June 1806 three of Daniel's sons - 
William, George and James - were apprenticed to him 'to learn hatting'. 
 
Daniel Skidmore's death was presumably that registered at Chipping Sodbury in 1839Q1. His widow died at 
Yate, but was buried as Ann Scudamore at St tŜǘŜǊΩǎΣ CǊŀƳǇǘƻƴ Cotterell on 2 May 1841, 'aged 71'. 
Children of Daniel and Ann (Holder) Skidmore, born and baptised at Frampton Cotterell, 
44.  i.  GILES, baptised 15 February 1789. 
45.  ii.  DANIEL, baptised 11 May 1790. 
46.  iii.  WILLIAM, baptised 29 January 1792. 
47.  iv.  GEORGE, baptised 27 October 1793. 

v.  James, baptised 25 July 1795. He was buried on 22 July 1810, aged 15, at Frampton Cotterell. 
48.  vi.  JOHN, baptised 12 November 1797. 

vii.  Ann, baptised 10 November 1799. She appears to be the lady born about 1798 at Westerleigh  
who married William Pinnel, a hatter (born about 1796 at Wotton-under-Edge, Gloucestershire 
and perhaps a widower), on 3 August 1828 at Kingswood. A son John Skidmore Pinnell of 
Watley's End was baptised at St Michael's, Winterbourne on 22 March 1835. Ann Pinnell's death 
was perhaps that registered at Clifton in 1857Q4. 

viii.  Hannah, baptised 28 February 1802. She is perhaps the lady who married Samuel Curtis on 25  
December 1822 at Frampton Cotterell, witnesses by Stephen Turner and William Burrows. This 
couple have so far not been found in censuses.  

49.  ix.  LUKE, baptised 10 July 1803. 
50.  x.  EDWARD, born 28 February 1805. 

xi.  Sarah, born 21 September (baptised 23 November) 1806. She was buried on 28 June 1820 aged  
13 at Frampton Cotterell. 

51.  xii.  NATHAN, born 24 May 1808. 
 
24. WILLIAM

?4
 SCUDAMORE was living as head of a household at 59 Monmouth Street, St Giles in the 

Fields, Middlesex [London] at the time of the 1841 census. He was stated to be a general shopkeeper at St 
Giles in 1840, at the marriage of his daughter Sarah, and a grocer at the second marriage of his son Robert. His 
age in 1841 is given as 65 which places his birth between 1772 and 1776, though when he died at this address 
on 8 December 1841 of 'Decay of Nature', he was said to be aged 61. A Mary Ann Dixie attended his death, a 
lady so far unidentified. 
 
All members of this household were said to have been born in Middlesex, though for William's son-in-law at 
least this was not the case.  
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On present evidence it is only possible to speculate about William Scudamore's date and place of birth. (Note 
he is ten years too young (reportedly) to be the same as William [17]). The connection with the Flook family 
suggests roots in Frampton Cotterell. The name Flook was relatively rare in London but common in Bristol, 
particularly in the St George area. His daughter Sarah married a Flook from St George, Bristol (as did daughters 
of Giles Scudamore [44])

26
.  

Children of William Scudamore, born in St Giles, London, 
i. William, born 1802-06, a printer at the time of the 1841 census. His death was presumably that  

registered in the St Giles district in 1859Q3. 
53. ii. ROBERT, born about 1813 in St Giles. 

iii. Sarah, born about 1815 in St Giles. Sarah Scudamore married Robert Flook, a carpenter (baptised  
3 February 1811 at St George, Bristol, a son of Aaron, cordwainer, and Elizabeth (Cane) Flook) on 
7 June 1840 at St George, Bristol. John Collins and Aaron Flook witnessed the marriage. Robert 
and Sarah Flook moved from St Giles to Tothill Street, St Margaret's, Westminster during the 
1840s. Mr Flook died in 1862Q2 and his widow moved to Wellington Road, Bethnal Green, 
where she died in 1871Q4 aged 56. 
 

 

                                                           
26

  Samuel Flook, a boot maker (born about 1823 in St Giles) was living with his wife at 18 Dudley Street, St Giles - formerly  
called Monmouth Street - at the time of the 1851 census. He was perhaps a son of Samuel, a cooper, and Ruth Flook of 
Church Lane, St Mary Whitechapel, and married Mary Mathie in January 1850 at St Pancras Old Church. There is no 
obvious connection to Robert Flook's family on present evidence. 
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GENERATION 5 

 
 
26. JEREMIAH

5
 SKIDMORE, son of John [12] and Ann (Simonds) Skidmore, was baptised on 27 May 1792, 

THE FIRST SKIDMORE ENTRY IN THE REGISTERS OF ST MICHAEL'S, WINTERBOURNE. He married Hannah Cooper on 31 August 
1814 at St James, Bristol. He died on 22 May 1840 at the Clifton Workhouse aged 48, but was buried at 
Winterbourne. 
A son of Jeremiah and Hannah (Cooper) Skidmore, 
54. i. CHARLES, baptised 13 January 1816 at Stoke Gifford, son of 'Jeremiah and Anna Skidmore'. 
 
27. GEORGE

5
 SKIDMORE, son of John [12] and Ann (Simonds) Skidmore, was baptised 22 June 1800 at 

Westerleigh. He married Mary Ann Maggs (who was baptised 26 March 1809 at Winterbourne, daughter of 
Luke and Mary Maggs) on 2 March 1840 at SS Philip & Jacob, Bristol. They were living in 1841 in Winterbourne 
in the home of her mother Mary Maggs, aged 70[-74] and with 9-year old Sarah Maggs, who appears to have 
been later called Sarah Skidmore. In 1861 they were on Winterbourne Street in Mangotsfield. A hatter, he died 
aged 74 at Winterbourne and was buried on 22 November 1874 at St MicƘŀŜƭΩǎ. His wife was buried there on 
31 October 1880 aged 72. 
Children of George and Mary Ann (Maggs) Skidmore, baptised at St Michael's, Winterbourne, 

i.  Sarah, Maggs later called Skidmore, born 1832. She was living at home in 1851, a dressmaker,  
and is presumably the Sarah Skidmore who witnessed in 1855 the marriage of her brother 
George. 

55.  ii.  GEORGE, born about 1837. 
iii.  Ann, baptised 31 March 1840. She was buried at Winterbourne on 3 April 1840, aged seven days. 

56.  iv.  HENRY, born 1841Q3. 
57.  v.  JOHN, born 1844Q1. 
58.  vi.  JAMES, born 1846Q2. 
59.  vii.  WILLIAM, baptised 10 June 1849. 

viii.  Ann, baptised 6 June 1852. Annie Skidmore married Joseph Pulling/ Pullin, a stone quarry  
labourer (born about 1856 in Stoke Gifford, Gloucestershire) at SS Philip & Jacob, Bristol on 5 
June 1876 and lived in Winterbourne Street next to her brother James. At the time of the 1891 
census Joseph Pullin was working away as a coal miner, in Llangeinor, Glamorganshire. The 
death of Annie Pullin, aged 44, was registered at Barton Regis in 1897. Joseph Pullin married 
secondly Adelaide Parnell in 1899. 
Ann Skidmore had a son, 
114. i. WILLIE/ WILLIAM, baptised 14 September 1873.  

 
29.  JOHN

5
 SKIDMORE was born about 1806 at Frampton Cotterell, the son of Daniel [15] and Mary 

(Gardiner) Skidmore. He married Ellen Parsloe on 4 September 1825 at Long Ashton, Somerset. She was 
perhaps born 2 March 1809 at Long Ashton, Somerset and baptised Eleanor there on 28 October 1810, 
daughter of Richard and Hester Parsloe. John Skidmore was at first a labourer, perhaps in a mine since he was 
a coal miner at the time of the 1861 census, and their home was in Providence Street, Long Ashton. John was 
said to be aged 65 when he died; he was buried at All Saints, Long Ashton on 8 August 1869. His widow was 
living in 1871 at Ashton, an annuitant aged 64. By 1881 Mrs Eleanor Skidmore was lodging in the home of the 
schoolmistress in Long Ashton and died early in 1891, said to be aged 77. 
Children of John and Eleanor (Parsloe), born and baptised at All Saints, Long Ashton, 

i.  Elizabeth, born 8 March 1826, baptised 17 May 1829. She married Alfred Biss, a colliery labourer  
and later a gamekeeper (born about 1825 in Long Ashton, son of Thomas Biss) on 1 December 
1844 at St Mary Redcliffe and lived in Providence Street, Long Ashton. The death of Elizabeth 
Biss at the age of 55 was registered in Bristol in 1880Q3. 

ii.  Sarah Ann, baptised with her sister Elizabeth in 1829. She married labourer William Pile (born  
about 1824 in Bedminster, son of Thomas Pile) on 28 October 1849 at St John's, Bedminster and 
was living in Providence Street, Long Ashton until at least 1861. By 1871 the family had moved to 
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Nursery, Bedminster. At the time of the 1881 census, when William Pile was described as a coke 
burner, their home was 4 Talbot Street, Bedminster. Mrs Pile died in 1893Q1 aged 63, her 
husband in 1897Q3, said to be aged 75. 

iii.  Hester/ Esther, born 14 May 1831 and baptised Hester on 12 June. She married Francis James, a  
Police Constable and later an accountant (born about 1832 in Barrow Gurney, Somerset), in 
1855Q4 and was living in 1861 and 1871 in Mount Pleasant Terrace, North Street, Bedminster. 
Mrs James was widowed by 1881, a laundress, living with her children next to or with her son 
John. Her home was at Highbridge Common, Bishopworth, Bedminster in 1891. She died in 
1898Q2 aged 68. 
Hester Skidmore had a son,  
115.  i.  JOHN, born 1854Q1. 

iv.  Hannah, born February 1838, baptised 20 September 1840. She married William Moxham, a  
Police Constable (born about 1836 in Dundry, Somerset, son of Peter Moxham) on 30 January 
1859 at St Paul's, Bedminster. They were living in 1861 in Bedminster with her sister Esther but 
moved in the late 1860s to Long Ashton, where Mr Moxham was an agricultural labourer and 
later ran a market garden. Mrs Moxham died in 1907Q2 aged 69, her husband in 1908Q1 aged 
72. 

v.  Eliza, born 26 August (baptised 20 September) 1840. She died aged 3 and was buried at All  
Saints, Long Ashton on 26 November 1843.  

 
30.  GEORGE

5
 SKIDMORE baptised 18 May 1817 at Frampton Cotterell, was a son of John [18] and Martha 

(Maggs) Skidmore. A hatter, he lived at ²ŀǘƭŜȅΩǎ 9ƴŘ ƛƴ ²ƛƴǘŜǊōƻǳǊƴŜΦ IŜ ƳŀǊǊƛŜŘ {ŀǊŀƘ Hollister (born about 
1821 at Watley's End, daughter of William Hollister, hatter), on 24 December 1851 at St Michael's, 
Winterbourne, witnessed by John Hollister and Isabella Bryant. He is called a 'felt hat maker' ŀǘ ²ŀǘƭŜȅΩǎ 9ƴŘ ƛƴ 
1861. He died ŀǘ ²ŀǘƭŜȅΩǎ 9ƴŘ aged 55 and was buried on 23 February 1873. His widow Sarah became a 
trouser maker and spent the last years of her life in one of Winterbourne's almshouses. She died aged 83 and 
was buried on 19 March 1904, like her husband at St Michael's. 
Children of George and Sarah (Hollister) Skidmore, baptised at St Michael's, Winterbourne, 

i.  Julia Eliza, born 1852Q4 and baptised on 26 December 1852. She was a servant in Bristol before  
her marriage on 7 November 1875 at St Gabriel's, Clifton to William Blake, a baker (born about 
1854 at Warmley, son of George Blake). They were living in 1881 at 9 Lead House Lane, in the 
parish of St George but later spent a time in Stapleton and, by 1901 were at 13 Pennywell Road, 
SS Philip and Jacob, Bristol. Mrs Blake died in 1910Q2 and her husband married secondly Alice 
Roberts later that year. 

ii.  Elizabeth White, born 1855Q4 and baptised on 23 December 1855. She was at the time of the  
1871 census a nurse to the family of a publican in Small Street, St Ewens, Bristol. Elizabeth White 
Skidmore married George Nicholls, a carpenter and undertaker (born about 1856 at 
Winterbourne), on 6 March 1880 at St Michael's, Winterbourne, witnessed by her sister Martha 
Isabella Skidmore. They were living in 1881 in Brinkworthy Road, later settling at Ivy Villa, 
Stapleton in Bristol. Mrs Nicholls died in 1931Q3 aged 76. 

iii.  Martha Isabella, born 1858Q1, baptised on 18 March 1860 (aged two). She was a domestic  
servant in Winterbourne and Westbury-on-Trym before her marriage to William Henry Brice 
(1860-1899, son of Alfred Brice) on 14 June 1886 at St Andrew's, Montpelier, Bristol. She was his 
widow in 1901 running a bakery business from her home at 130 Grosvenor Road, Bristol. She 
married secondly William Greenslade Pengelly (born about 1875 in Burlescombe, Devon) in 1901 
at Bristol and he was running a bakery business in 1911 with his stepsons William A Brice and 
Ernest Brice at 23 Russell Street, Bristol. Mrs Pengelly died in 1928Q1 aged 70. 

v.  Sarah, born 1859Q4, baptised on 18 March 1860. A trouser maker, living with her mother at  
Wadley's End before her marriage to George Evans on 4 April 1885 at St Michael's, 
Winterbourne, witnessed by her brother William and by Sarah Jane Evans. He was a stone 
dresser in a quarry, born about 1859 at Winterbourne Down, son of William Evans, a collier. 
George and Sarah Evans lived at Harcombe's Hill, Winterbourne Down. 

v.  Ann, born 1862Q1 and baptised on 9 March 1862. She was buried at St Michael on 6 August  
1865, aged three years. 

vi.  William Theophilus, registered as William in 1864Q2, baptised on 14 August 1864. He was a  
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carpenter and married Alice (born 1862 at Worcester, daughter of Robert Preece, carpenter) on 
3 April 1886 at Frampton Cotterell. The witnesses were William Fowler and Ann Sophia Fowler. 
They were living at 8 Page Street, Swindon, Wiltshire in 1891 where he was a railway wagon 
builder. In 1901 they were living at 13 Salisbury Street, Swindon. Alice Skidmore died in 1937, 
her husband in 1938Q2. 

 
30a. FREDERICK

5
 SKIDMORE, baptised on 18 May 1823, the son of John [18] and Martha (Maggs) Skidmore. 

IŜ ǿŀǎ ŀ ōǳǘŎƘŜǊΩǎ ŀǇǇǊŜƴǘƛŎŜ ƛƴ мупмΦ Not yet found thereafter in British censuses, he is almost certainly the 
man who at the age of 25 went as an assisted migrant to New South Wales, arriving on 21 May 1849 aboard 
the Lady Amherst. He married Elizabeth Rogers in Alexandria, Paddington, New South Wales in 1854. He 
appears to be the Frederick Skidmore whose death was registered at Rockdale, New South Wales in 1902. 
Children of Frederick and Elizabeth (Rogers) Skidmore, 
59a. i. JOHN

6
, born 1855. He married Rachel Campbell in 1906. He died at Harrow Road, Rockdale on 6  

March 1929, aged 73 and is buried at Woronora Church of England in Kogarah. Rachel Skidmore 
died in 1937, presumably his widow. 

i. Eileen Margaret, born in 1908. She died at 9 months old, her death being  
registered in Rockdale. 

ii. William, born 1858 in Kingston, New South Wales. 
iii. Sarah, born 1859 in St George, New South Wales. 
iv. Florence, born 1862 in Kingston. She died unmarried on 23 March 1926 and was buried at  

Woronora Church of England in Kogarah. 
v. Elizabeth, born 1866. 

 
31.  ROBERT alias ROBERT TANNER

5
 SKIDMORE, baptised 8 May 1825 at Winterbourne, the son of John 

[18] and Martha (Maggs) Skidmore. He married Mary Plaisted on 4 May 1847 at St John the Baptist, 
Gloucester. She was baptised  at Churcham, Gloucestershire on 11 November 1827, daughter of John and 
Mary Plaisted, and was living in 1841 with Thomas Gardner, an agricultural labourer, and his wife Elizabeth 
(who witnessed her marriage to Robert Skidmore) at Buckells Row, Charlton Kings, Cheltenham, 
Gloucestershire.  
 
Robert Skidmore was a cordwainer, aged 28, at Kew Place, Cheltenham in 1851 where he stated that he was 
born at Bristol. The family moved around 1856 to Charlton Kings where they lived at 8 Rose Hill Street (1861) 
and at 54 Park Street (1871). They were living in 1881 at Prospect Cottages, Glenfall Street, Cheltenham. 
Robert Skidmore, a shoemaker, was living with his wife and his son George in 1891 at 5 Fairview Road in 
Cheltenham. He died in 1893 aged 68, and his widow at 3 All Saints Road, Cheltenham on 26 December 1896 
aged 72, leaving a will. 
Children of Robert Tanner and Mary (Plaisted) Skidmore, born in Charlton Kings, 

i. Elizabeth, born 1847Q4. She was living in 1851 in Church Street, Charlton Kings, with her uncle  
and aunt - the couple with whom her mother was living in 1841 - Thomas Gardener, a labourer 
(born about 1794 in Charlton Kings) and Elizabeth his wife (born about 1794 in Oxnall, 
Gloucestershire). She appears to be the Elizabeth Skidmore whose death was registered at 
Cheltenham in 1854Q4. 

ii.  Mary Ann, born around April 1850. She was a housemaid employed in 1871 at 1 Alexander  
Terrace, Kingsholme St Catherine. She married Frank Gregory, a widower (born about 1854 in 
Cheltenham), a 'fly proprietor' in 1880Q3 in Cheltenham. They were living next to her parents in 
1881 at Prospect Cottages before separating - he to continue his hackney carriage business in 
Henrietta Street, Cheltenham, she to keep a lodging house at 54 Fairview Road, Cheltenham. At 
the time of the 1901 census, Beatrice May Skidmore (born 1897Q2 in Cheltenham) was living 
with Mrs Gregory; she married in 1917. 

iii.  John, born 1852Q2. A stone mason. Visiting in 1881 the home of laundress Mrs Ann Cottrill at  
North Cottage, Northfield Passage, Cheltenham. He was a bar manager in a public house in 1891 
living at 3 Northfield Terrace in Cheltenham. Mrs Rose Gwinnell remained his housekeeper after 
he became a commission agent and moved to Marlhill Parade before 1901. He was living by 
1911 with his brother Frederick and died at Cheltenham in 1915Q1 aged 63. 

iv. [perhaps] Ellen, born 1854Q2, died 1854Q3. 
iv.  Elizabeth, born 1856Q1. A dressmaker in 1881 living at 3 Queens Buildings, Wellington  
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Passage, Cheltenham. Not yet found later. 
v.  Frederick, born 1858Q2. He was a painter in 1881 at 16 Marlhill Parade, Cheltenham. He married  

Cornelia Rex, a dressmaker (born about 1854 in Down Ampney, Gloucestershire), in 1887Q1 in 
Cheltenham. They were living in 1891 at 2 Grosvenor Cottages, and had settled by 1901 at 1 
Gloucester Place. Mr Skidmore died at Cheltenham in 1919Q1 aged 62, his widow in the 
Pontypridd registration district in 1924 aged 71. 

60. vi.  ROBERT HARRY, born 1860Q2. 
61.  vii.  ARTHUR WILLIAM, born 1863Q1. 
62. viii.  GEORGE CHARLES THOMAS, born 1865Q2. 

ix.  Charlotte Ellen, born 1867Q2. She married, on 24 May 1885 at Cheltenham Parish Church, Willie  
Evans, a chemist's assistant (born 1865Q2 in Cheltenham, son of James Evans, baker, and Amelia 
(Price) of Regent Street, Cheltenham). The death of her husband is probably that of William 
Evans aged 30 registered at Cheltenham in 1895Q2. She married secondly in Cheltenham in 
1898Q2 Charles Benjamin Holtam, a fishmonger (born about 1869 in the USA, a British Subject) 
and they lived at Daisy Cottage, Swindon Road, Cheltenham. Mrs Holtam died in 1921 aged 53. 

x.  Sarah Jane, born 1868Q3. She married Albert Minett, a baker (son of Hamlin Minett, also a  
baker) on 4 October 1887 in Cheltenham. The witnesses were Robert Skidmore and Alice 
Gregory. 

 
32.  JOHN

5
 SKIDMORE, was born at Coalpit Heath and baptised at Frampton Cotterell on 9 September 1798, 

the son of George [20] and his wife Ann. John Skidmore married Harriet Griffiths (born 1806 at Pontypool) on 
14 February 1825 at Trevethin, Monmouthshire. On 2 June 1830 a removal order was issued by the 
Monmouthshire Justices of the Peace for Harriet, wife of John Skidmore, from Mynddyslwyn to Frampton 
Cotterell, and for her children Ann (aged 5), Martha (aged 3), and Matilda (12 months). I have not been able to 
find this family in the census of 1841. They had, however, returned to Wales by 1851 and were living at Fleur 
de Lys, Clawrplwyf, Monmouthshire, where John and his son William were coal miners. 
 
Harriet Skidmore died in 1864Q3, her husband in 1868Q1 aged 68. 
Children of John and Harriet (Griffiths) Skidmore, 

i.  Ann, born about 1825. Not yet found in the 1841 census. 
ii.  Martha, born about 1827. She perhaps married in Newport registration district in 1849Q4,  

though not identified with certainty in later censuses. 
iii.  Matilda, born mid-1829. She appears to have married a widower Henry Owen, a coal tipper, in  

1864 and was living in 1871 in Lydia Ann's Terrace, Cwm, Llanhilleth, Monmouthshire. 
63. iv.  WILLIAM, born 1833 at Blackwood, Monmouthshire. 

v. Amelia, born 1835-36 in Fleur de Lys, Mynyddyslwyn
27

. She married James Browning, a colliery  
foreman and local Methodist preacher (born about 1833 in Thornbury, Gloucestershire) in 
1854Q3 and lived in Blackwood, Bedwellty and, by 1871, in New Tredegar where he later 
became the manager of a shoe store. Mrs Browning died in 1893Q4 aged 57. 

vi.  Jane, born 1838Q1 in Fleur de Lys, Mynyddyslwyn. She appears to have married John Thomas, a  
coal miner (born about 1836 in Mynyddyslwyn) in 1859Q1 and was living by 1861 in Fleur de Lys, 
Clawrplwyf hamlet. Jane Thomas died in 1873Q4 aged 35; her husband married secondly Mrs 
Mary Cooper in 1874Q2. 

 
33. GEORGE

5
 SKIDMORE, hatter of Frampton Cotterell, was a son of George [20] and Ann Skidmore, 

baptised 27 November 1800 at St Peter's, Frampton Cotterell. 
 
George Skidmore married Hannah Tanner (born about 1806 in Frampton Cotterell) presumably a daughter of 
[Robert?] and Hannah Tanner, on 7 February 1825 at Frampton Cotterell. The witnesses were John Souse and 
Richard Packer (?the clerk). They were living in Brockridge, Frampton Cotterell in 1841, at which time Mrs 
Skidmore's mother Hannah Tanner apparently shared their home. However, he was a colliery worker at Ebbw 

                                                           
27

  A parish in Monmouthshire, 8½ miles N.W. of Newport and 7 S.W. of Pontypool. The parish contained, at the time of  
the 1868 National Gazetteer of Great Britain and Ireland, the hamlets of Mynyddmaen, Clawrplwyf, and Penmaen/ 
Penmain. 
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Vale, Aberystruth parish, Monmouthshire when he died of typhus fever on 1 April 1848. He was buried at the 
Beaufort Church there, said to be aged 47. 
 
His widow was living by 1851 with her daughter Elizabeth, both dressmakers, in Aberystruth, Monmouthshire. 
Hannah Skidmore appears to have married widower Edward Owen of Ebbw Vale, an iron weigher (born about 
1793 in Glamorganshire and formally the husband of Susan _____ ) in 1853Q4 in the Abergavenny registration 
district. They were living in 1861 at 30 Forge Row, Ebbw Vale, with children from Mr Owen's previous 
marriage. Mr Owen died in either 1862 or 1867, his wife perhaps in 1866Q2, said to be aged 62. 
Children of George and Hannah (Tanner) Skidmore, baptised at Frampton Cotterell, 

i.  Mary Ann, baptised 25 December 1825. She married John James, a coal miner (born about 1817  
in Bedwellty, Monmouthshire) in 1847Q1 and they were living by 1851 at Flowerdeluce, 
Mynyddyslwyn, apparently with a child of a former marriage of Mr James - Alice born in 1843 in 
Mynyddyslwyn - and their son Hezekiah born in 1848 in Bedwellty. 

ii.  Caroline, baptised on 27 May 1827. She married Charles Goodman (1830-1916), a groom from  
Shirehampton, in 1849Q1 in Abergavenny registration district, and was living with her husband 
in Shirehampton in 1851, a dressmaker. They had moved by 1861 to Clifton and he was, for at 
least a time which included the 1871 census, an innkeeper in the village of Warmley, 
Gloucestershire. They returned to Clifton, a western suburb of Bristol, where Mr Goodman was a 
coachman and beer retailer, living in Waterloo Place (1881) and a cab proprietor living over the 
stables at  Caledonia Mews (1891 & 1901). Caroline Goodman died in 1896Q3 aged 69. 

 iii.  Robert Tanner, baptised on 24 January 1830. Robert Skidmore died at New Town, Aberystruth  
and was buried at the Beaufort Church there on 3 July 1847, a few weeks after his brother 
Hezekiah. 

iv.  Elizabeth, baptised on 6 May 1832. She was buried 23 March 1834 at Frampton Cotterell, aged 2. 
v.  Elizabeth, baptised on 19 July 1835. A dressmaker in 1851 in Aberystruth, she married William  

Rosser, a rail inspector (born about 1824 in Caerleon, Monmouthshire and a lodger in Elizabeth's 
home at the time of the 1851 census) in 1852Q2. They were living in 1871 in Mount Pleasant, 
Aberystruth. 

vi.  Eliza, her birth and death registered as Skidmore, baptised as Skidmore on 26 May 1839. She  
was buried 18 April 1840 aged 1 year. 

vii.  Eliza, registered and baptised as Skidmore, baptised on 14 November 1841. She was buried 26  
November 1843 aged two years. 

viii. [presumably] Hezekiah Tanner, birth registered at Chipping Sodbury in 1845Q3. Hezekiah 
 Skidmore died aged 2 years and was buried in Aberystruth at Beaufort Church on 25 May 1847. 

 
34. THOMAS

5
 SKIDMORE, was born in 1811 at Frampton Cotterell, a son of George [20] and Ann 

(Hemmings) Scudamore. A hatter, he married Ann Maggs (born 1804 at Bitton, Gloucestershire, probably the 
daughter of Israel Maggs, hatter of Oldland Common, Bitton and Hannah (Short)) on 30 December 1834 at St 
James, Bristol and their first three known children were born in Bitton. They moved in the late 1830s to 
Kendalshire, Westerleigh, though Mrs Skidmore and her daughter Harriet were also recorded at Oldland 
Common, Bitton in 1841 in the homes of her presumed father and brother, both called Israel Maggs. 
 
They were living in 1851 at Fire Engine (Side Gate), Bath Road, Bristol and had moved by 1861 to Lead House 
Lane, St Philip and St Jacob, Bristol, where they remained until at least 1881. His wife died aged 80 and was 
buried at the Wesley [?Chapel], Redfield on 7 January 1883, and Thomas Skidmore followed in 1889 aged 75, 
buried 10 February. 
Children of Thomas and Ann (Maggs) Skidmore, as known, 

i.  Harriet, baptised 20 August 1837 at St Anne's, Oldland but perhaps born in 1836. A 'servant of all  
work' in 1851 to the family of William and Ann Howe in Lippiatts Buildings, Bath Road, St George. 
She appears to have married William Palmer, a boiler maker (born about 1833 in Siston, 
Gloucestershire) in 1856Q1. They were living in 1861 in Albert Place, St George, Bristol and later 
lived in Lead House Lane and Bright Street in the St Philip's area of Bristol. She died in 1894Q1 
aged 58 and her husband was living by 1901 with their daughter Mrs Harriet Taylor. 

64. ii.  JOSEPH, born 1837Q3 at Bitton. 
65. iii.  THOMAS, born 3 October 1841 at Westerleigh. 
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35.  WILLIAM
5
 SKIDMORE, hatter of Kingswood, Gloucestershire and later New South Wales, is known from 

his death registration to have been born about 1815 and a son of George Skidmore. He was baptised on 6 
December 1823 at Frampton Cotterell, a son of George [20] and Ann (Hemmings) Skidmore. William Skidmore, 
a poor child aged 14, was apprenticed on 30 December 1830 to George Green, a hatter of Frampton Cotterell, 
to learn hatting. He was a journeyman hatter living at his parents' home in Adam's Lane in 1841. 
 
William Skidmore, hatter of Kingswood, son of hatter George Skidmore, said he was of full age at the time of 
his marriage on 11 December 1842 to Mary Ann Wilcox (baptised at Frampton Cotterell on 25 January 1824, 
daughter of Timothy Wilcox, a hatter and his wife Susannah), at Holy Trinity, Bitton. They emigrated to 
Australia in 1848 on the Fairlie. He died on 9 April 1879 'aged 64' at Tarlo, New South Wales, and was buried 
on the 11th near Goulburn. His widow died on 20 June 1902 at Tarlo Gap, near Goulburn, aged 77. 
Children of William and Mary Ann (Wilcox) Skidmore, 

i.  Mark, born 1844Q1 and baptised as Skidmore on 24 March 1844 at Frampton Cotterell. 
65a. ii.  ALFRED, baptised 7 June 1846 at Frampton Cotterell. 

iii.  Eliza, born 30 November 1848 at Kenmore, New South Wales. She married Joseph Erby on 5  
January 1869, and died on 29 August 1927. 

iv.  Thomas, born 1851, baptised Tom in February 1853 at St Saviour's, Goulburn. 
65b. v. WILLIAM, born about 1853. 

vi.  Jonathan Wilcox, born 4 March (baptised 18 May) 1855. He died in 1856. 
vii.  Mary Ann, born 1857. She died in 1859. 
viii.  aŀǊǘƘŀΣ ōƻǊƴ мм hŎǘƻōŜǊ муру ŀǘ 5ŀǊōȅΣ aǳǊǊŀȅΩǎ CƭŀǘǎΦ {ƘŜ ƳŀǊǊƛŜŘ IŜƴǊȅ !ƭōŜǊǘ Dƛōōƻƴǎ on 15  

November 1882. She died on 22 March 1924. 
ix.  George, born 1860.  
x.  Charles W., born 1862. 
xi.  Sarah A., born 1865. 

 
36.  WILLIAM

5
 SKIDMORE was born, according to the Ebenezer Wesleyan Chapel baptism register, on 8 

April 1806, the son of Pinnell [21] and Tryphena (Maggs) Skidmore. He was baptised on 19 October 1819. He 
would appear to be the shoemaker of Westerleigh and later St George, Bristol, born in the Fishponds or 
Stapleton area (according to different censuses), who married Betsy Cooper at St tŀǳƭΩǎΣ Bristol on 14 April 
1828. 
 
William and Betsy Skidmore were living at Kendalshire, Westerleigh in 1841, close to the families of his 
supposed father Pinnell Skidmore and cousins Joseph and Thomas (sons of George Skidmore). All of his sons 
are found later in the St George area of Bristol which suggests that William Skidmore was the first of the family 
to settle there, in the late 1840s. By 1851 their home was at Fire Engine Side Gate (Bath Road), St George, 
though his wife was not at home. Although he said at the time of this census that he was married (not 
widowed), his wife was probably the Betsy Skidmore buried at St Michael's, Winterbourne on 17 February 
1850 aged 42. 
 
By the time of the 1861 census William was living on Lyppiat Lane in St George with his three youngest 
children. He died in 1872 aged 66 and was buried on 15 September at St George's. 
Children of William and Betsy (Cooper) Skidmore, born in Winterbourne, baptisms at St Michael's, 
66.  i.  THOMAS, baptised 28 March 1830. 
 ii.  William, born about 1833. A mason's labourer at the time of the 1851 census, living at the family  

home in Fire Engine, St George, Bristol. He married Eliza Hale (born about 1838 at Rowberrow, 
Somerset, daughter of James Hale) on 29 August 1860 at St Paul's, Bristol and was a railway 
labourer, his wife a dressmaker. They lived in St John Street, Bridgwater, Somerset but by the 
time of the 1881 census had moved to George Lane at St George, Bristol. Jane Hale, his mother-
in-law, lived with them until at least 1891. William Skidmore was a shoemaker in Bristol and took 
on his sister Elizabeth's son Ernest Leonard as an apprentice shoemaker after the death of both 
his sister and her husband. 
William Skidmore appears to have died in the Keynsham registration district in 1898Q2, said to 
be  aged 61.  

67. iii.  CHARLES, born 1835. 
Birth registrations have not been found for the following children. 
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iv.  Ann, born about 1837. She appears to be the Ann Skidmore, daughter of William who married  
Charles Rawlings, a glass packer (born about 1839 in ?Anstet?, Bristol, son of Isaac Rawlings) on 
20 November 1859 at St Augustine the Less, Bristol and was living by 1861 in Moorfields, Bristol 
St George (when she said she was born in Kendalshire, Westerleigh) with their son William 
Charles Rawlings (born 1860Q2). Ann Rawlings' death was perhaps that registered at Clifton in 
1865Q1 and her husband married secondly Elizabeth (?Jones m.1865Q4 Bristol). 

v.  Elizabeth, born about 1839. She was a cotton weaver in 1861. She married Albert James Leonard  
(born about 1840 in St George, Bristol, son of John Leonard) on 9 December 1861 at St James',  
Bristol. He was described in 1861 census as a 'labourer at anything' and in 1881 as an 
unemployed coppersmith. Lodging with them in 1871 at 29 Morley Street, St George were 
William Skidmore and Joseph Skidmore both aged 15 and born in St George. Birth registrations 
have not been found for either boy as Skidmore, and neither boy is found in other censuses at St 
George, or elsewhere.  
Mrs Leonard died in 1876Q3 (Clifton reg.) aged 36 and later that year her husband married the 
widow of her brother John Skidmore [70]. 

vi.  Daniel, born April or May 1841. He died in 1842Q4. 
vii.  Nathaniel, baptised 23 December 1842 at St John the Baptist, Frenchay. He was buried there on  

1 January 1843  and called 'of Frenchay'. 
viii. Daniel, born about 1844. He was a porter in 1861. His death appears to be that registered at  

Clifton in 1868 aged 25, buried at St George's on 14 July. 
68. ix.  JOSEPH, born about 1847. 

x.  Eliza, baptised 9 August 1849 at Winterbourne, 'a daughter of William and Betsy Skidmore,  
cordwainer of Winterbourn'. She was buried there three days later on the 12th aged four 
months. Her death was registered at Clifton. 

 
37. JOSEPH

5
 SKIDMORE, son of Pinnell Skidmore [21], was baptised 2 February 1817 at Frampton Cotterell. 

A hatter, he married Dinah Palmer (baptised at Holy Trinity, Kingswood 25 May 1823, daughter of Robert 
Palmer, collier and his wife Ann) on 2 January 1840 at Holy Trinity, Bitton. They began their married life in 
Kendalshire, Westerleigh but by 1851 they had moved to the area of St George in Bristol known as Fire Engine, 
and by 1861, when Mrs Skidmore was a shoemaker, were living at 39 Winsford Street. They were living in a 
room at 4 Tower Hill in Bristol in 1871, Dinah then a hat trimmer. Joseph Skidmore died in the 1870s (perhaps 
in 1877Q1 though this man's age at death was only 55, when Joseph would have been nearer 60).  
 
Dinah Skidmore was living, a widow, with her son-in-law Henry Gullick at 14 Victoria Street (in the same parish) 
in 1881. For a time (including 1891) she was a sick nurse to a family in St George, Bristol and was living a 
widow and alone, at 19 Amberley Street, in 1901. She died in 1905Q2 aged 86. 
Children of Joseph and Dinah (Palmer) Skidmore, baptised at St Michael's, Winterbourne, 

i. [perhaps] a male child registered at Keynsham, born and died in 1840. 
ii.  Martha, born 1842Q3 at Mangotsfield but baptised 22 June 1845, aged two, at Winterbourne.  

She married Henry Gullick, an engine driver (born in 1845 at Bristol, son of Mark Gullick, a lead 
roller, and his wife Susannah) on 8 June 1870 at St Matthias', Bristol. They lived with their family 
in the St Philip's area of Bristol, where Mr Gullick died in 1910, said to be 62, after which Mrs 
Gullick lived with the family of their son Frank Gullick in Barton Hill Road. 

iii.  Mary, born 1845Q2. She was baptised, an infant, at the same time as her sister Martha and died  
later that year, buried 27 August at Holy Trinity, Bristol. 

 
39. JOSEPH

5
 SKIDMORE was baptised on 14 October 1810 at Winterbourne, apparently a son of John [22] 

and Ann (Banfield) Skidmore. He married Rachel Flook on 23 June 1834 at St James', Bristol. In the census of 
1851 Rachel's husband Joseph Skidmore gave his birth year as 1811 or 1812 and his birthplace Winterbourne. 
He was a brickmaker at the time of the baptism of his son John in 1835 and by 1841 they were living at 
Kendalshire in Westerleigh, where he was an agricultural labourer. His wife Rachel was buried at St {ŀǾƛƻǳǊΩǎΣ 
Coalpit Heath on 24 March 1850, aged 43 years, called 'of Kendalshire'.  
 
Joseph Skidmore was a ƎǊƻŎŜǊΩǎ ŎŀǊǘŜǊ ƛƴ Kendalshire at the time of the 1851 census and the head of the only 
Skidmore family remaining at Westerleigh. Joseph and two daughters are said to have emigrated to the US 
around 1857, though this cannot be verified by online sources. 
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Children of Joseph and Rachel (Flook) Skidmore, baptised at St James the Great, Westerleigh, 
?70. i.  JOHN, baptised 24 March 1835. 

ii.  Elizabeth, baptised 26 February 1837. She was a seamstress at Bristol Royal Infirmary in 1861.  
Elizabeth, daughter of Joseph Skidmore, married Thomas Drew (son of Robert Drew) on 18 
October 1867 at Holy Trinity, Bristol. Nothing further known. 

iii.  Hannah, baptised 12 August 1838. Not found in British censuses after 1851, suggesting she was  
the second daughter said to have gone to the US with her father. 

iv.  Frances Sarah, born 16 April 1841 according to the IGI, baptised 6 June. Her age of 8 months as  
given on census night 6 June 1841 should presumably be 8 weeks.  

 
40.  MOSES

5
 SKIDMORE, of Ashleworth and later the Gloucester area, was born 8 February 1812 (baptised 

Scudamore 12 March) at Frampton Cotterell, the son of John [22] and Ann (Banfield) Skidmore. He married 
Ann Brown (born 1816 at Iron Acton) on 30 March 1835 at St James, Bristol. He was an agricultural labourer 
and lived on Sandhurst Road in the hamlet of Longford St Mary until at least 1851. They had moved by 1861 to 
live on Moreton Street in the hamlet of Barton St Mary. He died there in 1870Q1, aged 57.  
 
His widow remained in Moreton Street, probably until her death in 1889Q3. At the time of the 1871 census 
she was described as a lodging house keeper, though the only other people in the household were family. 
Alfred Henry, her son, took over as head of household after his marriage. 
Children of Moses and Ann (Brown) Skidmore, baptised at SS Andrew and Bartholomew, Ashleworth, 

i.  Elizabeth, born 1835, baptised 8 January 1837 and said in the censuses of 1841 and 1851 to be  
two years older than her brother George and born in Ashleworth. However, she said consistently 
in later censuses that she was born about 1837. She married William Henry Davies, a canal pilot 
(born about 1838 in Purton, Gloucestershire) in Gloucester in 1862Q4. They lived until at least 
1891 at 5 High Street, Barton St Mary before moving to 21 Wellesley Street, Gloucester. Mrs 
Davies died late in 1911 aged 74, her husband in 1915Q3 aged 75. 

71. ii.  GEORGE, baptised 8 January 1837. 
iii.  Mary Ann, born 4 September (baptised 6 October) 1839 at Ashleworth. She was a domestic  

servant in Cardiff at the time of the 1861 census. She married William Brown, (born about 1839 
in Oaksey, Wiltshire) on 25 December 1865 at Gloucester. He was by 1871 a greengrocer, firstly 
in Vauxhall Road, Barton St Mary, Gloucester (though all their children before and after this date 
were born in Swindon) and later in Fleet Street, Swindon, Wiltshire. Mary Ann Brown's death at 
the age of 55 was presumably that registered at Highworth in 1894Q4. Mr Brown died in 1907Q3 
aged 67. 

and born in Longford St Mary, 
iv.  Eleanor, born 1844Q3. Called Ellen in the census of 1861 (and aged 20, born in Sandhurst), a  

'maid of all work' to a family in Gloucester. She appears to have married James Burgess, a 
stocktaker and timekeeper (born about 1843 in Oaksey, Wiltshire) in 1864Q4 in the Newport 
registration district in Monmouthshire, and lived in Upper Llanvrechfa. 
Children, as known - Emily, Anne, Thomas, Elizabeth, John H., Eleanor, William A. 

v.  Louisa, born about 1848. She was buried on 11 January 1855 at St {ǿƛǘƘƛƴΩǎΣ IŜƳpsted, aged  
seven. 

vi.  Jane, born 1850Q2 at Longford or Hempsted. She was living at home in 1861, and married  
Frederick George Evans, a carpenter (born 1850Q1 in Frampton

28
) on 14 June 1870 at the 

Countess of Huntington Connection Chapel, St aŀǊȅΩǎ {ǉǳŀǊŜΣ DƭƻǳŎŜǎǘŜǊΦ ¢ƘŜȅ ǿere living in 
1871 at Barton St Mary in her mother's home but spent time in Bury, Lancashire in the late 
1870s and then moving to Carr View Terrace, Blaby [Doncaster], Yorkshire by 1881, where Mr 
Evans obtained a position as foreman in a coach building factory. Around 1882 they moved 
again, to live in Tottington, Bury, Lancashire, where Mr Evans was a railway wagon maker. Jane 
Evans died in September 1889. 

and born in Hempsted, 
vii.  Emily, born 1853Q1. She was buried on 16 May 1855 at St {ǿƛǘƘƛƴΩǎΣ IŜƳǇǎǘŜŘΣ ŀƎŜŘ two, a few  

months after her sister Louisa. 
72. viii.  ALFRED HENRY, born 1856Q2 at Hempsted. 

                                                           
28

  His birth was registered at Gloucester, so this is presumably Frampton-on-Severn and not Frampton Cotterell. 
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41.  CALEB

5
 SKIDMORE, baptised 28 April 1822 at Winterbourne, the son of John [22] and Ann (Banfield) 

Skidmore. A waterman, he married Ann Lee (born 1826 in Gloucester, daughter of William Lee, a waterman) 
on 2 May 1848 at St Nicholas', Gloucester. They were living at the time of the 1851 census at New Town, 
Barton St Mary and, by 1861, at 73 Westgate Street, Gloucester. Caleb Skidmore died in 1868Q3 aged 47.  
 
His widow lived at Quay Court, Gate Road, Gloucester with her daughters and married costermonger Joseph 
Edwards on 15 October 1875 at St Nicholas', Gloucester. He died late in 1876 aged 51 and she was living in 
1901 at 46, Royal Oak Yard, Lower Westgate Street, Gloucester. 
Children of Caleb and Ann (Lee) Skidmore, 
73. i.  EDWIN, born 1848Q3. 

ii.  Rhoda, born 1849Q4. She was buried on 17 July 1850 at St Lawrence, Sandhurst, aged nine  
months. 

iii.  Elizabeth, (whose birth registration has not yet been found), was born at Sandhurst and said to  
be 10 months old at the time of the census of 30 March 1851 and 10 years old at that of 7 April 
1861. She married George Beard, a bargeman (born about 1843 in Dymock, Gloucestershire), on 
17 July 1871 at St James', Gloucester. They were living in 1881 at 8 Newtown, Gloucester and 
were, by 1891, in Quay Road. George Beard's death appears to be that registered at Gloucester 
in 1898Q4 (though he was said to be only 50) and Mrs Beard married secondly William Hopkins, 
a boat steerer (born about 1842 in Tewkesbury). They were living on a cabin boat in Birmingham 
at the time of the 1901 census, with two daughters of Elizabeth's first marriage and 7-year old 
Leah Hopkins. 

iv.  Valentine, born 1853Q4. He died an infant in the same year. 
v.  Ann, born 1857Q1. She married (as Annie Skidmore) William Voyce, a lighterman on the Severn  

(born about 1857 in Gloucester, son of waterman William Voyce), at St Nicholas', Gloucester on 
25 December 1876. They lived in Royal Oak Yard and later in Quay Court, Gloucester. Mrs Voyce 
died in Gloucester in 1924Q3 aged 67. 

vi.  Emily, born 1859Q2. She married Thomas Daniel Hopton, a bricklayer (born about 1862 in  
Gloucester, son of John Hopton, a shipwright) on 1 August 1880 at St /ŀǘƘŜǊƛƴŜΩǎΣ DƭƻǳŎŜǎǘŜǊΦ In 
1881 they were living there at 36 Sweetbriar Street in the hamlet of Kingsholm St Mary but had 
moved by 1891 to Royal Oak Yard near her sister Ann. After a few years spent in Maisemore, 
Gloucestershire around 1895, they returned to Sweetbriar Street. Some of Ann's and Emily's 
children found work at a local jam factory. Mrs Hopton died in 1928 aged 68. 

vii.  Harriet, born 1862Q1. She was living at home in 1881. She married Thomas Kilminster, a dock  
labourer (born about 1860 in Hereford, son of labourer William Kilminster) at St Catherine's, 
Gloucester on 29 June 1881. They began their married life in Gloucester, moving to 4 Moreton 
Terrace, Sharpness (close to her nephew Frederick Skidmore) around 1890. One of their 
daughters - Harriet Kilmister - married Harriet's nephew Ephraim Skidmore [131]. 

74. viii.  CALEB, born 1864Q3.  
ix.  [perhaps] Annie Elizabeth, born and died in 1868Q2. 

 
42.  JABEZ

5
 SKIDMORE, born in Winterbourne about 1825, a son of John [22] and Ann (Banfield) Skidmore. 

He was at first a waterman and at the time of the 1851 census was visiting the home at Quay Court, St 
Nicholas, Gloucester of his future wife Mrs Jemima Watts (and her son Henry Watts aged 5). He married firstly 
Jemima, born in 1809 in Gloucester St Nicholas a daughter of John Williams (and who was previously the 
widow of _____ Watts) on 26 September 1852 at St aŀǘǘƘŜǿΩǎΣ ¢ǿƛƎǿƻǊǘƘΣ DƭƻǳŎŜǎǘŜǊǎƘƛǊŜ and they were 
living by 1861 in Church Buildings, Westgate Street, Gloucester. She died in 1869Q4, and he was enumerated 
in 1871 on the boat 'Jemima' (seemingly named for his first wife) then docked at Hammerwich, Staffordshire.  
 
During the 1870s he appears in Kelly's Directories as a coal merchant in Gloucester. He married secondly 
Rebecca (born in 1828 a daughter of Philip Samuel Dallen of Wandsworth, Surrey) on 28 July 1872 at the York 
Road Chapel, Lambeth, Surrey. They were living by 1881 at Priory Road, Gloucester. Jabez Skidmore died at 4 
Promenade Villas, Oxford Road, Gloucester on 14 November 1891, aged 67. He left an estate valued at £475, 
with his nephew Edwin William Dallen of 1 Priory Road, Gloucester, coal merchant, his executor. His widow 
died in 1914Q2 aged 86. 
The following are said to be children of Jabez and Jemima (Williams) Skidmore,  
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i.  Joseph, born 1853Q3. He died an infant in the same year. 
ii.  Ann, born 1854Q4. She died an infant and was buried at St Nicholas, Gloucester on 18 February 
 1855. 

 
44.  GILES

5
 SKIDMORE of Frampton Cotterell, a son of Daniel [23] and Ann (Holder) Skidmore, was born in 

1788 but baptised on 15 February 1789. A hatter, he married firstly Mary Grant (buried 23 February 1812 aged 
22) on 3 July 1809 at Frampton Cotterell, witnessed by Christopher Holder and William Reeve.  
 
He married secondly Diana Jennings on 30 January 1814 at St Nicholas, Bristol. She was born in 1786 and was 
sometimes called Hannah Scudamore at the baptism of their children. Giles' family moved to Winterbourne at 
some time between 1823 and 1835 but continued to use Frampton Cotterell for burials. He died at 
Winterbourne and was buried on 5 February 1843, aged 55, at Frampton Cotterell. His widow was a nurse at 
Watley's End in Winterbourne where she died at the age of 75 and was buried at Frampton Cotterell on 30 
November 1861. 
Children of Giles and Mary (Grant) Skidmore, baptised at Frampton Cotterell, 

i.  John, born 19 September (baptised 18 October) 1809. He died an infant and was buried on 5  
November 1809. 

ii.  George, born 8 April (baptised 12 May) 1811. He was buried on 16 February 1812. 
Children of Giles and Diana (Jennings) Skidmore,  
75.  iii.  HENRY, baptised 10 July 1814. 

iv.  Mary, baptised 15 September 1816. She married Thomas Flook on 27 December 1834 at St  
George, Bristol, Gloucestershire. She died in the year following and he married secondly her 
sister Elizabeth Flook. 

baptised as children of Giles and Hannah Skidmore, 
v.  Elizabeth, baptised 9 August 1818. She married Thomas Flook, a hatter on 14 February 1836 and  

they were living at the time of the 1841 census in the home of her parents in Winterbourne, with 
their four children. They are said to have emigrated to Philadelphia, Pennsylvania (although no 
mention has been found of them in the United States). I have not found them in later British 
censuses. 

vi.  Honour, baptised 16 April 1820. She was buried an infant on 21 February 1821 at St tŜǘŜǊΩǎΣ  
Frampton Cotterell. 

vii.  Sarah, baptised 13 January 1822. The death of Sarah Skidmore at Winterbourne was registered  
at Bristol, but was buried as Skidmore at St tŜǘŜǊΩǎΣ CǊŀƳǇǘƻƴ /ƻǘǘŜǊŜƭƭ ƻƴ т !ǇǊƛƭ муоф ŀƎŜŘ мтΦ 

viii.  James, baptised 20 April 1823. He was buried an infant at St tŜǘŜǊΩǎΣ ƻƴ нм hŎǘƻōŜǊ 1823. 
76. ix.  GILES, baptised 21 November 1824. 

x.  James, baptised 23 July 1826. He married Hannah, (born about 1815, a daughter of Joseph Lowe,  
a hatter), at St Michael's, Winterbourne on 29 October 1845. James Harcombe and Susannah 
Turner were witnesses. James Skidmore was an agricultural labourer and lived with his wife, a 
staymaker, at first in the home of his mother Diana and, by the time of the 1861 census, on 
²ŀǘƭŜȅΩǎ 9ƴŘ [ŀƴŜΦ IŜ ǿŀǎ ōǳǊƛŜŘ ŀǘ St aƛŎƘŀŜƭΩǎ ƻƴ мм !ǇǊƛƭ мусфΣ ŀƎŜŘ пнΦ Iƛǎ ǿƛŘƻǿ IŀƴƴŀƘΣ 
supported by Parish Relief, lived on there to the age of 68 and was buried at St Michael's on 2 
December 1882. 

xi.  Mark, baptised 3 August 1828. He died at Winterbourne but was buried at St tŜǘŜǊΩǎΣ CǊŀƳǇǘƻƴ  
Cotterell on 3 June 1835 aged eight. 

xii.  Hannah, baptised 13 September 1829. She died at Winterbourne but was buried at St tŜǘŜǊΩǎΣ  
Frampton Cotterell on 28 June 1835 (?1834) aged five. 

xiii.  Eleanor, baptised 30 September 1832 at St Michael's, Winterbourne, daughter of Giles Skidmore,  
hatter of Winterbourne, and Diana. She was a staymaker, living at home in 1851. I have not 
found her in later censuses. 

 
45.  DANIEL

5
 SKIDMORE was baptised 1 May 1790, the son of Daniel [23] and Ann (Holder) Skidmore. He 

was a felt hat maker of Bermondsey and later of Southwark who married Ann Hale (perhaps baptised 19 May 
1799 at Barkway, Hertfordshire, daughter of John Hale and his wife Frances) on 22 May 1825 at St .ǊƛŘŜΩǎΣ 
Fleet Street. The addresses they gave at the times of their children's baptisms show that they lived in West 
Place in 1826 and, from about 1828 until July 1837, in Richardson Street, Bermondsey. 
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Daughter Ann Eliza was born in Southwark in 1837Q3 and they were living at the time of the 1841 census in 
Flint Street there. Daniel Skidmore died in 1847 at Friar Street and was buried on 17 December at St George, 
Southwark. His widow and children - all employed in the bookbinding and envelope-making trades - were at 6 
Upper Green Street by 1851. Mrs Skidmore became a nurse and lived with her daughter Ann Eliza until at least 
1871. By 1881 she was a servant in Headley, Hampshire, where she died on 23 May 1882 at Heath House, aged 
84. She left a will naming her son James Skidmore, vellum binder of Little Alie Street, Lemon Street, 
Whitechapel, London as her executor. 
Children of Daniel and Ann (Hale) Skidmore, baptisms (as known) at St Mary Magdalene, Bermondsey), 
77. ii.  DANIEL CHARLES, born 11 May (baptised Daniel on 3 September) 1826. 

iii.  John, buried 24 August 1828 aged seven months. 
iv.  John, born 5 August (baptised 29 November) 1829. 

78. v.  JAMES, born 17 November 1830. 
vi.  John, buried 24 January 1832 aged five months. 
vii.  Frances Ann, born 4 February (baptised Ann Frances 26 May) 1833. She was buried 20 April 1834  

aged 14 months.  
viii.  Edward, buried 31 January 1834 aged eight months. 
ix.  Frances Hale, born 8 February 1835 and baptised 5 July 1837 (of Richardson Street). She was  

living at St .ǊƛŘŜΩǎ ǿƘŜƴ ǎƘŜ ƳŀǊǊƛŜŘ WŀƳŜǎ ²ƻƻŘ, a shoemaker (born about 1832 in Walworth), 
on 8 December 1857 at St Bride's Fleet Street. [The witnesses were Daniel and Ann Eliza 
Skidmore, presumably her parents]. Mrs Wood died in 1889Q2 in Southwark aged 54. 

and baptised at St John's, Waterloo (St John the Evangelist, Lambeth), 
x.  Ann Eliza, born 19 July 1837 in Southwark, baptised with her younger sister on 3 April 1853. A  

stationer in 1871. She married John Robert Woollett of Union Road, a warehouseman (born 
about 1840 in Bermondsey, son of John Woollett) on 20 October 1872 at Holy Trinity, 
Newington. The witnesses were her sister and brother-in-law James and Frances Wood. She died 
in 1879Q1 aged 40 and John Woollett was living a widower at the time of the 1881 census with 
his son Alfred John Woollett aged 6 at Block 4E, Pea B (?Peabody) Buildings, East Lane, 
Bermondsey. 

xi.  Sarah Hannah, born 11 March 1841, and a minor of Paradise Street at the time of her marriage  
on 9 December 1860 at St Mary's, Lambeth to William Pearce, a boot rivetter (born about 1839 
in Clerkenwell, son of Thomas Pearce, carman). Samuel Clark and Caroline Baldwin were 
witnesses. William and Sarah Pearce moved from Lambeth during the 1860s to settle at 16 
Henshaw Street, Walworth?/ Lambeth?, where they remained until at least 1901. Sarah 
continued to work as a bookfolder. 

 
46.  WILLIAM

5
 SKIDMORE was baptised 29 January 1792, the son Daniel [23] and Ann (Holder) Skidmore. 

He was presumably the 'poor child' aged 14 who was apprenticed on 12 February 1806 to John Ovens, 
feltmaker of Frampton Cotterell, to learn feltmaking

29
. 

 
A hatter, he married Leah Drew (who died in 1849Q3, her death registered for some reason at Clifton) on 27 
March 1815 at St Nicholas, Bristol and was living in 1841 at Brockridge, Frampton Cotterell. A labourer, he died 
on 28 September 1849 aged 57 of 'malignant cholera' and was buried the following day at Frampton Cotterell.  
 
Several of his children went soon after his death to Bristol settling in the parish of St Philip and St Jacob. 
Ebenezer (and his wife Sophia), Eli, Henry, Luke, and their sister Sarah were all enumerated in the same 
household in 1851 at 30 Twinnell Street, while William's eldest sons James and William Skidmore were the 
heads of households nearby. 
Children of William and Leah (Drew) Skidmore, baptised at Frampton Cotterell, 

i.  Mary Ann, baptised 23 July 1815. 
ii.  Susannah, baptised 8 December 1816. She was in service in Stoke Bishop before her marriage on  

                                                           
29

  1806 William Skidmore, a poor child aged 14, by Henry Andrews and Robert Turner, churchwardens, and John Screen  
Tovey and James Palser, overseers of F.C., to John Ovens, feltmaker of F.C., until W.S. is 21, to feltmaking. J.O. (S). 
Allowed by Samuel Webb (S) and Joseph A. Small (S), J.P.'s.  P/FC/OP/5/60  13 February 1806. Source Bristol Record 
Office. 
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6 July 1841 at St Paul's, Bristol to Charles Terrett, a mason (born about 1819 in Bristol St Philip 
1818-69, son of Thomas Terrett). They lived in Twinnell Street next door to the family of her 
brother Ebenezer Skidmore. Mrs Terrett died in 1897Q2 aged 80. 

79.  iii.  JAMES, baptised 21 June 1818. 
iv.  Leah, baptised 6 August 1820. She married Samuel Collings Rogers, an agricultural labourer (born  

about 1815, son of William Rogers, a labourer) on 18 March 1838 at Frampton Cotterell and was 
living there in 1841 with their children James 3 and Susannah 1. Mr Rogers died in 1841Q4, his 
widow in 1851Q1. 

v.  William, baptised 2 June 1822. An agricultural labourer, living at home in 1841. On 18 October  
1847 William Skidmore, a labourer of Boot Lane, Bedminster, son of William Skidmore, hatter, 
married at Bedminster Parish Church Rebecca Cocker (born about 1824 in Liverpool, daughter of 
Thomas Cocker, a cordwainer). Benjamin John Room and Mary Ann Lansdown were witnesses. 
William, a labourer and his wife were living by 1851 at 16 Philadelphia Street, St Paul's, Bristol. 
So far not found later. 

81.  vi.  EBENEZER, baptised 23 November 1823. 
82. vii.  GEORGE, baptised 21 August 1825. 

viii.  Sarah, baptised 22 July 1827. She was living, single and aged 22, with her sister Susannah Terrett  
in Bristol in 1851. She married Charles Cattell (born about 1826, son of John  Cattell) on 21 July 
1856 at SS Philip & Jacob, Bristol. Nothing further known. 

ix.  Luke, baptised 1 February 1829. He died an infant. 
x.  Luke, baptised 27 March 1831. He died an infant. 

83.  xi.  ELI, baptised 17 March 1833. 
84.  xii.  HENRY, baptised 14 December 1834. 

xiii.  Matilda, baptised 12 March 1837. She appears to have married widower George Harris, a marine  
stores and general dealer in Kingsland Road, St Philip's, Bristol (born about 1822 in St Philip's, 
Bristol and previously married to Ann ____) in 1856Q1 in Clifton registration district. This Matilda 
Harris died in 1883Q4 aged 46, her husband in 1889Q1 aged 65. 

85.  xiv.  LUKE, baptised 9 June 1839.  
 
47.  GEORGE

5
 SKIDMORE, a son of Daniel [23] and Ann (Holder) Skidmore, was baptised on 27 October 

1793. A hatter at Frampton Cotterell, George Scudamore married Hester Bryant there on 14 May 1816, 
witnessed by William Reeve and Maria Fidler. She is called Esther in the baptism registers of Frampton 
Cotterell.  
 
They went up to London for a brief time and lived in Bell Court, Bermondsey but Esther, at least, returned to 
Frampton Cotterell. On 29 December 1831 the Overseers of the Poor issued a removal order from Frampton 
Cotterell to Bermondsey, London, to Esther, wife of George Skidmore, who had deserted her children Elizabeth 
(aged 9), Caroline (aged 6), George (aged 5), and Mary Ann (aged 11 months). Neither George nor his wife 
have yet been found in records after 1831. 
Children of George and Hester (Bryant) Skidmore, baptised at Frampton Cotterell except as stated, 
86.  i.  PHILIP alias PHILIP WELSH, baptised 'Philip Scudamore' on 10 November 1816. 

ii.  Elizabeth, baptised 13 May 1821. She was a servant at the time of the 1841 census in Doncaster  
Place, Old Kent Road, London. Elizabeth Skidmore married George Jeffreys, an engineer (born 
about 1826 in Lambeth, London) in 1849Q2 in Clerkenwell registration district. They were living 
in 1851 in Roupell Street, Lambeth with their one-year old son Philip. So far not found later. 

iii.  Mary Ann, died at Bell Court, Bermondsey, buried 22 October 1823 aged one year, two months  
at St Mary Magdalen, Bermondsey. 

iv.  Caroline, baptised 7 August 1825 at St Mary Magdalene, Bermondsey. She was a servant in the  
household of William Young, woolstapler of Russell Place, Bermondsey in 1841. She probably 
married William Hague Wright (born about 1827 in Lambeth, Surrey) in 1850Q4 in Clerkenwell 
registration district. He tended the engines at the 'works' in Plumstead, Kent. Their home in 1861 
was at 78 Pattison Road, Plumstead and, by 1871 when he was widowed, at 5 Station Road 
there. Mrs Wright's death at the age of 42 appears to be that registered at Lewisham in 1867Q4. 

v.  George, born in Bermondsey about 1828 and baptised with his sister Mary Ann in Frampton  
Cotterell on 26 July 1829. The handwriting of the 1851 census enumerator for his sister 
Elizabeth's home is difficult to read, but he was apparently the 23-year old George 'Ridmore' 
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visiting there (born in Bermondsey). His occupation could be 'Assist as Hu---ers'. I have otherwise 
not found him in any British censuses. 

vi.  Mary Ann, baptised 26 July 1829. She is perhaps the Mary Scudamore, aged 1 year, buried at  
Frampton Cotterell on 13 June 1830. 

vii.  Mary Ann, baptised 14 August 1831. 
 
48. JOHN

5
 SKIDMORE, son of Daniel Skidmore [23] and Ann (Holder) (baptised 12 November 1797 at 

Frampton Cotterell). 
Three boys called John Skidmore were born around the same time in Frampton 
Cotterell (all baptised Scudamore as was the custom in this parish at this period):  

¶ John son of George Skidmore [20] and his wife Ann (born at Coalpit Heath 
and baptised at Frampton Cotterell on 9 September 1798). He became a 
coal miner in Trevethin and married Harriet Griffiths there in 1825. Died 
1868. 

¶ John son of Edward Skidmore [16] and Sarah (baptised 24 March 1799 at 
Frampton Cotterell).  
He is probably the John Skidmore, a poor child aged 14, presented for an 
apprentice on 16 June 1813 by John Screen Tovey and Robert Turner, 
churchwardens [of St Peter's, Frampton Cotterell], and William Thornwell 
and Abraham Puggins, to learn feltmaking

30
. Nothing further is known of 

Edward [16] beyond the late 1790s and it appears he and his wife died 
elsewhere. 

¶  John son of Daniel Skidmore [23] and Ann (Holder) (baptised 12 November 
1797 at Frampton Cotterell).  
On 27 March 1825 at Frampton Cotterell, John Scudamore of 
Winterbourne aged 26 was buried. The only other Winterbourne 
Skidmores using Frampton Cotterell churchyard at this time was the family 
of Giles [44], son of Daniel [23]. I suggest that, on present evidence, Giles' 
brother John is the man who married Susannah Turner in 1819. This is 
substantiated by the fact that John [48]'s son Luke was living in 1841 with 
his mother and stepfather Charles Bryant in Winterbourne. 

 
A hatter of Winterbourne, John Skidmore married Susannah Turner on 28 June 1819 at St aƛŎƘŀŜƭΩǎΣ .ǊƛǎǘƻƭΦ He 
died at Winterbourne at the age of only 26 and was buried on 27 March 1825 at Frampton Cotterell. Susannah 
Skidmore, a widow born about 1895 at Winterbourne, married widower Charles Bryant (born about 1800) at St 
Giles, Camberwell, London on 3 December 1827. A son James Bryant was baptised at Frampton Cotterell in 
1829 and a son Charles Bryant in 1837 at Frenchay. Charles Bryant, a hatter, lived with his wife Susan in the St 
Philip's area of Bristol. He died in 1861 or 1863, Susannah Bryant in 1867 aged 74. 
Children of John and Susannah (Turner) Skidmore, 
86a. i. JOHN, born about 1820-21. 
87.  i.  LUKE, baptised 7 April 1822 at St Michael's, Winterbourne. 
 
49.  LUKE

5
 SKIDMORE was baptised on 10 July 1803, a son of Daniel [23] and Ann (Holder) Skidmore. A 

hatter and feltmaker of Goose Green, Frampton Cotterell, Luke Scudamore married Ann Bryant (born about 
1797) on 24 May 1824 at Frampton Cotterell, witnessed by William Gilbert and Richard Packer (?the clerk).  
 
According to his death notice in The Bristol Mercury Luke Skidmore was 'for 17 years a pious and devoted 
class-leader in the Methodist Society, deeply lamented by his family and friends'. He died on 25 March 1861 
aged 58 and was buried on 31 March at Frampton Cotterell. At census time that year his widow was living in 
Parsonage Road, Frampton Cotterell with her married children Elizabeth Ward, Mark Skidmore and William 
Skidmore. By 1871 she was blind from cataracts and living with the family of her son John, all called 

                                                           
30

  1813 John Skidmore, a poor child aged 14, by John Screen Tovey and Robert Turner, churchwardens [of St Peter's,  
Frampton Cotterell], and William Thornwell and Abraham Puggins, to learn feltmaking. D.S. (X). Witnessed by William 
Millett, farmer of F.C. (S). Allowed by Gabriel Goldney (S), R.B. Deverall (S), J.P.'s.  P/FC/OP/5/67  16 June 1813. 
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Scudamore. She was buried at Frampton Cotterell on 9 January 1879 aged 84, but had died at Bristol according 
to the parish register - indeed, the death of Ann Scudamore aged 84 was registered at Barton Regis. 

THE FOLLOWING SONS OF LUKE [49] TOOK THE NAME SCUDAMORE
31

: 
WILLIAM (FROM 1850S), LUKE (FROM 1880S), GEORGE (FROM 1860S) AND JOHN (FROM 1860S). 

Children of Luke and Ann (Bryant) Skidmore, born and baptised in Frampton Cotterell, 
i.  Elizabeth, baptised 17 April 1825. A housemaid in Redcliff Street, Bristol in 1841 and to Miss Jane  

Powell in Henbury in 1851. She married John Ward of Shoreditch, London (a joiner, born about 
1823 in Upwell, Norfolk, son of Burton Ward, carpenter) in the Shoreditch area in 1857Q2 and 
was living at her mother's home in Frampton Cotterell in 1861 with her son John W. Ward aged 
1. By 1871 she had rejoined her husband and was living at 28 Napier Street, Shoreditch. 
Elizabeth Ward died before 1879 when John Ward then married Elizabeth's sister-in-law Sarah 
(Collier) Skidmore, widow of Daniel [88]. Hers was perhaps the death, at the age of 49, 
registered at Lambeth in 1874Q2. 

88.  ii.  DANIEL, baptised 8 April 1827. 
iii.  Hannah, baptised 8 March 1829. She was visiting at the time of the 1861 census family of grocer  

John Champion in Frampton Cotterell. She married widower Pharaoh John Hale, a grocer (born 
about 1831 in Frampton Cotterell) on 25 April 1863 at Holy Trinity, Bristol and lived at their 
premises in Brockridge, Frampton Cotterell. Mrs Hale died in 1907Q3 aged 77, her husband in 
1915Q1 aged 83. 

89.  iv.  MARK, baptised 20 February 1831. 
v.  Matilda, baptised 18 November 1832. She was buried on 6 October 1833, an infant, at St tŜǘŜǊΩǎΦ 

90.  vi.  EDWIN, baptised 15 February 1835. 
91.  vii.  WILLIAM, baptised 2 July 1837. 
92.  viii.  LUKE, baptised 10 February 1839. 
93.  ix.  GEORGE, baptised 2 May 1841. 
94.  x.  JOHN, born 1843Q3. 
 
50.  EDWARD

5
 SKIDMORE, born 28 February 1805 and baptised 7 April 1805 at Frampton Cotterell, was a 

son of Daniel [23] and Ann (Holder) Skidmore. He married Elizabeth Hibbs (born about 1813 in Frampton 
Cotterell) on 18 February 1828 at St tŀǳƭΩǎΣ .ǊƛǎǘƻƭΦ He was a hatter of Frampton Cotterell and was living with 
his family at Wood End in 1841 and Goose Green in 1851. By 1861 they settled at Brockridge, where they 
remained until their deaths, Mrs Skidmore in 1886Q1 aged 75. Edward Skidmore died aged 78 and was buried 
at Frampton Cotterell on 9 April 1889. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

                                                           
31

  No official records of name change have been found. The evidence for this comes from census entries. 

Woodend Road. 
 
from www.framptoncott.co.uk 
 
The narrow twisting Woodend Road with terraced 18th & 
19th century cottages on either side constituting the hamlet 
of Brockridge. Similar hamlets also remain at Adam's Land & 
Frampton End.  

British School, Woodend Road. 
 
from www.framptoncott.co.uk 
 
Brockeridge School was built in 1846 by non-conformists 
using funds from the 'British & Foreign Schools Society' 
to provide a basic education for 2p a week. The 1876 
Education Act changed its status to a Council School, 
teaching pupils to age 14. Further reorganisation 
followed after the 1945 Education Act when it became 
Brockeridge Infants' School with pupils transferring aged 
8 to Highcroft Junior. 
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Children of Edward and Elizabeth (Hibbs) Skidmore, baptised at Frampton Cotterell, 
i.  John, baptised 17 August 1828. He was buried on 20 August 1833 aged five at St tŜǘŜǊΩǎΣ  

Frampton Cotterell, on the same day as his sister Hannah and two weeks before his brother 
William. 

ii.  Eliza, baptised 11 July 1830. A servant at the time of the 1851 census in the White family home  
in Lower Ashley Road, Bristol. The Bristol Mercury of 8 August 1857 reported her marriage  on 3 
August at SS Philip and Jacob, Bristol to John Huish, 'jun., yeoman of Moorend' (born about 1836 
in Winterbourne. According to the IGI she died on 4 May 1888 at Frampton Cotterell, though this 
is perhaps a burial. 

iii.  William, baptised 10 July 1831. He was buried on 8 September 1833 aged two, at St tŜǘŜǊΩǎΦ 
iv.  Hannah, baptised 31 July 1832. She was buried, an infant, on 20 August 1833 aged 13 months. 
v.  William, baptised 10 November 1833. He was enumerated in the 1851 census as a fur cutter  

aged 18, but was buried at St tŜǘŜǊΩǎ ǎƻƻƴ ŀŦǘŜǊ ƻƴ ом !ǳƎǳǎǘ мурм 'aged 17'. 
95.  vi.  JOHN, baptised 17 April 1835. 
96.  vii.  GEORGE, baptised 20 December 1836. 

vii.  Mary Ann, registered as Skidmore in 1838Q3 and baptised as Scudamore on 16 October 1838.  
She married Henry Eacott, a gardener (born about 1833 in Mordon, Wiltshire, son of William 
Eacott) on 12 November 1859 at St James', Mangotsfield. In 1861 they were living in Sharpham?, 
Congresbury, Somerset and, by 1881 in Amberley Street, St Philip's, Bristol. Mr Eacott's death 
was probably that registered at Barton Regis in 1889Q2, aged 57. 

The following children registered and baptised as Skidmore, 
97. viii.  EDWARD, born 12 December 1839. 
98. ix.  HENRY, born 6 May 1842. 

x.  Elizabeth, born 5 October 1843, baptised 7 January 1844 with her brothers Edward and Henry.  
She and her two younger siblings were also baptised at the same time on 18 August 1856 at the 
Frampton Cotterell Zion Chapel. She died in Clifton but was buried at Frampton Cotterell on 30 
January 1870 aged 25. 

xi.  Martha, born 1845Q3 and baptised with her brother Daniel on 18 August 1856 at the Zion  
Chapel. She was living at home in 1851, and by 1861 was a house servant to a family who lived 
close to the home of her sister Mary Ann in Congresbury, Wiltshire. In 1871, she was a cook to a 
household in Dursley, Gloucestershire and, again, close to her sister. At the time of the 1881 
census, she was a servant of Alfred E. Bobbett, a solicitor, and his family at Westbury-on-Trym. 
She married on 18 June 1881 at St Paul's, Bristol widowed coal miner Samuel Dando (born about 
1835 in Frampton Cotterell, son of Samuel Dando) and lived at Coalpit Heath with Josiah, a son 
from his previous marriage, and two further sons born to Martha and her husband. She appears 
to have died in 1908Q1, said to be aged 60. 

99. xii.  DANIEL, born 1847Q1. 
 
51.  NATHAN

5
 SKIDMORE, born 24 May 1808 and baptised on 22 June 1808 at Frampton Cotterell, was a 

son of Daniel [23] and Ann (Holder) Skidmore. He married Mary Thatcher (born 1808 at Frampton Cotterell) on 
1 October 1832 at St Philip and St Jacob, Bristol. He was a hatter who lived at Frampton Cotterell - at 
Brockridge in 1841 and Goose Green in 1851. They were living in 1861 in Penny Lane and, from at least 1871, 
at Woodend.  
Mary Skidmore, 'ƭŀōƻǳǊŜǊΩǎ ǿƛŦŜ' was buried on 14 April 1890, aged 82, and 
Nathan Skidmore, a labourer, followed on 6 February 1891, aged 84. They were 
buried at the Frampton Cotterell Zion Chapel and are remembered on a stone 
there, together with their son Reuben and Minnie Skidmore, daughter of his 
nephew Edward [97]; gravestones were removed in 1985 with headstones 
aligned at the west wall of the graveyard. 

Zion United Church 
From www.framptoncott.co.uk  
Zion United Church is on Woodend Road and lies between Lower Chapel Lane and Upper Chapel 
Lane. In 1795 Thomas Humphries a colliery manager built the first Zion Chapel though used now 
as the church hall. Soon worshippers totalled 300 adults with 200 children so in 1873 this larger 
chapel replaced it. Three Methodist chapels closed in 1968 and their combined congregations 
moved into these larger premises. Replacement cottages were added at the rear in 1990 to 
provide extra accommodation. 
The registers of this Chapel cover the periods C1801-1922 M1846-1930 B1876-1920. 

http://newspapers.bl.uk/blcs/publicationSearch.do?month=LabelValueBean%5BAugust%2C+08%5D&queryType=PH&inPS=true&year=1857&type=getIssues&prodId=BLCS&currentPosition=0&userGroupName=blcsuser&searchTerm=Bristol+Mercury&index=JX&docPage=aboutpublication
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Children of Nathan and Mary (Thatcher) Skidmore, baptised at Frampton Cotterell, 
i.  James, born about 1832. An agricultural labourer, he married Elizabeth Daines (born in 1838 at  

Kenninghall, Norfolk, daughter of Robert Daines) on 16 May 1867 at St Andrew's, Clifton, Bristol. 
In 1871 he was innkeeper at the London Vaults at 8 Tower Hill, Bristol. He died there, aged 44, at 
Bristol on 10 February 1876, leaving a will which names his wife as executor.  
His widow, a schoolmistress, was living in 1881 at 20 Clark Street, Bristol with a niece Henrietta 
IƛƎƘƳŀƴΦ 9ƭƛȊŀōŜǘƘ {ƪƛŘƳƻǊŜ ǿŀǎ ƭƛǾƛƴƎ ŀƭƻƴŜΣ ŀ ǘŀƛƭƻǊΩǎ ŦƛƴƛǎƘŜǊΣ ŀǘ .ǊƻŎƪǊƛŘƎŜ Iƛƭl in Frampton 
Cotterell in 1901 and later with her nieces Mary Bryant and Hannah Elizabeth Bryant in Busmore 
Lane. Mrs Skidmore died in 1911. 

ii.  Reuben, baptised 25 December 1833. An agricultural labourer in 1851, he was living at home, a  
stonecutter, in 1861. He married Emma Game (born about 1835 in West Mill) in West Mill, 
Hertfordshire in 1869Q4 in a civil ceremony in the Royston registration district. They lived in 
Westminster, London where he was a journeyman mason - in 1871 at 17 Bell Street and, by 
1881, at 13 Esher Street. Following the death of his wife in 1891, Reuben Skidmore was a 
boarder at census time that year at Clematis Cottage, Hampton Wick, Middlesex. He retired and 
had returned to Frampton Cotterell where he was living in 1901 with his sister Lucy. He was 
buried at the Zion Chapel in Frampton Cotterell on 24 October 1905, aged 73. 

iii.  Hannah, baptised 20 November 1835. She was living in 1851 with her widowed uncle Stephen  
Thatcher at Frampton Cotterell, no doubt to help with his young family of four children under 12. 
She was a house servant at the time of the 1861 census at Alpine Villa, Somerset Street, Bristol, 
and by 1871 was cook to a family in Camden Terrace, Clifton. She married widower Thomas 
James Foley, a house painter (born about 1835 in Clifton, son of Gregory Foley) on 9 April 1877 
at Holy Trinity, Clifton and they were living in 1881 at 209 Hotwell Road, Clifton, with Arthur 
Foley aged 22, Thomas' son by his first wife Elizabeth. Mrs Foley died in 1904Q3 ?aged 70, her 
husband 1908Q2 aged 73. 

iv.  Lucy, baptised 18 June 1838. She died at Winterbourne but was buried at St tŜǘŜǊΩǎΣ Frampton  
Cotterell on 29 August 1841 aged three. 

v.  Lucy, born 1841Q3. She was baptised on 19 April 1852 (with her younger brother Oliver) at the  
Zion Chapel, Frampton Cotterell. She was living at home, a hat trimmer, in 1861 and married 
Isadore Bryant, a hatter born in 1843, in 1867Q1 at a civil ceremony in Bristol registration 
district. Their home was in Frampton Cotterell. Mr Bryant died in 1889Q1 aged 46 and his widow 
continued to live at Beesmoor Lane, where she made jackets for a living. He died in 1889 aged 
46, she in 1910 aged 68 and were buried at the Zion Chapel, Frampton Cotterell. 

100. vi.  OLIVER, born 1846Q1. 
 
53.  ROBERT

5
 SCUDAMORE of London, was probably born (despite some bizarre discrepancies in ages 

recorded in censuses
32

) about 1813 in St Giles, London. He is known from his second marriage to have been 
the son of William Scudamore [24], grocer, by an as yet unknown wife. He married firstly Mary Ann Roberts 
(who died in 1849Q4 at St DŜƻǊƎŜΩǎΣ {ƻǳǘƘǿŀǊƪύ ƻƴ нл WǳƴŜ муос ŀǘ St Pancras Old Church, London and was 
living in 1841 on the north side of Thrawl Street, Spitalfields. 
 
He married secondly Elizabeth Byrne (born about 1821, daughter of Alexander Byrne, cooper) on 2 January 
1851 at St aŀǊȅΩǎΣ !ƭŘŜǊƳŀƴōǳǊȅΦ Alexander Byrne and Hannah Boutle? were witnesses. They were living at 
the time of their marriage with their daughter Phoebe at 2 Paul Street, Finsbury. By 1861 they had moved to 
Wellington Street North, Bethnal Green. Mrs Scudamore died at 37 Sewardstone Road, Bethnal Green (the 
family home until at least 1901) aged 47 and was buried at the Victoria Park Cemetery in Hackney on 6 May 
1868.  
 

                                                           
32

   Robert's age   Wife's name & age 
Age given in  
1841 30-34 1807-11 Mary A 30-34 1807-11  

  1851 32 1819  Eliz. 30 1821 
  1861 48 1813  Eliz. 41 1820 
  1871 37 1834  Ann 39 1832 
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Robert Scudamore married 3rdly Ann Hursley (born 1827 at Margretting, Chelmsford, Essex, daughter of 
Samuel Hursley, brewer's clerk and a widow of William Charles Oram) on 25 October 1869 at St aŀǘǘƘŜǿΩǎΣ 
Bethnal Green, witnessed by their daughter Phoebe Ann and her husband Walter Venis. He was still a 
lithographic printer at the time of his death at Sewardstone Road, Bethnal Green in 1879Q1 aged 65. Annie 
Scudamore continued to live there until at least 1901 before moving to the home of her married daughter 
Isabel Soar (husband Henry Soar) at 110 High Street, North Finchley, Middlesex. She died on 10 July 1911.  
Children of Robert and Mary Ann (Roberts) Scudamore, 

i.  Phoebe Ann, born 25 December 1842 at Mile End, London, baptised 5 January 1843 at St  
Matthew's, Bethnal Green, 'of Norfolk Street'. She married Walter Venis (born about 1826 in the 
City of London, son of Edmund Venis, labourerύΣ ŀ ǎǘŀǘƛƻƴŜǊΩǎ ǿŀǊŜƘƻǳǎeman, on 31 August 1861 
at St James-the-Less, Bethnal Green. They lived at her parents' home at 37 Sewardstone Road, in 
Bethnal Green until at least 1881. Mr Venis died in 1916 in Bethnal Green, aged 84, his wife a 
year later aged 73. 

Children of Robert and Elizabeth (Byrne) Scudamore, 
ii.  Hannah Elizabeth, born 1851Q4 at 35 Clifton Street and baptised 14 December 1851 at St  

.ƻǘƻƭǇƘΩǎΣ .ƛǎƘƻǇǎƎŀǘŜΦ {ƘŜ ŘƛŜŘ an infant in 1852. 
101. iii.  ROBERT, born 1853Q3.  

iv.  Mary Ann, born 1855Q2. She was a servant at the time of the 1871 census - when she said her  
birthplace was Old Ford - to the family of nurseryman William Holmes of Hackney. She married 
Henry William Foster, a widower and a printer (born about 1839 in St Luke's, London), on 21 
November 1880 at the Hackney Parish Church. Henry and Mary Ann, together with three 
children from his first marriage, were living at the time of the 1881 census (when she gave her 
birthplace as Bishopsgate) at 74 Lansdown Road, Hackney. They moved to Ridley Road before 
1891. Mr Foster died in Hackney in 1898Q3 aged 60 and his widow and children were living in 
1901 at 209 Southgate Road, Islington. Around 1906 her daughter Daisy Foster married New 
South Wales-born Harry Smart, who was in charge of the publicity branch of the Australian 
Government Office, and Mrs Foster and her daughter Grace Foster shared their home in 
Woodford Green. 

v.  Susanna Caroline, born at 24 Wellington Street, Bethnal Green, baptised 9 June 1859 at St  
John's, Bethnal Green. Her godparents were S. Byrne, J.B. Byrne and C. Robertson. She married 
Emmanuel Bribury Carpenter, a coach painter (born about 1846 in Exeter, Devon), on 26 October 
1879 at Christ Church, St Marylebone. They lived at 44 Carlisle Street in St Marylebone in 1881. 
Mr Carpenter died in 1891Q2 aged 45 and his widow married secondly George Clarke in 1896Q2 
in Marylebone. Mrs Clarke, making a living as a laundress, was living with her children in 1901 at 
50 Carlisle Street, Marylebone. Her death appears to have been that registered at St Marylebone 
in 1926, aged 66. 
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GENERATION 6 

 
 
54. CHARLES

6
 SKIDMORE, baptised 13 January 1816 at Stoke Gifford, was a son of Jeremiah [54] and 

Hannah (Cooper) Skidmore. He was a stonecutter living in 1851 with his wife and family 'north of Bacon Lane' 
in Winterbourne. He was enumerated, a stone cutter, in 1861 but was buried later in the same year on 20 
October 1861 at St aƛŎƘŀŜƭΩǎΣ ²ƛƴǘŜǊōƻǳǊƴŜΣ ŀƎŜŘ птΦ  
 
He had married Elizabeth on 29 April 1844 at SS Philip & Jacob, Bristol, (though their son Charles Skidmore 
would appear to have been born 18 months earlier). According to a transcript of the marriage online she was 
called Elizabeth Iles, daughter of Peter Iles, but other evidence suggests that she was born about 1823 in 
Winterbourne, a daughter of Peter Champion. The family of Peter and Ann Champion, including Elizabeth, is 
found in Winterbourne at the time of the 1841 census. It seems her father was the Peter Iles Champion, a hat 
maker born in Frampton Cotterell around 1785, who married Ann Clark on 2 April 1810 at St James', Bristol. 
 
Elizabeth Skidmore lived in her widowhood on Winterbourne Street, Winterbourne, next to her father who 
lived into his 90s and died in 1878. Joseph Sargent, an agricultural labourer born about 1815 in Taunton, 
Somerset, was a lodger with the family for many years. The death of Elizabeth Skidmore appears to have been 
registered at Barton Regis in 1898Q4, said to be 77. 

Children of Charles and Elizabeth (Champion) Skidmore, 
i.  Charles, born 1842Q4. He was baptised 29 March 1850, aged eight years, at St aƛŎƘŀŜƭΩǎΣ  

Winterbourne. He was a stone cutter in 1861, and was living in 1871 with his grandfather Peter 
Champion. He remained unmarried and lived with his mother on Winterbourne Street. He died 
at Watley's End and was buried on 30 March 1901, aged 60, at St aƛŎƘŀŜƭΩǎΦ 

ii.  William, born 1844Q4, baptised 29 March 1850 aged six. A stone cutter, he married Eliza  
Winstone in 1870Q3, and they were enumerated in 1871 at Winterbourne. By the time of the 
1881 census they had moved to live at Winterbourne Down with her father Thomas Winstone. 
She was a tailoress, but William Skidmore then had no occupation (perhaps in poor health). He 
ǿŀǎ ōǳǊƛŜŘ ŀǘ !ƭƭ {ŀƛƴǘǎΩ ƛƴ ²ƛƴǘŜǊōƻǳǊƴŜ Down on 21 January 1888, said to be aged 42.  
An inquest was held at Frenchay and reported in the Bristol Mercury of 18 January 1888. William 
Skidmore, 39, a stone cutter, met his death by falling into a quarry. The jury returned a verdict of 
accidental death at the same time recommending that a fence should be placed around the 
quarry. 
His widow Eliza married John Maggs (1851-1890) at Bristol later in 1888. She was living in 1891 
at Winterbourne Down, already the widow of Maggs, together with her stepdaughter Julia 
Maggs aged 15 

iii.  Sarah Ann, born 1846Q4, baptised Sarah on 29 March 1850 aged four. She was living at home in  
1871 where she was enumerated as a 'servant out of a situation'. She married John William 
Hawkins, a stone mason (born about 1846 in Winterbourne) in 1878Q4 in Bristol and they lived 
in Watley's End, Winterbourne. The death of a John Hawkins aged 49 was registered at Barton 
Regis in 1895Q3 and Sarah Ann was living, widowed and a trouser machinist, at Watleys End in 
1901 with her son George Hawkins 18, daughter Olive B. Hawkins 15 and granddaughter Hannah 
Sarah Skidmore. 
Sarah Ann had a daughter, 

i. Emma, one of three girls registered as Emma Skidmore at Clifton, one in 1873Q2  
and two in 1874Q2. She appears to be the Emma Skidmore (whose father's name 
is not stated in the marriage register) who married William Albert Lane, a 
quarryman of Watley's End (born about 1875, son of Morgan Lane, a farm bailiff) 
on 19 March 1899 at St Michael's, Winterbourne. Walter Charles Mayo and Rosina 
Mayo were witnesses. She is perhaps the Emma Lane whose death at the age of 27 
was registered at Barton Regis in 1901Q4. 
Emma Skidmore had a daughter, 
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i. Hannah Sarah, born 17 July 1894 at Watley's End and baptised at St  
Michael's on 6 December of that year. 

iv.  George, born 1849Q1, and baptised 29 March 1850. At the time of the 1871 census, he was a  
labourer, lodging at 6 Lime Stone Row, Ebbw Vale, Monmouthshire (along with two other 
Winterbourne men, William Tiley 19 and Charles Gifford 17), perhaps taking advantage of the 
then thriving ironworks, which was later in the 1870s to experience severe financial difficulties. I 
have so far not found this man in the censuses of 1881 and 1901, nor a marriage, though he 
appears to be the George Skidmore from Winterbourne, railway labourer married to Olive (born 
in Stoke on Trent about 1840) and running in 1891 a lodging house for other railway labourers in 
Bridgend Road, Maesteg, Glamorgan. 

v.  Emma, born 1851Q2 and baptised on 4 September 1853 (age two years). I have not been able to  
find Emma in censuses after 1861. 

vi.  Sidney, born 1853Q3 and baptised on 4 September 1853 (together with his sister Emma). An  
agricultural labourer, he was living unmarried with his mother in 1891, and was buried at St 
aƛŎƘŀŜƭΩǎ ƻƴ п Wǳƭȅ 1897 aged 42. He is perhaps the Sidney Skidmore who volunteered on 9 
October 1878 at Old Sodbury for the Gloucester Militia, though this man gave his age as 20 years 
3 months. 

vii.  Mary Ann, born 1856Q3, baptised Mary on 27 October 1856. She married Henry Derrick, a  
'tasele man' (born 1855 at Stoke Gifford, son of John Derrick), on 25 March 1876 at St Jude's, 
Bristol. Their home was next to that of her mother in Winterbourne Street. Mr Derrick died in 
1884Q1 aged 31 and Mary Ann supported her children as a tailoress. She appears to have 
married secondly Ambrose Giles Sprackman, a labourer in a market garden (called Thomas in 
censuses, born about 1842 in Little Sodbury) in 1897Q4 in Bristol. They continued to live in 
Winterbourne Street with her son Nathan Derrick, a stone mason. 

viii.  Rosina, born 1858Q4 (registered Rositia), baptised on 12 December 1858. She married John  
Henry Shipton (Harry), an agricultural labourer (born about 1855 in Stoke Gifford, son of Thomas 
Michael Shipton) on 3 June 1876 at SS Philip & Jacob, Bristol. They raised a large family in Bacon 
Lane, Winterbourne. Mrs Shipton died in 1939 aged 81. 

ix.  Tom, baptised Tom on 21 March 1862. He was buried at St aƛŎƘŀŜƭΩǎ ƻƴ ол aŀǊŎƘ мусн ŀƎŜŘ ŦƛǾŜ  
weeks. 

 
55.  GEORGE

6
 SKIDMORE, born about 1837 in Winterbourne, was a son of George [27] and Mary Ann 

(Maggs) Skidmore. He was an agricultural labourer at Winterbourne and, by the time of his marriage, a fur 
cutter. He was married on 2 March 1856 at St Jude's, Bristol to Sophia Maggs (born about 1836 in 
Winterbourne, baptised 3 January 1845 at Winterbourne, daughter of George Maggs, a hatter, and Ann, a stay 
stitcher of Watley's End). Edward Baber and Sarah Skidmore were witnesses. 
 
Around 1860 he moved to Westgate Street, Gloucester, where he was a fur cutter. However, this seems to 
have been short-lived since they reported to the enumerator in 1871, when they were living in Watley's End, 
Winterbourne, that all their children were born in Winterbourne. Mr Skidmore returned to being a labourer on 
the land in the mid-1860s, while his wife was a tailoress. 
 
Sophia Skidmore, for a reason as yet unknown, was a prisoner at the time of the 1881 census in Bristol Gaol. 
George and the children were living in a cottage at Quarry Barton, Winterbourne at this time. He was buried at 
St aƛŎƘŀŜƭΩǎΣ ²ƛƴǘŜǊōƻǳǊƴŜΣ ƻƴ мп 5ŜŎŜƳōŜǊ муфл 'aged 54 of Winterbourne Down'. His widow Sophia 
Skidmore and her two youngest sons were there in 1891 and again in 1901. 
Children of George and Sophia (Maggs) Skidmore, born at Winterbourne, baptised at St Michael's, 

i.  Henry (Harry), baptised 30 November 1856. He was buried there on 14 August 1864, aged eight  
years. 

ii.  George, baptised мт aŀǊŎƘ мурфΦ IŜ ǿŀǎ ōǳǊƛŜŘ ǘƘǊŜŜ Řŀȅǎ ƭŀǘŜǊΣ ŀƎŜŘ ǎƛȄ ǿŜŜƪǎΣ ŀǘ {ǘ aƛŎƘŀŜƭΩǎΦ 
iii. James, born around August 1860 and baptised 9 September 1860. He died at the age of 2 and  

was buried at Winterbourne on 30 November 1862. 
104. iv. FREDERICK, born 1863Q1 and baptised Fred. 
105. v. CHARLES, born 1865Q4. 
106. vi. ALBERT, born 1868Q2. 

vii.  Harriet, registered 1870Q3 but baptised 14 January 1870. She was buried at St aƛŎƘŀŜƭΩǎ ƻƴ но  
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July 1882 aged 12. 
107. viii. EDWIN, born 1876Q2,  

ix. Frank, born 1880Q1, baptised 12 March 1880 at All Saints, Winterbourne Down. Unmarried in  
1901, a carter on a farm, living in his mother's home on The Street, Winterbourne. Not yet 
discovered in the British census of 1911. 

 
56.  HENRY

6
 SKIDMORE, son of George [27] and Mary Ann (Maggs) Skidmore, was born 1841Q3, baptised at 

St Michael's, Winterbourne with his brother John on 31 March 1844 at the age of two. He appears to have 
married Mary Maggs on 27 March 1864 at SS Philip & Jacob, Bristol. She was said at the time of her marriage 
to be the daughter of Edward Maggs and aged 20; she would appear to be the daughter of Edmund Maggs, an 
agricultural labourer of Winterbourne Street, and his wife Ann, baptised at St Michael's on 19 April 1844. 
 
Henry Skidmore, a plasterer and painter, lived with his family in Winterbourne Street. He died, said to be aged 
62, in 1905 and was buried on 18 March at Winterbourne. Mary Skidmore died aged 62 and was buried 11 
March 1911. 
Children of Henry and Mary (Maggs) Skidmore, born in Winterbourne, birth registrations (where found) at 
Clifton, baptisms at St Michael's, Winterbourne, 
109. i. HARRY, baptised 13 August 1865 at All Saints, Winterbourne Down. 

ii. Elizabeth Ann, born 1867Q3, baptised 14 July 1867. A servant to a family in Mangotsfield in  
1881. She became a tailoress, along with her sisters and she and most of her siblings lived in 
Dragon Road, Winterbourne. She married (on the same day as her older brother Harry married) 
Alfred Jones, a quarryman (born about 1862 in Winterbourne, son of John Jones, labourer) on 23 
July 1888 at St Michael's, Winterbourne, and they lived at Dragon Road, Winterbourne.  

iii. Ann, born 1869Q1, baptised 14 March  1869. A tailoress, Annie Skidmore married Charles  
Adams, a stonecutter (born about 1869, son of James William Adams, a stonecutter) on 17 
February 1890 at St Michael's, Winterbourne. Louisa Adams and H. Skidmore were witnesses. 
They lived in Dragon Road, Winterbourne. 

iv. Eliza, born 1872Q1, baptised 11 February 1872. A sewing machinist, she married Albert Edward  
Andrews, a stone mason (born about 1872, son of John Andrews, publican) on 19 November 
1892 at St Michael's, Winterbourne. Henry and Emma, presumably her brother and sister, were 
the witnesses. They lived at Winterbourne Hill. 

v. Emma, baptised 14 June 1874
33

. Emma Skidmore, born about 1874 in Winterbourne, married  
Tom Biggs, a haulier of Winterbourne Down (born about 1874 there, son of George Biggs, a coal 
miner and his wife Sarah Ann) on 21 February 1897 at SS Philip & Jacob, Bristol. She was living 
with her husband and children at Winterbourne Down until at least 1911, where she was a 
sewing machinist making trousers. 

 vi. George, baptised 9 December 1877. A walling mason, he lodged for a time with the family of his  
sister Annie Adams and later Florrie Pullin in Dragon Road. He enlisted at Bristol in December 
1915 and served with the Royal Engineers during the Great War. He died aged 53 at 
Winterbourne and was buried at St Michael's on 3 October 1930. 

vii. Harriet, born 25 November 1879, baptised 8 February 1880, registered at Barton Regis. She  
married Charles Edward Lloyd, a stonecutter of Coalpit Heath (born about 1879, son of John 
Lloyd, a haulier) on 21 June 1902 at St Michael's, Winterbourne. George Maggs and Florence 
Skidmore were witnesses. Mr Lloyd died in 1905Q4 aged only 27 and his widow married 
secondly in 1907Q3 Edward Bisp. 

viii. Florrie, born 3 July 1884 (registered Barton Regis), baptised 8 February 1885. Florrie Skidmore  
married Arthur Pullin, a stonemason (born about 1876, son of George Pullin, quarryman) on 26 
December 1906 at St Michael's, Winterbourne, witnessed by Charles Adams and Harriet Lloyd. 
They lived in Dragon Road, Winterbourne. 

                                                           
33

  One of three girls registered as Emma Skidmore at Clifton, one in 1873Q2 and two in 1874Q2. 
The girls born in 1874 were both baptised at Winterbourne on the same day - one the daughter of Henry [56], the 
other the daughter of Edward [97] (who does not appear in censuses).  
Two of these three are found in the census of 1891The Emma Skidmore - who married William Albert Lane, a 
quarryman of Watley's End (born about 1875, son of Morgan Lane, a farm bailiff) on 19 March 1899 at St Michael's, 
Winterbourne - is thought to be the daughter of Sarah Ann Skidmore of Watley's End. 
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57. JOHN
6
 SKIDMORE, born 1844Q1 and baptised on 31 March 1844 at Winterbourne, was a son of George 

[27] and Mary Ann (Maggs) Skidmore. He was an agricultural labourer in 1861 and married Elizabeth Merrick 
on 25 December 1867 at St John the Baptist, Frenchay. She was born in 1849Q1, daughter of Ann Merrick and 
was raised as his niece by Edward Rodway. John and Elizabeth Skidmore lived at Quarry Barton, Hambrook in 
1871, Winterbourne in 1873, Flaxpits in 1879, Winterbourne Street in 1881, WatƭŜȅΩǎ 9ƴŘ in 1891 and, by 1901 
in Swan Lane, Winterbourne.  
 
Mrs Skidmore was buried on 7 February 1907 at Winterbourne, aged 58, her husband on 30 November 1925 
aged 81 years. 
Children of John and Elizabeth (Merrick) Skidmore, born in Winterbourne, baptisms at St Michael's, 

i. Thomas, born 1868Q4. An agricultural labourer, he died aged 25 and was buried at  
Winterbourne on 21 January 1894. 

110. ii. GEORGE, born 1871Q1. 
iii. Frank, baptised 9 February 1873 at St Michael's, Winterbourne. He died aged 15 months and was  

buried on 26 April 1874 at Winterbourne. 
iv. Rose, born 1875Q1, baptised 14 February 1875. She was a kitchen maid at the vicarage in  

Wargrave, Berkshire, at the time of the 1891 census. She married widower John Edward Bignell, 
a labourer (born about 1870 in Purton, son of William Bignell, labourer) on 28 October 1895 at St 
Michael's, Winterbourne. Her brother George and his future wife Lillie Mary Tanner were the 
witnesses. They had moved to 39 Union Street, Bridgwater, Somerset by 1901, where Mr Bignell 
was a brickyard labourer. They were in Abertillery in 1903 before returning with their children to 
live at Winterbourne, where Mr Bignell was a coal miner below ground in 1911. 

v. Annie, born 1877Q1, baptised 11 March 1877. She married Joseph Nichols of Blainau, Abertillery,  
a coal miner (born about 1880, son of Thomas Nichols, collier) on 29 May 1901 at St Michael's, 
Winterbourne. John Skidmore and Rose Bignell were witnesses. 

vi. Frank, born 5 November 1879, baptised  14 December 1879 at St Michael's, Winterbourne. He  
appears to be the stone quarryman (who said he was born in Bristol about 1880) living at the 
time of the 1901 census near Philanthropie, Risca, Monmouthshire. He is presumably the colliery 
sinker, boarding in Fortias Street, Newbridge, Monmouthshire in 1911 and the man who died 
aged 47 in Merthyr Tydfil registration district in 1927. 

112. vii.  JOHN, born 11 February 1882. 
vii.  Elizabeth, born 10 October (baptised 14 December) 1884. She married Charles Henry Rodman, a  

stone mason of Winterbourne (born about 1824, son of Henry Rodman, quarryman) on 26 
December 1907 at St Michael's, witnessed by Aaron Cordy and Victoria Skidmore. By the time of 
the 1911 census they were living at 32 Hanbury Street, Glan Nant, Pengam, Glamorganshire. 

viii.  Victoria May, born 7 May (baptised 26 June) 1887. She married widower Richard Probert, a  
collier of Abertillery, South Wales (born about 1876 in Blaenavon, Monmouthshire, son of 
Walter Probert, an ironworker) on 25 December 1909 at St Michael's. The witnesses were Frank 
Skidmore and Clara Bignell. They were living in 1911 at 30 Gaen Street, Blaenau, Abertillery. 

 
58. JAMES

6
 SKIDMORE, farm labourer of Winterbourne, was born 1846Q2 and baptised 19 July 1846 at 

Winterbourne, a son of George [27] and Mary Ann (Maggs) Skidmore. He married Anne Barnes (born about 
1849, a daughter of George Barnes, quarryman), on 5 November 1871 at St aƛŎƘŀŜƭΩǎΦ James Jones and Sarah 
Turner were witnesses.  
 
They lived until at least 1901 on Winterbourne Street. Mrs Skidmore died aged 56 and was buried at St 
Michael's on 2 May 1906 and her husband went to live with his daughter Constance Flook in Blaenavon. He 
died at 43 Phillip Street, Blaenavon in 1913 and was buried on 6 November, aged 64. 
Children of James and Ann (Barnes) Skidmore, born in Winterbourne, baptised at St Michael's, 

i. Emma, born perhaps in 1873Q2, baptised 8 June 1873. She married Edwin Woodruff, a miner's  
labourer of Brockridge (born 1873Q2 in Frampton Cotterell, son of James Woodruff, a coal 
miner, and his wife Mary Jane) on 18 April 1896 at St Saviour, Coalpit Heath. They were living in 
1901 with their son Alfred E. J. Woodruff at Frampton End, Frampton Cotterell. Emma Woodruff 
died in 1906Q1 aged 32 and her husband and son remained at this address at least until 1911. 

ii. John, baptised 10 October 1875. He died an infant and was buried at Winterbourne on 27 May  
1877. 
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iii. Ellen, baptised 10 February 1878. She died aged 2 years and was buried at Winterbourne on 15  
August 1880. 

iv. Jack, born 15 May (baptised 28 November) 1880. He died aged 1 and was buried at St Michael's  
on 19 February 1882. 

v.  Constance, born 22 August (baptised 13 November) 1881. She married Frank Flook, a baker of  
Blaenavon (born about 1882, son of John Flook, collier) on 26 December 1906 at St Michael's, 
Winterbourne, witnessed by Charlie Rodman and Elizabeth Skidmore. Her cousin Florrie 
Skidmore, daughter of Henry [56] was married on the same day. Mr Flook was a baker in his 
home town, where they were living at 25 Woodland Street with their children and with 
Constance's father in 1911. 

 
59. WILLIAM

6
 SKIDMORE, whose birth registration has yet to be found, was baptised on 10 June 1849 at 

Winterbourne, a son of George [27] and Mary Ann (Maggs) Skidmore. He went soon after 1871 to Tidenham, 
Gloucestershire where he married firstly Emma (1850-1888), a daughter of Edward Shaw of that place in 
1874Q3 in the registration district of Chepstow, Monmouthshire (which included Tidenham, Gloucestershire). 
In 1881, when they were living on Ledbury Lane in Tidenham, he was a farm servant (aged 30 born at 
Winterbourne).  
 
He married secondly Mrs Elizabeth Kingdon (who was born in 1846 at Woolaston, Gloucestershire) in 1890Q4, 
again in the Chepstow district. His former mother-in-law Elizabeth Shaw (who was born about 1817 at 
Goodrich, Herefordshire) was living with them in 1891 at Annards in Tidenham, where he and his son Frederick 
were shepherds. He died at Woodcroft, Tidenham on 19 January 1902 aged 52. 
Children of William and Emma (Shaw) Skidmore, born in Woodcroft, Tidenham, 

i. William Frederick, born 1875Q3. Frederick was a shepherd in Tidenham and by 1911 was  
working on Penrhiw Farm, Blackwood, Monmouthshire, called Scudamore. 

ii. George Shaw, born 1878Q1. A farm labourer at Pen-y-Coed Castle, Llanmartin, Monmouthshire,  
just over the border from Tidenham. He died in 1955 aged 77. 

113. iii. EDWARD, born around February 1881. 
iv. Elizabeth Shaw, born 1886Q2 and called Bessie in censuses. 

 
60. ROBERT HARRY

6
 SKIDMORE, born 1860Q2 in Cheltenham, was a son of Robert Tanner [31] and Mary 

(Plaisted) Skidmore. He was a plasterer by trade and married, as Robert Henry Skidmore, Susannah Stallard in 
1882Q3 in Cheltenham. She was born in 1856Q3 in Hatherley, near Cheltenham and was living at the age of 4 
with her aunt and uncle George and Susan Adamsin the village of Cowley. She later became housemaid to a 
retired Colonel in the village of Prestbury.  
 
Mr and Mrs Skidmore were living in 1891 at 30 Glenfall Street but moved by 1901, when he was called a 
builder, to Vernon House, Vernon Place, Bath Road. She died at Cheltenham in 1913Q4 aged 57, survived by 
her husband who died there in 1947 aged 87. 
Children of Robert Harry and Susannah (Stallard) Skidmore, born in Cheltenham, 

i. Rose, born 1883Q1. Rose Violet Skidmore married John Trevorrow Clarke in Cheltenham on 25  
June 1907 at All Saints', Cheltenham and was living in 1911 at 49 Castleland Street, Barry, 
Glamorganshire. 

115a. ii. HARRY REGINALD
7
, born 1887Q1. He was a confectioner by 1911, living with his sister Rose. He  

married in 1918 and had a son. 
iii. Daisy, born 1889Q2. She married in 1919. 
iv. Sydney George, born 1891Q2. He married in 1916 in Gloucester. He served with the  

Gloucestershire Regiment and also the Devonshire Regiment in WW1, being discharged on 
medical grounds in October 1917. Mr Skidmore died on 27 December 1961. 

115b. v. RAYMOND WILLIAM
7
, born 1893Q3. He was a butcher at the time he enlisted at Cheltenham on  

2 September 1914. He served for the duration of the war, spending three years in Salonica with 
the Kings Shropshire Light Infantry.  
He married in Cheltenham in 1920 and died in 1955 aged 62. 

 
61.  ARTHUR WILLIAM

6
 SKIDMORE, born January 1863 in Charlton Kings, was a son of Robert Tanner [31] 

and Mary (Plaisted) Skidmore. A plasterer and a decorator, Arthur Skidmore married Jane Hemmings, a 
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dressmaker (born February 1862 in Cheltenham) in 1880Q3. They were living in 1881 at 3 Prospect Terrace, 
Cheltenham - she is called Sylvia in this British census. They emigrated in 1896 to Boston, Massachusetts, 
where he was a contract builder and decorator, living at 24 Lansdowne Street. 
A child of Arthur William and Jane (Hemmings) Skidmore (as known), 

i. Emily Violet, born September 1880, registered in the December quarter of that year. A  
saleswoman in a dry goods store in Boston in 1900. 

116. ii. FRANCIS CHARLES
7
, born May 1885. He emigrated with his parents in 1896 and was living by  

1900 at 24 Landsdown, Ward 17, Boston, Massachusetts. He was a worker in a leather factory at 
the time of the 1910 census. He married and lived with his wife and 3 sons in Boston. 

iii. [probably] Kate Constance, registered at Cheltenham in the same quarter as Francis Charles. The  
1900 US census shows that a further child had died. 

 
62.  GEORGE CHARLES THOMAS

6
 SKIDMORE, born 1865Q2 in Charlton Kings, was a son of Robert Tanner 

[31] and Mary (Plaisted) Skidmore. He was porter for a fish shop in 1881, and later a plasterer. George 
Skidmore perhaps married Annie Earengey (born in Allegheny City, Pennsylvania, daughter of James Earengay, 
a foreman to a click bootmaker, and his wife Emma) in 1896Q2 and they were living in 1901 at 9 Beaufort 
Buildings, Cheltenham. A house painter by 1911, he lived then at 3 Queens Terrace, off Albion Street with his 
wife, a dressmaker who ran her business from their home. He died at Cheltenham in 1924 aged 59. 
A child, 

i. Rose, born about 1888 in Cheltenham. 
 
63. WILLIAM

6
 SKIDMORE, born 1833 at Blackwood, Monmouthshire, was a son of John [32] and Harriet 

(Griffiths) Skidmore. A coal miner, he married Eunice Sarah Brain (born Fleur de Lis, Mynyddylwyn about 1836) 
in 1855Q3 in the Newport registration district. She was a daughter of mineral contractor Aaron Brain from 
Bristol and his wife Elizabeth, a shopkeeper assisted by Eunice and her elder sister Louisa. The family moved 
from Bristol to Mynyddylwyn around 1835. Eunice's mother returned in her widowhood to Bristol, where she 
was a fire brick manufacturer. 
 
William and Eunice Skidmore began their married life in Mynyddylwyn, Monmouthshire, moving in the later 
1860s to Thomas Castle House, Victoria Row, Blaenavon, Monmouthshire. In 1881 they were at Pen y Bont, 
Aberystruth, Monmouthshire, where William was a colliery fireman. William and his daughter Alice were living 
at 72 Tylery Street, Abertillery in 1891, his wife with her widowed sister Louisa S. Castle in Clouds Hill Road, 
Bristol. (Daughter Martha not yet found in this census). 
 
His death in 1898Q4 at the age of 65 was registered at Merthyr Tydfil, after which his widow lived with her 
daughter Alice and son-in-law George King. Eunice Skidmore died in 1910Q3 aged 73. 
Children of William and Eunice Sarah (Brain) Skidmore, born at Blaenavon, Monmouthshire, 

i.  Martha Sophia, born 1856Q3 at Fleur de Lis. A dressmaker in 1881, living with her parents, but  
so far not found later. 

117. ii.  WILLIAM EDWARD, born 1862Q4. 
iii.  Frederick John, born 1865Q2, died 1883Q3. 
iv. Berkley Brain, born 1867Q4, died aged 2 and was buried at Blaenavon on 11 February 1870. 
v.  Harriet Dory, born 1870Q3. A draper's assistant in Neath, Glamorganshire, in 1891. She married  

John Francis Jones, a coal tipper with his own account (born about 1869 in Abertillery) in 1893Q1 
in the Bedwellty registration district and they were living by 1901 at 18 Clarence Terrace, 
Aberdare, Glamorganshire. 

vi.  Alice Amelia, born 1873Q1. She married George King, a coal miner (born about 1871 in  
Monmouthshire) in 1891Q3 and was living in 1901 in Powell Street, Abertillery. Mrs King's death 
at the age of 75 appears to be that registered at Bedwellty in 1945. 

 
64. JOSEPH

6
 SKIDMORE, was born in 1837Q3 at Bitton and baptised on 20 August 1837 at St Anne's, 

Oldland, the son of Thomas [34] and Ann (Maggs) Skidmore. A hatter, he married Sarah Sweet on 28 May 1855 
at St Simon, Bristol. She was born about 1837 at White Hall in the St George district of Bristol, daughter of 
Samuel Sweet, a labourer, and his wife Hester. 
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Joseph and Sarah Skidmore were living at 4 Lead House Lane in St Philip and St Jacob, Bristol in 1861, 1871 and 
in 1874 (Electoral Register). They were still there in 1881 close to his parents. Joseph Skidmore, 'a silk hatter,' 
ran his business from 1 Whitehall Road, St George from at least 1891. He died in 1906Q1, said to be aged 67. 
His wife died in 1910Q1 aged 73. 
Children of Joseph and Sarah (Sweet) Skidmore, 

i.  Elizabeth, born in St George, Bristol in either 1855Q3 or 1855Q4 (see also Elizabeth daughter of  
Thomas [66]), baptised 23 December at SS Philip & Jacob. A weaver, she married Samuel Stone, a 
factory engine driver, on 4 June 1876 at SS Philip & Jacob. He was born in 1855 at Bitton and 
appears to have been the son of William Stone, engine driver, and his wife Mary of Chalk Lane, 
St George. They were living in 1881 at 2 Whitehall Road in St George, and in 1891 at 30 
Sherbourne Street, St George. The 1890s saw them begin a new venture after moving to 229 
Church Road. Mr Stone was still a stationary engine driver (perhaps at the same firm as his son 
Samuel Albert, an engine fitter), but they also kept a confectionery and general shop, with his 
wife acting as baker. 

ii.  Albert, born about 1860 at Bristol. His birth registration has not been found. He died in 1869Q3  
aged 9. 

118. iii.  JOSEPH SAMUEL, born 1862Q2. 
  
65. THOMAS

6
 SKIDMORE was born on 3 October 1841 at Westerleigh, the son of Thomas [34] and Ann 

(Maggs) Skidmore. He emigrated to America in 1862 settling at Canandaigua, Ontario County, New York, 
where he first engaged in the hat and cap business with Frederick Maggs (born 1824 in England and his 
mother's younger brother). In 1869 he went into the boot and shoe business, with a store at 204 Main Street 
with a frontage of 18 feet by 75 ft deep. The top floor he used for repairing and custom work and he carried 'a 
very complete stock of boots, shoes, rubbers, slippers, etc'

34
. He was a member of the F. and A. M. Lodge No. 

294, and the Methodist Episcopal Church.  
 
He married Mary A. Halligan (born 1842 in Ireland) of Canandaigua in 1865. She died on 29 September 1898 at 
Buffalo, Erie County, New York. 
Children of Thomas and Mary A (Halligan) Skidmore, born in New York, 

i.  Anna A., born 1866. She married William Abbott Howe of South Weymouth, Norfolk County,  
Massachusetts. They are said to have been 'sweethearts at Buffalo in 1890, but were separated 
by intervening relatives'. They met again by accident at the St Louis Fair in 1904, their romance 
was rekindled, and they were married on 22 August 1905 at Bloomington, McLean County, 
Illinois. She was living, his widow, at 709 Walnut Street, Bloomington in 1930. 

ii.  Thomas S., born 26 June 1869. He was educated at the Canandaigua Academy and Cornell  
University at Ithaca, New York. In 1892 he went into the wholesale and retail furniture business, 
with a three-storey store on Main Street, Canandaigua. He served as administrator of his mother 
at Buffalo in 1898. He was living, a bachelor, at Buffalo in 1900 with Mary Wilson, a cousin. He 
was living, a piano salesman, at 512 Jefferson Avenue, Bloomington in 1920. 

iii.  CǊŜŘŜǊƛŎƪΣ ōƻǊƴ мутоΣ ŀ ŎƭŜǊƪ ƛƴ Ƙƛǎ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ǎǘƻǊŜΦ  
iv.  Mary L., born 1878. She died on 3 July 1878, aged six months, according to the Ontario County  

Times. 
 
65a. ALFRED

6
 SKIDMORE, baptised as Scudamore on 7 June 1846 at Frampton Cotterell, was a son of William 

[35] and Mary Ann (Wilcox) Skidmore. He married Charlotte Erby in Goulburn, New South Wales in 1869 and 
died on 10 December 1916. 
Children of Alfred and Charlotte (Erby) Skidmore, born in New South Wales, 

i. Charlotte Louisa, born 1871. 
ii. Louisa C., born 1872. 
iii. Edgar Ernest, born 1876. 
iv. Sarah Martha A., born 1880. 
v. Thomas Alfred G., born 1880. 

 

                                                           
34

  Conover, George S., History of Ontario County, p.350. 
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65b. WILLIAM
6
 SKIDMORE, baptised with his brother Tom in February 1853 at St Saviour's, Goulburn, was a 

son of William [35] and Mary Ann (Wilcox) Skidmore. He married Catherine Dawson in 1877. 
Children of William and Catherine (Dawson) Skidmore, born in New South Wales, 

i. Martha Ann, born 1879. 
ii. Elizabeth Mary, born 1880. She appears to have married Edgar H. Plummer in 1900 at 
 Annandale, New South Wales. 
iii. Andrew W. H., born 1883. 
iv. Christina May, born 1886. 
v. George S., born 1889. 
vi. Ernest S., born 1895. 
vii. Emily S., born 1899. 

  
66.  THOMAS

6
 SKIDMORE, baptised 28 March 1830 at Winterbourne as 'a son of William and Elizabeth 

Skidmore, of Winterbourne, a shoemaker'. He moved with his father William [36] into the town of Bristol, 
perhaps around 1850. He married Cecilia Tyler (baptised 1 December 1833 at St George, Bristol, daughter of 
John Tyler, a labourer, and his wife Dinah) in the Pontypool area of Monmouthshire in 1853Q2. They were 
living in 1861 on WrightΩǎ tƭŀŎŜ ƛƴ St George, and in 1871 at 6 Thomas Street where he was a shoemaker (and 
his wife a shoe binder). Oddly in 1881 he was a quarryman, again living in Thomas Street but by 1891 Thomas 
Skidmore, a boot riveter, was living with his wife and his married daughter Elizabeth Johnson at 7 Wilson Place 
in St tŀǳƭΩǎΣ .ǊƛǎǘƻƭΦ aǊǎ {ƪƛŘƳƻǊŜ ŘƛŜŘ ƛƴ муфф όǎŀƛŘ ǘƻ ōŜ ŀƎŜŘ соύ ŀƴŘ was buried at St George's on 26 
February. Thereafter her husband lived with his unmarried daughter Eliza Ann, working from their home (19 
Dove Lane in 1901, 9 York Street in 1911). Mr Skidmore died in 1916Q4 aged 87. 
Children of Thomas and Celia (Tyler) Skidmore, (mostly born St George), 

i.  Elizabeth, baptised 14 October 1855 at SS Philip & Jacob. She was born in St George, Bristol in  
either 1855Q3 or 1855Q4 (see also Elizabeth daughter of Joseph [64]). A cotton spinner, she 
married Frederick John Johnson, a blacksmith (born in 1857Q1 in Woolwich, Kent, son of John 
Johnson) on 11 March 1877 at St Simon's, Bristol. They were living with their children at 17 
Hemmings Parade in Bristol in 1881 though by the time of the 1891 census Mrs Johnson was 
living with her parents, a laundress in business with her mother. Her husband and children 
appear to have moved to Wolverhampton. 

119.  ii.  CHARLES, born 1859Q2. 
iii. William Thomas, baptised 30 June 1861 at St Mark's, Easton. He was buried at St George's on 7  

July of that year. 
iv.  Thomas Albert, baptised 21 February 1864. He became a labourer at the Blue Works in Bristol. 
v.  Celia, born 1866Q2 in Bedminster and baptised on 28 May 1871 at SS Philip & Jacob. A scholar in  

1871. She was a household servant to the family of a wool broker at East Molesey, Surrey, in 
1891. She married Thomas Williams (born about 1862 in Mountain Ash, son of Thomas Williams) 
on 5 May 1894 at SS Philip & Jacob. They were living by 1901 at 49, Phillip Street, Llanwonno, 
Mountain Ash, Glamorganshire, where Mr Williams was a colliery fireman underground. 

vi.  Sarah Ann, born about 1872. A domestic servant in Thomas Street, St George, in 1891. She  
married William Jordan (born 1872, son of William Jordan), a railway carter, on 26 December 
1897 at SS Philip & Jacob and lived at 21 Wilson Street, Bristol in 1901, with Gertrude Jordan 8, 
presumably a child of Mr Jordan's by a previous marriage, and William aged 5 months. They 
were living by 1911 with their six children at 24 Thomas Street. The death of Sarah A. Jordan 
aged 82 was registered at Bristol in 1955. 

vii.  Eliza Ann, baptised 17 January 1875 at SS Philip & Jacob. Miss Skidmore died at the age of 43 in  
1918. 

 
67.  CHARLES

6
 SKIDMORE was born about 1835 at Winterbourne, a son of William [36] and Betsy (Cooper) 

Skidmore. He married Mary Ann Bird, a milliner, (born in 1840 at St George, daughter of Isaac Bird, grocer and 
baker, and his wife Ann) on 2 December 1860 at St Paul's, Bristol. They were living in 1871 at 29 Redfield Road, 
St George, where he kept a shop selling boots and shoes. He is listed in Kelly's Commercial Directory of Bristol 
for 1889, a boot maker at 10 Redfield Road, St George and as a boot and shoe maker of Victoria Buildings. He 
was living with his family in 1891 at 13 Victoria Place, St George but by 1901 he had purchased 221 Church 
Road, Redfield, where he died (testate) on 14 September 1912. His son Walter received his house and shop 
tools. Mrs Skidmore died in Bristol in 1926 aged 86. 
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Children of Charles and Mary Ann (Bird) Skidmore, born and baptised at St George, Bristol, 
120. i.  GEORGE HENRY, born 1861Q3. 

ii.  Alice Louisa, baptised 24 May 1863 at St George, Bristol. She was a boot machinist in 1871, and  
married Caleb Frederick Mitchell (born 1862Q4 in St Phillip's, Bristol, son of Thomas Mitchell, 
master gas fitter, and his wife Eliza) in 1886Q2. He ran a plumbing business and they lived with 
their children at Lulworth Villa on Fishponds Road. Mrs Mitchell died in 1918 aged 55, her 
husband in 1944 aged 81. 

iii.  Laura, born 1865Q1, registered Laura, baptised 2 April of that year. She was with her maternal  
grandparents at Rose Green, St George at the time of the 1881 census. She married Ernest 
Edward Stone in 1891Q4, and by 1901 was living his widow, together with her son Bertie at 111 
Church Road, Redfield, where she ran her own dressmaking business. Mrs Stone died in 1927 
aged 63. 

iv.  Florence, born 1866Q3, baptised 29 July. At home in 1891, a boot machinist. She married  
Frederick Merry, an upholsterer and furniture dealer (born 1864Q4 in Norwich, apparently son 
of Charles Merry, a baker of Heigham, and his wife Hannah), on 13 November 1887 at Holy 
Trinity, Bristol. Their business was run from their home at 255 Church Road, Redfield and later at 
54 Vicarage Road, Easton. Mrs Merry died in 1941 aged 75. 

v.  Annie, born 1868Q2 (twin), baptised 17 May. She was a boot machinist in 1891 but a dressmaker  
by 1901. She appears to be the lady who married Richard Jefferies, a blacksmith (born 1877Q1 in 
Bristol, son of Abraham Jefferies, iron moulder, and his wife Sarah) in 1903Q3 in Bristol.  

vi.  Emily, born 1868Q2 (twin). At home in 1891, an assistant dressmaker. She married James Marsh,  
a wood sawyer (born about 1862 at Bristol) in 1909Q3 and they were living by 1911 at 21 
Leonard Road, Redfield, Bristol. 

vii.  Walter, born 1869Q4. At home in 1891, an assistant shoemaker and later a boot shop assistant.  
He was named as ŜȄŜŎǳǘƻǊ όǿƛǘƘ Ƙƛǎ ƳƻǘƘŜǊύ ƻŦ Ƙƛǎ ŦŀǘƘŜǊΩǎ ǿƛƭƭΦ 

viii.  Eliza Jane, born 1874Q3. A scholar as late as 1891. A dressmaker, she was living in 1912. 
ix.  Lily, born 1876Q3. She died aged 5 and was buried at Wesley, Redfield on 7 May 1882. 
x.  Bertha, born 1878Q4. A ŘǊŀǇŜǊΩǎ ŀǎǎƛǎǘŀƴǘΣ ǎƘŜ ƳŀǊǊƛŜŘ IŜǊōŜǊǘ !ƭŦǊŜŘ .ŀtten, a commercial  

traveller in the 'oil and colour trade' (born about 1880 in Bristol) in 1904Q3 and they were living 
in 1911 at 10 Milton Park, Redfield with their son Horace Skidmore Batten aged 3. 

xi.  Edith Marian, born 1881Q3. A school teacher, she married in 1906Q2 Sidney Herbert H. J. Watts,  
a commercial traveller (born about 1880 in Bristol). They were living in 1911 at 126 Hewitt 
Avenue, Wood Green, London, with their son Kenneth (born in Manchester). Miss Maud 
Skidmore, a costumier (born about 1876 in Bristol) was boarding with them. 

xii.  Lillian Beatrice, born 1883Q4. A scholar in 1891, and a cigar maker in 1901. 
xiii. & xiv. Two further children, one stillborn and one did not survive into adulthood. 

 
68. JOSEPH

6
 SKIDMORE, born about 1847, was a son of William [36] and Betsy (Cooper) Skidmore. He 

appears to be the man who married Mary Blanche Legg (born about 1851 in St George, Bristol, daughter of 
Charles Legg) on 7 August 1870 at St Mary's, Bitton, Gloucestershire. Mrs Blanche Legg [sic] was living at the 
time of the 1871 census at the home of her parents Charles, coal haulier, and Martha Legg at Causeway, 
Fishponds, Bristol, together with a son Arthur Henry Skidmore aged 3 months. 
 
Joseph Skidmore's death has yet to be found but in 1876Q4 Mary Blanch Skidmore married secondly Albert 
James Leonard, the widower of her husband's sister Elizabeth (Skidmore). Mary Blanch Leonard died early in 
1881 and at census time that year Mr Leonard and his stepson Henry Skidmore were living at 7 Queen Street, 
St George. He died in 1888Q3 aged 48 and by the time of the 1891 census his son Albert Leonard was a 
shoemaker lodging in St George, his son Ernest Leonard was a shoemaker apprenticed to his uncle William 
Skidmore, his daughter Blanch Louisa Leonard was in an orphanage and son Alfred John Leonard a general 
servant to a builder in Queen Street.  
Children of Joseph and Mary Blanche (Legg) Skidmore, baptised at St Michael's, Two Mile Hill, 
121. i. ARTHUR HENRY, born 1871Q1. 

ii. Agnes, born 1872Q3 and baptised 28 March 1877, daughter of Joseph and Blanche Skidmore.  
After her mother's death in 1881 and before census time that year she was living in the second 
New Orphan House in Ashley Down, more commonly known as the Muller Homes. 
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By 1891 she was in domestic service in Clifton, Bristol and 
was living in 1901 with her widowed aunt Mrs Eliza Watts, 
née Bailey, widow of William Day Watts, a solicitor. Not yet 
found in 1911. 
 
 
 
 
 

 
70.  JOHN

6
 SKIDMORE married Margaret Morgan (born 1833 at Pontypool, Monmouthshire, daughter of 

David Morgan) on 21 September 1858 at Trevethin Parish Church. He said that he was 24 years old, a fireman 
born in Winterbourne and a son of collier Joseph Skidmore. A witness to the marriage was John Powell. 
Judging by his age and birthplace John Skidmore was perhaps the son of Joseph [39], said on the IGI to have 
been born 24 March 1835 and baptised on 19 July at Westerleigh. It should be noted that Joseph [39] was not 
known to have been a collier before he emigrated in about 1857 and I might have identified John [70] as his 
son in error. 
 
John Skidmore was a forge labourer in 1861 (and still reported to be aged 24 in the census that year), living in 
Back Street, Trevethin with his wife and son Thomas. They had moved by 1865 in Bristol, where he was said to 
be a tailor in the census of 1871 [perhaps an error?] living at 3 Owen Street, St George, Bristol. Margaret 
Skidmore died at Bristol aged 44 and was buried at the Wesley [?Chapel], Redfield on 11 December 1881. 
 
In 1901 Mr Skidmore was said to be aged 65, a labourer in a galvanizing works, and was then living with his son 
Henry at 29 Beam Street. He appears to be the John Skidmore whose death was registered at Bristol in 1910Q3 
aged 75. 
Children of John and Margaret (Morgan) Skidmore, 

i.  Thomas, born 1859Q3 at Pontypool and baptised in Bristol with his brother Henry. He died in the  
Union Workhouse in Pontypool and was buried at Trevethin on 31 December 1898, aged 39. 

121a. ii.  GEORGE HENRY, born 1865Q3 at St PhiƭƛǇΩǎΣ .Ǌƛǎǘƻƭ. 
iii.  William, born 1870Q1 at St tƘƛƭƛǇΩǎΦ He died at the age of 14 and was buried at Wesley, Redfield  

on 22 March 1885. 
 
71.   GEORGE

6
 SKIDMORE, born at Ashleworth, Gloucestershire and baptised there on 8 January 1837, a son 

of Moses [40] and Ann (Brown) Skidmore. He married Emma Seysell (born 12 February 1838 at Chaxhill/ 
Westbury-on-Severn, Gloucestershire, daughter of William Saysell, an agricultural labourer, and his wife Maria 
(Daw)) on 29 July 1860 at Hempsted, Gloucestershire. They were living in 1861, with an infant son Arthur, aged 
five months, in the household of his parents and then set up home near to his widowed mother in Moreton 
Street, Barton St Mary, where they remained until at least 1901. This area was sometimes called the South 
Hamlet, and was in that part of Barton St Mary parish formerly called Barton St Michael. Nearby streets were 
in the parish of Barton St Mary. 
 

He was a dock labourer on the nearby River Severn and was described in the census of 1881 as a corn porter. 
He died at Gloucester in 1902Q3, his wife a little later that year, both aged 65. 
Children of George and Emma (Seysell) Skidmore, born at Tredworth, 
122. i.  ARTHUR, 1860Q4. 

ii. Emma, born 1863Q1. She was servant to the family of Joseph Hudson, innkeeper in Westgate  
Street, Gloucester in 1881. She married Charles Nicholls, a dock labourer (born about 1856 in 
Gloucester, son of John Nicholls, labourer) on 19 March 1882 at St James', Gloucester. Their 
home was in Clare Street, Gloucester. 
Children, as known - Harry, Albert, Mary A., Charles, Tom, Clara, Edith, Fred, Alice, Winnie. 

123. iii.  FREDERICK GEORGE, born 1865Q4. 
124. iv.  WILLIAM, born 1869Q2. 

The Second Müller Home, Ashley Down.  
Wikipedia. 
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125. v.  ALFRED HENRY, born 1874Q4. 
vi.  James Ernest, born 1877Q3. He married Mary Taylor (born about 1876 in Haresfield,  

Gloucestershire) on 1 May 1897 at St tŀǳƭΩǎΣ DƭƻǳŎŜǎǘŜǊΦ IŜ ǿŀǎ ŀ ŦƻǊŜƳŀƴ at the Gloucester 
Wagon Works and was living with his wife at 43 Adelaide Street in 1911.  He enlisted at Shire 
Hall, Gloucester on 3 September 1914 with the Worcestershire Regiment. He moved to France in 
July 1915 and, after receiving a gunshot wound in the right leg, was shipped home in August 
1916. He transferred to the Labour Corps for the rest of the war. 
No offspring known. 

vii.  Clara Jane, born 1881Q2. She married James Davis, a bricklayer, (born about 1879 at Severn  
Stoke, Worcestershire, son of William Davis, a labourer) on 21 October 1899 at St Paul's, 
Gloucester. They were living in 1901 at 20 Milbourne Street, Gloucester. Jim Davis later became 
a carter for Gloucester Corporation and their home was at 48 Adelaide Street. 

 
72.  ALFRED HENRY

6 
SKIDMORE, born 1856Q2 at Hempsted, was a son of Moses [40] and Ann (Brown) 

Skidmore. He married Jane Young (born about 1856, the daughter of William Young, a corn porter), on 28 
August 1876 at St Mary-de-Lode, Gloucester. They were living in 1881 at 13 Moreton Street, Barton St Mary, 
Gloucester, where he was a wood sawyer. The family moved towards the end of the 1880s to live in 
Newington, London and are found at 6 Portland Terrace in 1891 and at 6 Sandford Row in 1901.  
 
Jane Skidmore died in 1901Q1 aged 44 and Mr Skidmore married secondly Ann Caroline Edwards in 1902Q2 in 
Southwark. She died the following year aged 38 and by the time of the 1911 census he was living at 19 Date 
Street, Walworth with his sons Harold and Frederick. His death was perhaps that registered at Southwark in 
1913, aged 56. 
The children of Alfred Henry and Jane (Young) Skidmore, 
126. i.  ALFRED HENRY, born 1877Q4 in Tredworth. 

ii. Ada Jane, born 1879Q2. She died in 1880Q2. 
iii.  William Timothy, born 1881Q2 in Tredworth. An engineer's labourer. Not found in the 1911  

census. 
127. iv.  SIDNEY ERNEST, born 1883Q2. 

v.  Harold Arthur, born 1889Q3 in Walworth. A market porter in 1911, unmarried. 
vi.  Herbert Frederick, born 7 March 1891 in Newington. He was a fireman and driver for the Great  

Western railway, retiring in March 1956
35

. Mr Skidmore married Grace Edith Prince on 30 
November 1919 at St Stephen's, Walworth. He died in 1971 aged 80. No children known. 

128. vii. FREDERICK GEORGE
7
 was born in 1893Q2 in Newington, London. He enlisted on 5 April 1914 in  

London with the 6th Battalion of the City of London Rifles. He was then living at 59a Crampton 
Street, Newington (?)Butts and said he was cyclist working for Charles Knight and Co. He went to 
France in March 1915 and, following a gunshot wound received in September that year, 
returned to Woodside Hospital, Glasgow. He was discharged in July 1916 on medical grounds 
and remained in Glasgow until at least 1920. 
He married in Dumfriesshire in 1931 and had issue. He died on 24 February 1966 in Girvan, 
Ayrshire, Scotland, aged 73.  

viii. Horace Arthur, born 1895Q2 in Newington. A shop assistant, he was living in Peckham in 1911  
with the family of his brother Alfred. He enlisted on 14 September 1914 at Greenwich with the 
Royal Inniskillen Fusiliers. He received a gunshot wound to his right foot, in action at Gallipoli in 
August 1915 and was shipped home a month later. He saw further action in 1916 in the Balkans 
(where he was again wounded), Salonica and Malta, and in 1917 in Egypt. 
He appears to have married in 1923. He is perhaps the Horace A. Skidmore who died on the Isle 
of Wight in 1968 aged 72. 

ix. Beatrice Charlotte, born 1901Q1. She married in 1925. 
 
73.  EDWIN

6
 SKIDMORE, born 1848Q3, was a son of Caleb [41] and Ann (Lee) Skidmore. It would appear he 

was baptised twice - firstly on 13 August 1848 at St Nicholas, Gloucester and again on 7 July 1872 at the same 
church. He married Amelia Savage of Sharpness Point in the tything of Hinton (born about 1849, daughter of 
Edwin Savage, a canal worker, and his wife Sarah) on 18 September 1870 at Westbury-on-Severn. He was 

                                                           
35

  UK, Railway Employment Records, 1833-1956. 
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described in the census of 1871, when they were living in St Mary's Square, South Hamlet, Gloucester as an 
'engine driver 'steam ?boat''.  
 
They moved around 1875 to the village of Hinton, Berkeley, Gloucestershire and by 1891 were living at 13 
Newtown Street, where he was described in the census as an engine driver of a steam winch. Mr Skidmore 
continued to work as a stevedore's labourer at Gloucester docks until at least 1911. He and his wife were then 
living at The Fields, Newtown.  He died in 1924 aged 76. 
Children of Edwin and Amelia (Savage) Skidmore, 
129. i.  ALBERT EDWIN, born 1872Q4. 
130. ii.  FREDERICK VALENTINE, born 1874Q3 
131. iii.  EPHRAIM, born 1876Q3. 
132. iv.  CALEB, born 1882Q1. 
 
74. CALEB

6
 SKIDMORE, was a son of Caleb [41] and Ann (Lee) Skidmore, born 1864Q3 in the city of 

Gloucester. He appears to have been raised by his elder brother Edwin and became a baker in Berkeley. He 
married Mary Ann Dunn (born 1858 in Clifton, Bristol, daughter of Richard Dunn) on 9 April 1890 at St Mary 
Redcliffe, Bristol.  
 
They were living in Maryleport Street, Berkeley in 1891 but moved to Severn View Parade, Newtown, 
Sharpness. Mr Skidmore died in 1926 aged 61. 
A daughter of Caleb and Mary Ann (Dunn) Skidmore, 

i. Edith Lille, born 1895Q3 in Berkeley. 
ii.  Annie Elizabeth, born 1900Q1 in Sharpness. 
iii. A third child who did not survive. 

 
75.  HENRY

6
 SKIDMORE, baptised 10 July 1814 at Frampton Cotterell, was a son of Giles [44] and Diana 

(Jennings) Skidmore. I have not yet been able to find him in the census of 1841. By 1851, he was a general 
labourer living at 14 Salisbury Crescent, Agar Town

36
, St Pancras, London and stating that he was born at 

Bristol. I have so far been unable to find his marriage to Ann _____ (born 1824 at Stoke upon Trent, 
Staffordshire), which, given her age, presumably took place in the 1840s. They had moved to 30 Edmund 
Street, Camden Town, St Pancras, by 1861, and were at 4 Coopers Buildings, Riley Street in 1871 (where he is 
enumerated as John Skidmore, a labourer, aged 56), and at 2 Drapers Place, St Pancras, by 1881. They were 
living in 1891 at 76 Copenhagen Street, Islington, with their sons Aaron, George and Thomas still at home. He 
died at the age of 77 and was buried at Islington Cemetery on 18 February 1892. His wife died in 1896 aged 73 
and was buried on 12 March. 
Children of Henry and Ann Skidmore, all born St Pancras, baptisms at St Pancras Old Church, 
Birth registrations have not yet been found for Emma, James and Daniel and Thomas. 

i.  Henry, born 30 March, baptised 22 May 1850. The Times of 24 February 1875 reported that  
Henry Skidmore, 25, labourer, was indicted for stealing a silver watch £3 value, the property of 
Wm Ryan from his person. 'Mr Tucker coach painter, Riley St Cromer St, St Pancras deposed that 
shortly after midnight of 13th inst he was standing at his door smoking when he saw prisoner 
whom he well knew, standing in front of him take something that glittered in the lamplight from 
waistcoat pocket of the latter who was drunk so as to be nearly unconscious of what was 
occurring. Witness charged him with the theft, caught hold of him, he slipped the watch into Mr 
Tucker's hand. Witness took prosecutor and watch to the police station. Prisoner taken into 
custody next morning, said he was very drunk. Jury found him guilty and expressed high 
appreciation of way Mr Tucker acted and had given evidence. Sentenced prisoner (who had a 

                                                           
36

  Agar Town (also known as Ague Town, Hagar Town, Agar-Town and Agar-town) was a short-lived area of St Pancras in  
central London. It was named after William Agar, a wealthy lawyer who lived at Elm Lodge, a villa in large grounds near 
to the Regent's Canal roughly where Barker Drive is now. Agar Town consisted of low-quality housing for poor people, 
built of the lowest quality materials on 21 year leases, and was generally considered a slum. The neighbourhood was 
started in 1841 with Agar's widow leasing out small plots on the north side of the canal. Ownership passed to the 
Church Commissioners, who sold it to the Midland Railway. The company demolished most of the housing to make way 
for warehouses supplying St Pancras railway station from 1866. 
The name of Agar Town is commemorated by Agar Grove, a road that runs along the edge of where Agar Town used to 
be, and which was originally called St Paul's Road. Wikipedia. 
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good character up to Christmas last year) to six months imprisonment and ordered Mr Tucker to 
receive £1 from the court in addition to costs'. 
Henry married Matilda Kennedy (born in St Pancras or Holborn about 1853, daughter of John 
Kennedy, stoker) in 1876. They were living in 1881 at 16 Aberfeldy Street, Bromley, London and 
in 1891 at 48 Twyford Street, Islington. He died in 1892Q2 aged 42, and his widow remarried 
Edward Seaman Kitchener Wade, a railway engine driver of 142 York Street (son of George 
Wade, master mariner), on 11 February 1899 at St !ƴŘǊŜǿΩǎΣ LǎƭƛƴƎǘƻƴ. Witnesses were Ellen Ann 
Kennedy and F. Kennedy Wade. 

ii.  Emma, born about 1852. She married Charles William Cain on 21 December 1875 in Tower  
Hamlets. Mr Cain's death at the age of 24 appears to be that registered in the City of London in 
1878Q3.  

133.  iii.  JAMES, born about 1854. 
iv.  Daniel, born 10 July (baptised 31 July) 1857. Not found in 1861. 
v.  Ann, born 1860Q2. She married William Shepherd, a carman, on 13 September 1881 at St John  

the Evangelist, ?Islington. They lived in Francis Street, Islington and, by 1901, at Enfield Road, 
Hackney. 

vi.  Aaron, born 1863Q1. He was a bottle warehouseman in Clerkenwell in 1901. He died in 1937  
aged 72. 

134.  vii.  WILLIAM GEORGE, born 1869Q2. 
viii.  Thomas, born about 1873. He was a general labourer in 1891 at St Pancras, and died there aged  

only 19 and shortly after the death of his father. He was buried at Islington Cemetery on 21 April 
1892. 

 
76. GILES

6
 SKIDMORE, baptised at Frampton Cotterell on 21 November 1824, was a son of Giles [44] and 

Diana (Jennings) Skidmore. He was a brickmaker (at home) in 1841. By 1851 he was living at Oldbury on 
Severn, Gloucestershire, with Mrs Mary Lewis (born about 1817 in Thornbury, wife or widow of Thomas Lewis, 
agricultural labourer of Oldbury, called the wife of Giles Scudmore in this census), also her son Thomas Lewis 
aged 7 and 7-month old Elizabeth Scudamore.  

 
In the census of 1861 Giles Scidmore, a brick and tile maker, and Mary Lewis (called a widow and a separate 
head of household in the same house) were still living in Oldbury, with three children called Lewis - Mark Lewis 
aged 21, an assistant sailor on a casting sloop (a son by her husband Thomas Lewis), Henry Lewis 7 and William 
Lewis 3, perhaps children by Giles Skidmore. By 1871 Henry Lewis, an agricultural labourer, was living with his 
older brother Thomas in Oldbury, and he later became mate to his brother on Thomas' barge Lily. He is 
perhaps the Henry Lewis found at the time of the 1891 census with his wife Cath living at 5 Rocks Place, 
Swansea. Henry's younger brother William Lewis was also originally an agricultural labourer in Oldbury, 
apparently the man who later married Clara ____ and became a coal miner at Yate, Gloucestershire (this last 
needs further checking). 
 
Mary Lewis' death is perhaps that registered at Thornbury in 1863Q1. Giles Skidmore died in 1865Q1. 
Probable children of Giles Skidmore and Mary Lewis, 

i. Elizabeth, registered as Lewis in 1850Q3, called Elizabeth Scudmore in the 1851 census. She  
perhaps died in 1852, her death registered as Elizabeth Lewis. 

ii. Henry, born 1853Q2, birth registered as and later known as Lewis. 
iii. William, born 1858Q1, birth registered as and later known as Lewis. 

 
77.  DANIEL CHARLES

6
 SKIDMORE, son of Daniel [45] and Ann (Hale) Skidmore, was born on 11 May 1826 in 

Bermondsey and baptised Daniel on 3 September at St Mary Magdalene there. An envelope manufacturer, he 
married Jane Elizabeth Lockwood on 25 December 1851 at St Matthew's, Bethnal Green. Witnesses were 
Frances Hale Skidmore, his sister and Charles Lockwood. His wife was born at Blackfriars Road, London, 
daughter of Charles, tailor or hatter, and Jane (?Vincent) Lockwood, perhaps baptised 7 October 1827 at St 
Saviour, Southwark.  Daniel was described as a stationer in the 1861 census, when he was living at 2 Plummers 
Court, Eagle Street, Bloomsbury. Charles and Jane Lockwood, Jane's parents, shared their home at this time 
and Mr Lockwood, after the death of his wife, continued to live with his daughter after her second marriage. 
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Daniel Skidmore died in 1863Q1 and his widow married secondly Charles Brooks Rose, a jeweller of Waterloo 
Road (born about 1832 in Chesham, Buckinghamshire, son of Richard Rose, baker) on 9 June 1867 at St John 
the Evangelist, Islington, witnessed by Charles Lockwood and Susannah Smith. Charles Rose was a mason's 
labourer at the time of the 1871 census, when they were still living at 2 Plummers Court. With Charles and 
Jane Rose were her father, her Skidmore children and a daughter Jenny Rose (born about 1868 in 
Bloomsbury). Charles Rose died in 1874Q3 aged 42 and in 1881 Jane Rose, a needlewoman, was living with her 
children at 16 Victoria Road, Islington. She is perhaps the widow Jane E. Rose living in 1891 with the family of 
her cousin Samuel R. Austin, a pawnbroker, in Gloucester Street, Norwood, London. 
Children of Daniel Charles and Jane Elizabeth (Lockwood) Skidmore, born in London and baptised at Holy 
Trinity, Kingsway, Holborn, 
135.  i.  DANIEL CHARLES, born 1853Q3. 

ii.  Elizabeth Jane, born 1855Q2 in Cripplegate, baptised 21 February 1858. She witnessed her  
brother Daniel's wedding in 1877. At the time of the 1881 census she was an unemployed 
needlewoman living with her mother. She married John George Hodgson of 33 New Kent Road, a 
printer's labourer (born about 1859 in Peckham, son of Thomas Rowland Hodgson, foreman) on 
1 April 1888 at St John's, Walworth. The witnesses were George Bailey and Fanny Bailey. The 
Hodgsons lived at first in Dragon Road, Walworth, moving in the early 1890s to Peckham. Their 
deaths appear to be those registered at Camberwell, she in 1927 aged 71, her husband in 1936 
aged 76. 

136.  iii.  JAMES JOHN, born 1857Q3 in Bloomsbury. 
iv.  Annie Charlotte, born 1860Q4. She married (giving her father's name as Charles Skidmore, a  

bookbinder deceased) James Webb, a porter of 5 York Road (born about 1854 in Hackney, son of 
Ebenezer Webb, carpenter and his wife Sarah) on 27 August 1882 at St John the Evangelist, 
Islington. The marriage was witnessed by Daniel Charles Skidmore and Jane Skidmore.  
She is perhaps one of the two ladies called Annie Charlotte Webb who married in 1889Q2, one in 
Islington, one in Camberwell. 

 
78.  JAMES

6
 SKIDMORE, vellum binder of St Mary le Strand, London, appears to be the son of Daniel [45] 

and Ann (Hale) Skidmore. This family poses conundrums since their ages and names are not consistent in 
censuses - the following is my interpretation of the facts, which may require modification in the light of further 
details, particularly those obtained from actual registers and/or certificates. 
 
James' age in the censuses of 1841 and 1851 is consistent with that of the date of birth - 17 November 1830 - 
given at his baptism on 26 December 1830 at St Mary Magdalene, Bermondsey and the age he gave at the 
time of his marriage. However, he reported his age as 36 in 1861, though his birth place of Bermondsey would 
suggest he was the son of Daniel [45]. 
 
He appears to have had two children in 1848 and 1851 by ______ Amos, who were eventually baptised as 
Skidmore. I have been unable so far to find these two girls and their mother in the census of 1851. 
 
James Skidmore, a 22-year old vellum binder of 40 Brandon Street, married Mary Ann Elizabeth Tether of 17 
Eltham Street (born about 1826 in Southwark, daughter of William Tether, a coal porter) at St Peter's, 
Walworth in 1853Q3. James and Mary Ann Skidmore were living in 1860 in Drury Lane (the birth certificate of 
daughter Sarah describes him as a station master of Drury Lane) and at census time in 1861 at 6 Wych Street, 
the Strand, London (he was then described as an account book manufacturer employing one lad). 
 
The couple separated and his wife appears to be the Mary Skidmore found at the time of the 1871 census, a 
book sewer (married, not widowed), living with the following children at 6 Duke Street, at St DƛƭŜǎΩ ƛƴ CƛƴǎōǳǊȅ - 
Elizabeth [presumably Emily] 20, Jane [presumably Frances Ann] 17, James 15, Annie 11 and Walter 7. She is 
presumably the Mary Ann Skidmore whose death was registered at Strand in 1877Q1 aged 52. In 1881 Emily, 
James, Annie and Walter Skidmore were living at 6 Windsor Court, St Mary le Strand. 
 
James Skidmore the elder married Priscilla Hart in 1893Q2 in Whitechapel. However, they were living as man 
and wife from at least the time of the 1881 census and probably throughout the 1870s. The children registered 
as Hart during the 1870s are probably by James Skidmore who was not free to marry Priscilla Hart at that time. 
In 1881, James Skidmore, a stationery binder (who said in this census and that of 1891 that he was born 
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around 1834 in Bermondsey) and Priscilla (born in Smithfield, City of London about 1847, daughter of Barnett 
Hart, clothier, and his wife Catherine) were living in Little Alie Street, Whitechapel. James Skidmore died in 
Whitechapel registration district in 1899Q4 aged 65 and his widow was a 'hawker of goods' with her own 
account. She died in 1911Q3 aged 64. 
Children of James Skidmore and Mary Ann Amos, 

i.  Mary Ann Jane Amos, born 6 September 1848 in Southwark and registered there with the  
surname Amos. She was baptised Skidmore on 3 November 1861 with her sisters Frances and 
Emily at St Clement Danes. The death of Mary Ann Jane Skidmore was registered at Strand in 
1865Q3. 

ii.  Emily Skidmore Amos (registered at Newington with the surname Amos), born 18 January 1851  
in Walworth. An envelope black borderer in 1881. She is perhaps the Emily Skidmore whose 
death at the age of 40 was registered at Strand in 1893Q1. 

Supposed children of James and Mary Ann Elizabeth (Tether) Skidmore, 
iii.  Frances Ann (registered with the surname Skidmore), born 22 November 1853 in Walworth. She  

married Edward Stephen Wright, a solicitor's clerk (born about 1850 in Strand) in Holborn 
registration district in 1878Q4 and they were living by 1881 at 7 Prebend Street South, Islington. 
They are found with their two daughters in 1891 at 44 Springdale Road, Stoke Newington and in 
1901 in Cavendish Road, Hornsey, Middlesex. They had moved with their daughter Elizabeth by 
1911 to Finsbury Park. 

137. iv.  JAMES DANIEL, born 1856Q1 
v.  Henry William, born 1858Q4 in St Clements district. He died in 1861Q3. 
vi.  Annie Sarah or Anna Sarah, born 8 April 1860 in Drury Lane. A vellum sewer in 1881. She married  

George Jones, an electrotype finisher (born about 1855 in Bermondsey), in 1886Q4 and they 
were living in 1891 at 37 Packington Street, Islington. 

vii.  Walter Edward, born in 1864Q3 in the Strand/ St Clements area. He lived for a time in the home  
of his married brother James and was a gas fitter's labourer, living in 1901 at 90 Munton Road, 
Newington, with his wife Frances (born 1864/65 in the Strand). He married Frances Davis in 
1900Q4 in Strand registration district and became a warehouseman for a gas mantle maker. He 
died on 7 January 1935 at 11 Paragon Row, Rodney Road, Walworth. 

Children of Priscilla Hart, probably by James Skidmore, born in Whitechapel and all called Skidmore, 
viii.  Kate, registered Katie Hart in 1871Q4. Like her sister Emma, an apprentice cigar maker in 1891.  

With her sisters Emma and Florence, called Skidmore in 1881 and 1891. She appears to be the 
lady, a domestic servant, living in 1901 with her son Reginald Skidmore (born about 1897 in 
Birmingham) at 160 Lower Kennington Lane, Lambeth. 
A son, 

i. Reginald, born about 1897 in Birmingham. 
ix.  Emma, registered Hart in 1874Q1. Emma Skidmore, daughter of James Skidmore book binder,  

married Edmund Bailey, an electrical engineer (born 5 December 1867 in Surrey, son of Edmund, 
a tile cutter, and Matilda (Days) Bailey) on 25 March 1894 at St Mark's, Shoreditch. Both bride 
and groom lived in Gee Street and the witnesses were James Skidmore and Kate Skidmore. Mr 
Bailey died on 2 April 1915 at 12 Bartle Avenue, East Ham. My thanks to Ted Bailey's great-
nephew Ken Bailey for this information. 

x.  Florence, registered as Hart in 1877Q1. Florence Skidmore married Joseph Statham, a 'fruiterer's  
manager' (born about 1876 in Acton, London) in 1899Q2 in Shoreditch registration district and 
they were living at the time of the 1901 census at 139 Spa Road, Bermondsey. 

xi.  Priscilla Julia, registered as Skidmore in 1885Q4. 
 
79.  JAMES

6
 SKIDMORE, baptised 21 June 1818 at Frampton Cotterell, was a son of William [46] and Leah 

(Drew) Skidmore. He married Elizabeth Adams (born 1826 in St tƘƛƭƛǇΩǎΣ .Ǌƛǎǘƻƭ, daughter of John Adams and 
his wife Elizabeth) on 21 January 1849 at St Paul's, Bristol and had moved by 1851 to Little Ann Street at St 
Philip and St Jacob Out, Bristol, together with Elizabeth's mother.  
 
(Living nearby in 1851 on Little Ann Street was a Mary Skidmore aged 74, born about 1777 at Iron Acton, who 
has not been identified.).  
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They had moved by 1861 to the St James and St Paul Out district of Bristol, where he was a cabinet maker. His 
wife ran a grocer's shop - their address described in 1861 as a 'cottage adjoining Jubilee Row - and, by 1871 at 
76 Botany Bay. He appears in the Electoral Register at this address in 1874 and they remained there until at 
least 1881. His wife died on 21 January 1893 aged 67, and is buried in Greenbank Cemetery at Bristol.  
 
James Skidmore, a widower and son of William Skidmore, married Miss Elizabeth Humphries (daughter of 
James Humphries) at St Mark's, Easton on 26 February 1895. He died on 6 April 1895, aged 76, at Providence 
House, Hinton Street, Lower Easton, Gloucestershire. He left a will, naming as his executors Samuel Enoch 
Curtis, hardware dealer and Thomas Williams, commercial traveller. They seem to have had no surviving 
children. 
A child of James and Elizabeth (Adams) Skidmore, 

i.  George James, baptised 13 October 1850 at SS Philip & Jacob, aged six months on census night  
31 March 1851. The Bristol Mercury reported the death of this young man, on 7 February 1866 
at Jubilee Place, Ashley Road, aged 15, 'only son of Mr James Skidmore'. He was buried at Baptist 
Mills, Bristol on 11 February. 

 
81.  EBENEZER

6
 SKIDMORE, baptised 23 November 1823 at Frampton Cotterell, the son of William [46] and 

Leah (Drew) Skidmore. An agricultural labourer in Frampton Cotterell, he married Sophia Russell (born 1829 at 
Coalpit Heath in Frampton Cotterell, a daughter of George Russell, agricultural labourer, and his wife Ann, of 
Brockridge) on 23 March 1851 in a civil ceremony registered at Bristol. A week later, at census time, they were 
living in Twinnell Street, St Philip and St Jacob, Bristol, and lodging with them were Ebenezer's brothers Eli, 
Henry and Luke Skidmore. 
 
He died at the age of only 33 and was buried at Holy Trinity, Bristol on 24 May 1857. His widow Sophia, a 
seamstress, continued to live in Twinnell Street, from 1881 with her married daughter Elizabeth. Sophia 
Skidmore died in 1902Q1 aged 72. 
Children of Ebenezer and Sophia (Russell) Skidmore, born St tƘƛƭƛǇΩǎΣ Bristol, 

i.  Elizabeth, born 1852Q2 at Bristol. She married firstly George Purnell, a boiler maker (born about  
1842 in Bristol, son of William Purnell), on 25 December 1878 at St Peter's, Clifton Wood and 
was living at her mother's home in 1881. Mr Purnell died in 1885Q2 aged 43 and she married 
secondly James Bizley (1847-1888), a widower and a master wheelwright, in 1887Q1. After Mr 
Bizley's death she and her mother lived at 87 Goodhind Street and raised six children of his first 
marriage and their son Frederick Bizley. She later moved to 28 Greville Road, Bedminster and 
died in 1929 aged 77. 

138.  ii.  SAMUEL, born 1853Q4. 
139.  iii.  ALFRED, born 1855Q1.  
 
82.  GEORGE

6
 SKIDMORE, a coal miner born about 1825 in Frampton Cotterell, was living with his wife and 

son William in Spring Vale, Llanfrechfa, Monmouthshire in 1851. He appears to be the son of William [46] and 
Leah (Drew) Skidmore, baptised at Frampton Cotterell on 21 August 1825

37
. He married Mary Millard (baptised 

2 November 1828 in Trevethin, Monmouthshire, daughter of John and Hannah Millard) in 1846Q4 in 
Pontypool registration district

38
.  

 
He died aged 35, one of 142 men and boys killed in an explosion at the Old Black Vein Colliery at Risca, 
Caerphilly, Monmouthshire on 1 December 1860

39
. Mary Skidmore, a 'collier's widow', was living with her 

children 'Near the Church' in Risca at the time of the 1861 census. It is possible she (or her daughter Mary) 
died shortly after since the death of a Mary Skidmore was registered at Newport in 1861Q2. 
 
The two surviving sons of this family emigrated to America and nothing is known of the daughters Sarah Ann 
and Mary after the British census of 1861; it is possible that all four children left Monmouthshire. 
Children of George and Mary (Millard) Skidmore, 
Birth registrations have not been found for the following. 

                                                           
37

  The baptism register gives the father's name in error as George Scudamore. 
38

  Her name appears as Mary Miller in the General Register Office index. 
39

  www.dmm.org.uk/uknames His death was not registered until 1861Q2. 
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i.  John, born 1847Q4. He was buried on 4 March 1849 at St {ŀǾƛƻǳǊΩǎΣ /ƻŀƭǇƛǘ IŜŀǘƘ
40

, aged  
'over one'. His death was registered at Chipping Sodbury. 

140. ii.  WILLIAM, born 1849. 
iii.  Sarah Ann, born about 1852 in Machen, Monmouthshire. Nothing known after 1861. 
iv. Leah, born 13 September 1852 in Westerleigh. 
iv.  Mary, born about 1853 in Risca. Nothing known after 1861. 
v.  John J., born about 1856 in Machen. He emigrated around 1880 to America. The only census in  

which he has so far been found is that of 1920, when he was widowed and lodging in Baltimore, 
Maryland, a salesman for a paint company. 

 
83.  ELI

6
 SKIDMORE, baptised 17 March 1833 at Frampton Cotterell, a son of William [46] and Leah (Drew) 

Skidmore. He was living with his brothers at Bristol at the time of the 1851 census, but married Eliza Newton 
(born about 1832 in Bristol) a few weeks later on 23 June 1851 in a civil ceremony registered at Clifton, Bristol.  
 
He was living, a journeyman hatter, on Lock Lane in Frome, Somerset in 1861. He continued as a hatter and by 
the time of the 1871 was also licensee of the Myrtle Tree Tavern on Thomas Street, Bristol. He appears there 
in the 1874 Electoral Register. He died at Bristol on 30 September 1877 aged 46, and the administration on his 
estate was granted to the widow Eliza on 20 October 1877. She remained a publican in St Thomas, Bristol until 
at least 1881 but by 1891 had moved with her daughter and son-in-law to 8 Gladstone Street, St Philip and St 
Jacob, Bristol and close to the family of William Luke Skidmore at 6 Gladstone Street (noticed below). She died 
there on 17 June 1899 aged 66, leaving a will naming her daughter as executor. 
A child of Eli and Eliza (Newton) Skidmore, 

i.  Eliza, baptised 26 October 1851 at SS Philip & Jacob, Bristol. She married William Hathway (born  
about 1852 in the parish of Wick & Abson, Gloucestershire, son of John Hathway), a carter for 
the railway, on 26 May 1879 at St Mary Redcliff, Bristol and lived at 8 Gladstone Street. Mrs 
Hathway died in 1907Q2 aged 55. 

 
84.  HENRY

6
 SKIDMORE was baptised on 14 December 1834 at Frampton Cotterell, a son of William [46] 

and Leah (Drew) Skidmore. A labourer, he married Harriet Scrase, a milliner, (born about 1832 in Bristol, 
daughter of Daniel Scrase, a haulier of Kilbore Street, and his wife Elizabeth) on 26 December 1855 in a civil 
ceremony registered at Clifton, Bristol. They were living in 1861 in Twinnell Street, Bristol and in 1871 and 
1874 (Electoral Register) on Hammersmith Place, Bristol. In 1881 his mother-in-law Elizabeth Scrase, aged 69, 
was living with them at 40 Winsford Street, St tƘƛƭƛǇΩǎΣ .ǊƛǎǘƻƭΦ  
 
By 1891 Mr Skidmore was running a coal haulage business and lived with his family at 4 Morley Terrace, St 
Philip's, Bristol. His wife died in 1910Q4 aged 78 and he went to live with his daughter Leah Elizabeth Hole. He 
died in 1926. 
Children of Henry and Harriet (Scrase) Skidmore, born St Philip and St Jacob, Bristol, 
141.  i.  WILLIAM LUKE, born 1859Q2. 

ii.  Leah Elizabeth, born April 1861, one week old on census night, April 7th. She was a paper bag  
maker before her marriage to John Hole (born about 1862 at Timberscombe, Somerset) in 
1892Q2. He worked in the factory which manufactured cocoa and their home was at 48 
Claremont Street, Stapleton Road, Bristol. Mrs Hole died in 1925 aged 63. 

142.  iii.  HENRY SAMUEL, born 1863Q1. 
iv.  Mary Ann, born 1865Q1. She was living at home, a 'Fancy packer at chocolate works' in 1891.  

She married Charles Leakey, a commercial clerk (born about 1869 in Bristol, son of Henry 
Leakey), on 25 July 1896 at St Paul's, Bristol. They were living in 1901 at 7 Emlyn Road, Easton, 
Bristol. Mrs Leakey died in 1926 aged 61. 

v.  Harriet Matilda, born 1867Q2. She married Robert William Baker (born about 1866 at St  
Augustine, Bristol) in 1891Q4. He was a sanitary sweeper, and they were living with their 
children at 34 Battersea Road in 1901 and 38 Cobridge Road, Eastville, Bristol by 1911. 

vi.  Sarah, born 1869Q4. She was a scholar in 1881. She married Harry Leakey (born about 1870 at  

                                                           
40

  St Saviour's is the ecclesiastical Parish of Coalpit Heath constituted in 1845 for the pastoral care of colliers whose  
lengthy working hours made it difficult for them to attend St Peter's Church situated on the other side of the hill. A high 
proportion of Frampton Cotterell Civil Parish is encompassed within newer Coalpit Heath. 
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Bristol, son of Henry Leakey) on 3 May 1896 at Christ Church, Barton Hill, Bristol. He was an oil 
hawker and later a street lamp lighter, and their home was at 14 Southgate Terrace in 1901 and 
24 Hinton Road, Easton, Bristol by 1911. Mrs Leakey's death at the age of 79 appears to be that 
registered in Bristol in 1949. 

143.  vii.  GEORGE JAMES, born 1872Q1. 
 
85. LUKE

6
 SKIDMORE/ SCUDAMORE was baptised 9 June 1839 at Frampton Cotterell, a son of William [46] 

and Leah (Drew) Skidmore
41

. He married Elizabeth Thomas (born 1838 at Pontypool, Monmouthshire, 
daughter of Thomas and Sarah Thomas) on 21 January 1860 at Trevethin Parish Church. They were living in 
1871 on Snatchwood Road, Snatchwood, Trevethin, Monmouthshire with his widowed mother-in-law Sarah 
Thomas and sister-in-law Ann Thomas. They were enumerated there in 1881 where he was a coal miner. His 
wife Elizabeth died aged 47 at Pantygasseg and was buried at Trevethin on 7 July 1886. Luke and his daughter 
then adopted the surname Scudamore and lived at the School House in Pantygasseg. Luke Skidmore died at 
Rose Cottage, High Street, Abersychan and was buried at Trevethin on 13 January 1813, aged 74. 
A child of Luke and Elizabeth (Thomas) Skidmore,  

i.  Sarah, born 1861Q2 at Abersychan in Trevethin. She is mentioned in Kelly's Directory of  
Monmouthshire for 1901 in the list of schools under the Trevethin School Board. Miss Sarah 
Scudamore was mistress of the Pantygasseg Mixed School, near Pontypool, which was built in 
1883 for 108 children. The average attendance was 72 boys and girls and (under Miss Alice 
Edmunds) 25 infants. By 1911 Miss Scudamore was Head Teacher and lived with her father at 
the School House, Pantygasseg. 

 
86.  PHILIP

6
 SKIDMORE alias PHILIP WELSH SKIDMORE was baptised Philip Scudamore on 10 November 

1816 at Frampton Cotterell, the son of George [47] and Hester (Bryant) Skidmore. A hatter, Philip Skidmore 
married Caroline Harding

42
 (born about 1815 in Lambeth) on 25 April 1837 at St Mary's, Newington and lived 

for a time in London in Southwark and Lambeth - Marlbro St/ Gt Charlotte St, Southwark St Saviour 1841 and 
Vine Terrace, Lambeth in 1851.  
 
He died aged 41 and was buried at St Paul's, Bristol on 11 December 1859. His widow was living in 1861 with 
her widowed brother James Harding, a wood sawyer (born about 1818 in Deptford, Kent) in Granby Place, 
Lambeth. She became a charwoman and lived in 1881 and probably until her death in 1893Q4, in Lambeth Old 
Workhouse. 
A child of Philip Welsh and Caroline (Harding) Skidmore, 

i.  John, baptised 3 November 1839 at St Martin-in-the-Fields, Westminster, son of Philip Welsh  
and Caroline Skidmore. I have not found this child after the census of 1841. 

 
86a. JOHN

5 
SKIDMORE is known from censuses to have been born about 1821 at Winterbourne and on 

present evidence appears to be a son of John [48] and Susannah (Turner) Skidmore. John Skidmore, a 
blacksmith of East Street, Bristol and son of John Skidmore hatter, married Eliza Coucher of East Street 
(baptised 23 September 1821 at SS Philip & Jacob, Bristol, a daughter of Thomas Coucher, a labourer, and his 
wife Charlotte) at St John's, Bedminster on 28 March 1841. John Skidmore, an iron founder, was living two 
months later at census time, with his wife in her parents' home in Pearces Place in the St James district of 
Bristol.  
 
They remained in Pearces Place until at least 1851 but John Skidmore, now called a blacksmith, and his wife, a 
brush maker, were living at the time of the 1861 census with their children at 6 Skinner Street, St James. Eliza 
Skidmore died in Bristol in December 1864 and was buried at St Paul's on 1 January 1865.  
 
By 1871 John Skidmore was a blacksmith in Garston, Lancashire, lodging there in York Street. He perhaps 
married Ann _____ (born about 1816 in Rimpton, Somerset) and was living with his wife at 28 Binlede Street, 
Liverpool, where he was described in the 1881 census as a 'driller in a boiler yard'. By 1891 they were living at 

                                                           
41

  The baptism register gives the mother's name in error as Sarah. 
42

  Note there were two men called Philip Skidmore both of whom married ladies called Caroline. See also the Philip  
Skidmore described in the Notes following the 5th generation. 
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23 Browns Buildings, Prince Colwin Street, Everton and he was called a sailor. Ann Skidmore died in 1895Q1 
aged 78, her husband later that year, aged 75. 
Children of John and Eliza (Coucher) Skidmore, born in Bristol, registered at Clifton, 

i. John James, baptised at St Paul's, Bristol on 1 August 1841. He died in 1845Q1. 
143a. ii.  GEORGE, born 1843Q4.  
143b. iii.  WILLIAM, born 1846Q3. 

iv.  Caroline, born 10 August 1849, baptised 9 September at St Paul's. She died aged 5 and was  
buried at St Paul's, Bristol on 13 May 1855. 

and registered at Bristol, 
v.  Mary Ann, born 1852Q2. She appears to be the Mary Skidmore, a 'stay fanner', lodging in Bristol  

in 1871. She married Edward Hurley, a wool stapler (born about 1850 in Dundrum, Ireland, son 
of Edward Hurley) on 13 April 1873 at St Paul's, Bristol. She appears in censuses as Maria Hurley. 
They lived in Stapleton, Bristol, moving during the 1880s to 14 Marsland Street, Ardwick, 
Manchester.  

 
87.  LUKE

6
 SKIDMORE was baptised 7 April 1822 at Winterbourne, a son of John [48] and Susannah (Turner) 

Skidmore. He was living at the time of the 1841 census with his mother and stepfather in Winterbourne. He 
married Martha Kethro on 5 December 1846 at Holy Trinity, Bristol. She was baptised on 20 June 1824 at SS 
Philip & Jacob, Bristol, a daughter of Thomas Kethro, hatter of Winterbourne Hill, and his wife Martha. Thomas 
Kethro spent a short time around 1828 in France, where two of his children were baptised at the British 
Embassy Chapel, Seine, Paris. 
 
Luke Skidmore, an agricultural labourer, was living with his wife by 1851 at 2 Lion Place or Paddock, together 
with Martha's brother Thomas Kethro and sister Matilda Kethro. They remained in Lion Place until at least 
1881 and he was listed in 1874 at 19 The Paddock in the Electoral Register. He had become a mason's labourer 
by 1881 and in his retirement lived in the lodging house kept by his daughters in Clevedon. Luke Skidmore died 
in 1893Q2, aged 71 and his widow moved with her daughter to Nailsea. She was living in 1901 but her death 
registration has not yet been found. 
Children of Luke and Martha (Kethro) Skidmore, baptised at St Philip and St Jacob, Bristol, 

i.  Henry, baptised 29 October 1848. He died aged 15 and was buried at Holy Trinity on 21 June  
1863. 

and registered at Clifton, 
ii.  Martha Ellen, baptised 22 December 1850. She was aged four months when the 1851 census  

was taken on March 30. She appears to be the Ellen Skidmore who died aged 3 and was buried 
at Holy Trinity on 11 January 1854. 

iii.  Ellen, born 1854Q1 and baptised 1 June 1856 with her brother Francis. She died aged 15 and was  
buried at Holy Trinity, Bristol on 14 October 1869. 

144. iv.  FRANCIS, born 1856Q2. 
v.  Martha, baptised 29 August 1858. I have not found this lady in the census of 1881 but she was  

listed in Kelly's Directory of 1889 as a ladies' and children's outfitter  of Hill Road, Clevedon and 
was boarding with her sisters in 1891. She became a trained maternity nurse and as such was 
with a family in Keynsham at the time of the 1901 census. She later lived with the family of her 
brother Luke in Montpelier, Bristol. 
Martha Skidmore had a daughter, 

i. Helen Ethel, born 1887Q1 at Warminster, Wiltshire. She was raised by her aunts  
Susannah and Lucy and married in 1913 and had two daughters. 

145. vi.  LUKE, born 1860Q4. 
vii.  Susanna, baptised 16 November 1862. At the time of the 1881 census she was a domestic  

servant, called Susan Skidmore, at Rodmead Farm House, Maiden Bradley, Wiltshire. By 1891 
she and her sister Lucy kept a lodging house called Campbell House, in Hallam Road, Clevedon, 
Somerset. These enterprising ladies by 1901 were running a poultry farm, perhaps from their 
home at Ivy House, a the 'Back of Church Lane', Nailsea, Somerset. Their widowed mother lived 
with them. 

viii.  Lucy, born 1865Q1. 
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88.  DANIEL
6
 SKIDMORE, baptised on 8 April 1827 at Frampton Cotterell, was a son of Luke [49] and Ann 

(Bryant) Skidmore. He was an apprentice in 1841 to Edgar Holden, a tailor living in Chapel Street, Abersychan, 
Monmouthshire. He married Sarah Collier, a straw hat maker (born about 1828 in St Philip's, Bristol, a 
daughter of Joseph Collier), on 10 December 1848 at St George, Bristol. By the time of the 1851 census he was 
a master tailor employing one man, and was living with his wife and daughter at 22 Twinnell Street in the 
parish of St Philip and St Jacob, Bristol.  
 
They had moved by 1861 to Middle Castle Green Terrace, Castle Ward, Bristol. They were still resident in 
Bristol at Queens Parade, Stapleton Road in 1871 (census) and 1874 (Electoral Register). Daniel Skidmore died 
at Hambrook on 12 December 1875 aged 48. He retained the name Skidmore; the will of Daniel Skidmore was 
proved on 11 January 1876, and named his brother George Scudamore and his son-in-law Charles Bryant as 
executors.  
 
His widow Sarah married John Ward, widower of her sister-in-law Elizabeth (Skidmore), on 10 June 1879 (both 
of 13 Linton Street, Islington) at St James the Apostle, Prebend Street, Islington, London. Richard Gill and 
Hannah Ward were witnesses. They were living in 1881 in Abbotsham Place, Bristol. She was again widowed by 
1891 and had moved to Wint Street, Winterbourne with her widowed daughter Annie Bryant and her 
grandchildren Bessie and Charles Bryant. 
A child of Daniel and Sarah (Collier) Skidmore, 

i.  Sarah Ann Elizabeth, born in January 1851. Her marriage on 29 January 1870, by the Registrar's  
Office in Bristol, to cattle dealer Charles Bryant (born about 1840 in Bristol) was announced in 
The Bristol Mercury. They were living at 2 Abbotsham Place, Bristol in 1871, and at 4 Drummond 
Road in 1881. Mr Bryant's death at the age of 49 was probably that registered at Barton Regis in 
1888Q2; certainly by the time of the 1891 census his widow and children were living in 
Winterbourne with her mother Sarah Ward.  
Annie Bryant married secondly Thomas Sollis, a stone quarryman (born about 1835 in 
Winterbourne) in 1893Q2. The deaths of Thomas Sollis and Sarah Ann E Sollis occurred in 
1905Q1. 

 
89. MARK

6
 SKIDMORE, baptised at Frampton Cotterell on 20 February 1831, was a son of Luke [49] and 

Ann (Bryant) Skidmore. A shoemaker, he married Susannah Grosvenor (born about 1829 at St tƘƛƭƛǇΩǎΣ .Ǌƛǎǘƻƭ, 
daughter of John Grosvenor, labourer of Lawrence Hill, Bristol, and his wife Susannah) on 9 September 1849 at 
SS Philip & Jacob, Bristol. He and his wife Susan (and an infant son William) were living in 1851 at 16 Twinnell 
Street in the parish of St Philip and St Jacob. By 1861 they were at 23 Eagle Street in Bristol and Mark 
Skidmore, 'a clicker in a shoe factory', was still there in 1871 and in 1874 (Electoral Register). By 1881 he and 
his family were living on Bloy Street, St George, where they remained for at least 10 years. His death at the age 
of 61 was registered as Skidmore but his burial as Mark Scudamore  - presumably arranged by his sons who 
had assumed the name Scudamore  - took place on 20 November 1891 in the Greenbank Cemetery in Bristol.  
 
Susannah Skidmore, a widow said to be 75, and a retired shoe blocker, was living alone at 160 Lower Ashby 
Road in 1901. She died in 1907Q1 aged 79. 
 

MARK'S SONS JOSEPH AND ARTHUR JOHN TOOK THE NAME SCUDAMORE FROM THE 1880S. 
 

Children of Mark and Susannah (Grosvenor) Skidmore, born in Bristol, 
 i.  William Charles, born 14 April 1850, baptised 12 May at SS Philip & Jacob. He died aged 18 and  

was buried on 19 July 1868 at Holy Trinity. 
ii.  Mary Eliza, born 1853Q1. She was employed in a cocoa works in 1871, and married Alfred 
 Richard Tanner, a grocer (son of Thomas Tanner, and who later married her sister Ann) on 3 June   

1878 at Holy Trinity, Stapleton. They were living at the time of the 1881 census with William 2 
and Annie 10 months, at 3 Black Bird Place, Stapleton Road, Bristol. She died on 14 June 1882, 
aged 30, and is buried in the Greenbank Cemetery, Bristol. 

iii.  Eleanor, born 1856Q2. Not found with the family after the census of 1861. She was called Ellen  
in that census and is perhaps the E. Skidmore, a domestic servant aged 24, in Bristol City 
Workhouse in 1881 and the 40-year old Ellen Skidmore working as a kitchen maid at the Clifton 
Down Hotel in 1901. 



Skidmore (Scudamore) Families of Frampton Cotterell     Linda Moffatt © 2015 
 

58 

 

147. iv.  GEORGE, born 1858Q1 at Easton. 
v.  Ann, born 1860Q2. Called Annie in 1881, a grocer's assistant. She married Alfred Richard Tanner  

(born about 1854 in Bristol), the widower of her sister Mary Eliza, on 24 June 1883 at the 
Whitefield Congregational Church, Bristol. He became a commercial traveller in provisions and 
they moved around 1890 to live in Radnor Street, Cardiff, moving by 1901 to 134 Llandaff Road. 
Mr Tanner was a local preacher and died in Cardiff in 1925 aged 70. 

vi.  Joseph, born 1863Q3. A boot top cutter, in 1886Q3 he married (as Joseph Scudamore) Minnie  
Smith (1868-1936), daughter of Mrs Emily Smith of Catherine Street, St Philips. He was a grocer 
in 1891 living at 2 Somerset Terrace, Bedminster. Others in the household at this time were his 
wife's sister Florence Smith 14, his uncle and aunt William 34 and Emily 32 Fletcher, both Turkish 
bath attendants, and his aunt Mrs Sarah Harding 52, all born in Bristol. He died at 14 
Cumberland Street, Bristol in 1901, called Scuddamore. 
His widow married John Spry in 1903Q2 and was living in 1911 at The Lodge, Gloucester County 
Ground, Bishopston, Bristol, where Mr Spry was Head Groundsman. He had children by a 
previous marriage, five of whom were still at home in 1911. 

148. vii.  ARTHUR JOHN, born 1869Q3. 
 
90.  EDWIN

6
 SKIDMORE, was baptised 15 February 1835 at Frampton Cotterell, a son of Luke [49] and Ann 

(Bryant) Skidmore. He married Martha Davies (born 1841 in Wales) in the Registration District of Newport, 
Wales in 1853Q3. He was recently arrived in America when his family were enumerated in 1870 in Ward 2, 
Buffalo, Erie County, New York. Note there are several discrepancies in this census

43
. 

 
By 1876 they had returned to Bedminster, Bristol where he was a boot and shoe maker at the time of the 1881 
census, living with his family at 10 Cambridge Street. This couple and certain of their children are not found in 
later British censuses. 
Children of Edwin and Martha (Davies) Skidmore, 

i.  Elizabeth Jane, born about 1854 at Liverpool. 
ii. Edwin, born 1859Q2. His age was apparently recorded in error as 24 in the 1870 US census. He  

was a prisoner in Bristol Gaol at the time of the 1881 British census, serving a 9 month sentence 
for unlawful wounding, issued at the Bristol Winter Assizes on 30 October 1880

44
.  

He married Sarah Alice Machin (born 1862Q2, daughter of Thomas Machin, a mason of Foster 
Street, St George, and his wife Mary) in 1905Q2 at the United Methodist Church, Redland, 
Bristol. In the census of 1891 he was called Scudamore, a foreman in a boot factory, living in the 
village of Soundwell, Gloucestershire, with his mother-in-law Mary Machin and sister-in-law 
Grace Machin (born about 1874 in Bristol). By 1901 Edwin and Alice Scudamore lived at 20 John's 
Lane, Bedminster. She died in 1907Q2 aged 44. 

149. iii.  SIDNEY ALFRED, born 1865Q1 at Redcliff. 
150. iii.  FRANK, born March 1870 at Bristol. 

iv.  [perhaps] Elizabeth, born 4 months before 1870 US census, which commenced on 1 June. 
v.  Beatrice Ada, born 1876Q1, baptised with her brothers Frank and Fred at Holy Nativity, Knowle,  

Somerset on 7 May 1883. 
151. vi.  FRED

7
, born 1878Q1 in Bedminster. He emigrated in 1882 and was living in 1900 with his brother  

at Topeka, Kansas where he was a house painter. A clerk in 1910, he was lodging in Monroe 
Street, Chicago. He married Nettie _____ (born about 1873 in Michigan) and lived in Chicago. 
They had, as known, one son. 

vii.  [perhaps] Henry, registered as Harry in 1880Q1. He died an infant later in the same year. 

 

 

                                                           
43

  1870 US census, discrepancies underlined: 
Family headed by Edward aged 27, a shoemaker, then Martha 23 . 
Note no Elizabeth aged about 17 who appears in British 1881 census,  
then Edwin 24 ; Sidney 9 ; Frank 1 (birth registered 1870Q2) ; Elizabeth 4 months (her birth reg. not found), all b. 
England. 

44
  England & Wales, Criminal Registers, 1791-1892 [database online]. 
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91.  WILLIAM
6
 SKIDMORE/ SCUDAMORE, baptised at Frampton Cotterell on 2 July 1837, a son of Luke 

[49] and Ann (Bryant) Skidmore. He set up in business as a tailor and woollen draper in the High Street at 
Chipping Sodbury, and changed his name about this time to Scudamore. He married firstly Eliza Grosvenor on 
5 January 1857 at St Philip and St Jacob, Bristol by whom he had issue born at Chipping Sodbury. She was 
younger sister to Susanna Grosvenor who married his brother Mark, daughters of John and Susannah 
Grosvenor of Lawrence Hill.  
 
They were enumerated twice in the census of 1861, once as Skidmore in the home of his widowed mother at 
Frampton Cotterell and again as Scudamore at his premises in Chipping Sodbury. Eliza Scudamore died in 
1862Q4 and he married secondly Hannah Werrett (born about 1844 at Chipping Sodbury, daughter of Richard 
Werrett, a haulier, and his wife Mary) in 1863Q3. They were living on Broad Street in 1871 where he was a 
master tailor employing four men. He died on 30 October 1874 at Chipping Sodbury leaving a will dated nine 
days earlier leaving all his real and personal estate to his wife Hannah Scudamore. 
 
Mrs Scudamore married Lewis Wolff as her second husband in 1879Q2 and moved to Eggshill Common, Yate. 
Hannah Wolff married thirdly Albert Edward Edmonds in 1885Q1. He was a railway policeman in 1891, when 
they were living with her sons Albert and William Scudamore in Barton Terrace, Gloucester. By 1901 he was a 
lodgeman and time keeper in a cotton factory, and their home was at The Limes, Marlborough Road, 
Stapleton, Bristol. Mrs Edmonds was widowed by 1911 and was living with children and grandchildren at The 
Laurels, Downend, Bristol. 
Children of William and Eliza (Grosvenor) Scudamore, 

i.  [presumably] George, born 1858Q4. He died an infant later in the same year. 
ii.  Blanche, born 1860Q1. She married William Bence Werrett, a fruiterer and greengrocer (born  

about 1858 in Yate, son of William, thatcher, and Mary Werrett of Eggshell Common there) in 
1879Q4. Their home and business was at 32 Berkeley Place in Clifton, Bristol. Mrs Werrett died 
in Bristol in 1934 aged 75, her husband in 1942. 

iii.  [presumably] Mary Eliza, born 1861Q4. She died an infant in 1863Q1. 
Children of William and Hannah (Werrett) Scudamore, 

iv.  [presumably] Herbert William, born 1864Q2. He died an infant later in the same year. 
152. v.  SIDNEY WILLIAM RICHARD, born 1865Q3. 

vi.  Adah Mary, born 1867Q1. She married Henry Werrett, an agricultural labourer (born about  
?1838 in Yate) in 1887Q1. They were living in 1891 on Yate Road in Yate. She was widowed by 
1901 and became a housekeeper, at first in Taunton, Somerset and, by 1911, in Redland, Bristol. 
Ada M. Werrett, perhaps this lady, married Arthur Cooper in 1915 in Bristol. 

vii.  [presumably] Frank, born 1869Q1. He died in 1870Q4 aged 2. 
153. vii.  ALBERT WILLIAM, born 1870Q2. 

viii.  William, born 1873Q1 (a twin). He died an infant in the same year. 
ix.  Amy Hannah, born 1873Q1 (a twin). A dressmaker, she was living at Yate in 1881 with her aunt  

Mary Werrett, aged 80, in 1891 with her sister Ada Mary and, from 1901 with her mother. Miss 
Scudamore died in 1949. 

x.  William Daniel, born 1874Q4. A clerk for a wholesale druggist in 1911. He lived at Downend,  
Bristol, where he died unmarried on 26 March 1968. 

 
92. LUKE

6
 SKIDMORE/ SCUDAMORE, baptised 10 February 1839 at Frampton Cotterell, was a son of Luke 

[49] and Ann (Bryant) Skidmore. Luke Skidmore married Emma Nutt (born about 1835 at Bedminster or Bristol 
Temple, daughter of John Nutt) on 7 August 1859 at St Jude, Bristol. They had various addresses in Bedminster, 
Bristol, where he was a boot maker - in 1861 on Somerset Street, in 1871 in Colston Street and in 1881 at 45 
Herbert Street, called Skidmore in each of these censuses. Kelly's Commercial Directory of Bristol for 1889 lists 
Luke Scudamore, boot maker of Clarke Street, St Philip's

45
; Luke Scudamore and his family were living at this 

address at the time of the 1891 census. 
 
By 1901 he was a dealer in firewood, living at 3 Albert Street, Bristol with his wife and daughters Rosina and 
Louisa, together with a boarder, Frederick Johnstone aged 11 months. Emma Scudamore died in 1910Q4 aged 
78, her husband a year later aged 73. 

                                                           
45

  Luke Skidmore, boot maker of 160 Stapleton Road, was presumably Luke Skidmore [145]. 



Skidmore (Scudamore) Families of Frampton Cotterell     Linda Moffatt © 2015 
 

60 

 

 

LUKE AND HIS SON WILLIAM ALFRED TOOK THE NAME SCUDAMORE FROM THE 1880S. 
 

Children of Luke and Emma (Nutt) Skidmore, births registered as Skidmore, 
i.  John, born 1860Q3 and baptised with Rosina and Alfred on 5 August 1869 at St Mary Redcliffe,  

Bristol. John Skidmore died at the age of 19 and was buried at Bedminster on 30 June 1880. 
ii.  Rosina, born 1865Q1. She was a charwoman, single and remained at Albert Street, Easton after  

the death of her parents. Miss Scudamore died in 1940 aged 76. 
born at Bedminster, Bristol, 
154. iii.  WILLIAM ALFRED, born 1867Q3 at Bedminster. 

iv.  Louisa, born 1870Q1. She was single, living at home in 1901. 
v.  Florence Annie M., born 1873Q2 and baptised on 4 July at St John's, Bedminster. She was a  

dressmaker at home in 1891. Sight of their marriage record in needed but she is perhaps the 
Florence Annie Skidmore who married ?Alfred Charles Sowden, a joiner in 1893Q2. Annie 
Sowden 27 was living with her husband aged 28 in Alaska House, Herbert Street, Bristol in 1901. 

 
93.  GEORGE

6
 SKIDMORE/ SCUDAMORE was baptised on 2 May 1841 at Frampton Cotterell, a son of Luke 

[49] and Ann (Bryant) Skidmore. He was called Skidmore in 1861, when he was a porter, ƭƻŘƎƛƴƎ ŀǘ т /ƻȄΩs 
Building, in Bristol, but had assumed the name Scudamore at his marriage to Elizabeth Ellen Billett (born 
1843Q1 in Bristol, daughter of William Billett, a draper's porter, and his wife Ellen) on 8 June 1862 at St Peter's, 
Bristol.  
 
George Scudamore was a grocer thereafter, with premises at 29 Penn Street, St tŀǳƭΩǎΣ .Ǌƛǎǘƻƭ. This was also 
the family home, apart from the time of the 1881 census when they were living 1 Gwynne Street, St James and 
St Paul, Bristol in 1881. 
 
During the 1890s they moved to 33 Old Market Street. Mr Scudamore retired to live at 7 Freemantle Road, 
Cotham. He died in 1917, his widow in 1934. 
Children of George and Elizabeth Ellen (Billett) Scudamore, born in Bristol, 
155. i.  GEORGE WILLIAM, born 1863Q2. 
156.  ii.  ALFRED EDWARD, born 1865Q3. 

iii.  Elizabeth Ellen, born 1867Q4. She died, an infant, in the year following. 
iv.  Elizabeth, born 1869Q2. She married William John Hoskins, a boot maker and dealer (born about  

1867 in Bristol) in 1904Q1 at Bristol. They were living by 1911 with their children at 11 Nine-Tree 
Hill, Bristol. 

v.  Ann, born 1871Q3. Known as Annie. With her brother Frank she assisted her brother Arthur, the  
manager of Scudamore Stores in Avondale Road. She died unmarried in 1953. 

vi.  Ellen, born 1873Q4. She married Oliver Bryant (born about 1880 in Bristol, whose father Henry  
Bryant was born in Frampton Cotterell) on 3 August 1903 at SS Philip & Jacob, Bristol. She and 
her two daughters were living at the time of the 1911 census with the family of her brother 
Charles. Oliver Bryant was the proprietor of the Dixcart Hotel on the island of Sark in the Channel 
Islands. 

157.  vii.  CHARLES DANIEL, born 1875Q3. 
viii.  Frank, born 1879Q1. He married Emily J. Hazell (1876-1955) in 1930. He died in 1958. 
ix.  Arthur, born 1880Q1. At the time of the 1911 census he was living - together with his sister  

Annie and brother Frank - in the home of his parents in Cotham. He was then Manager of 
Scudamore Stores in Avondale Road, Bristol. He enlisted on 30 May 1917, at the age of 38 years 
7 months, with the Somerset Light Infantry and was transferred to 2/7 (Cyclist) Battalion of the 
Devon Regiment

46
. He was posted to France in April 1918 and assigned to the 3rd Battalion of 

the Worcester Regiment. He returning home in February 1919. 

                                                           
46

  Formed in September 1914 from the expanding 7th (Cyclist) Battalion, the 2/7th Devons became part of Southern  
Command.  Based at Totnes, they sent patrols and coastal reconnaissance parties along the coast from Lyme Regis to 
the River Yealm, east of Plymouth, and from Rame Head westwards to Polruan.  In November 1915 the 2/7th were 
moved to St Leonards-on-Sea in Sussex, where they remained until June 1916 when they moved to Sevenoaks.  Later 
they covered part of the North Sea coast and they ended the war at Maldon in Essex. 
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He married Florence Mary Lee (1897-1972) in 1929. Mr Scudamore died in 1963. 
 
94.  JOHN

6
 SKIDMORE/ SCUDAMORE, born in 1843Q3 at Frampton Cotterell, was a son of Luke [49] and 

Ann (Bryant) Skidmore. John Skidmore was living with his brother Daniel in Castle Ward, Bristol in 1861 but 
was married as John Scudamore (the name he retained). He married Rhoda Carr of Westbury, Wiltshire (born 
1846Q1, daughter of William Carr, a spinner, and his wife Sarah), in 1865Q4 in Bristol. She had moved into St 
Paul's, Bristol to live with her uncle and aunt, William and Mary Ann Watkins. 
 
By the time of the 1871 census, John's mother Ann Scudamore was living with them at 7 Conduit Place in St 
James and St Paul, Bristol, which was their home still in 1874 (Electoral Register).  
 
By 1881 John Scudamore, a merchant's clerk, had moved to 40 Richmond Road and they were to  move yet 
again during the 1880s to 4 Drummond Road. He was an accountant at Fairlawn, 1 St Matthew's Road, 
Cotham, Bristol in 1901, and died in 1904Q3 aged 60, leaving a will proved at Bristol on 2 October 1905. Rhoda 
Scudamore and her two younger daughters remained at this home at least until 1911. She died in 1926. 
Children of John and Rhoda (Carr) Scudamore, all born in Bristol, 

i.  Annie, born 1866Q3. She married Edwin Byrt (born about 1865 in Bristol) in 1889Q3 at Bristol. At  
the time of the 1891 census, when they were living at 44 Albert Park, he was a salesman for a 
leather merchant. He had become ŀ ŘŀƛǊȅƳŀƴΩǎ ŎŀǎƘƛŜǊ by 1901. 

158. ii.  ALBERT JOHN, born 1867Q4. 
159. iii.  WILLIAM EDWARD, born 1869Q4. 

iv.  Frank, born 1871Q3. He died an infant. 
160. v.  CHARLES, born 1872Q3.  

vi.  Rhoda Kate, born 1874Q4. She and her younger sister Eleanor were at the home in 1891 of their  
maternal grandmother Mrs Sarah Carr in Bath Road, Melksham, Wiltshire. Rhoda Scudamore 
died unmarried in 1948. 

161. vii.  ARTHUR FRANK (Reverend), born 25 October 1876. 
viii.  Eleanor Grace, born 1887Q3. She died unmarried in 1950. 

 
95.  JOHN

6
 SKIDMORE, a son of Edward [50] and Elizabeth (Hibbs) Skidmore, was baptised on 17 April 1835 

at Frampton Cotterell. He was a stone cutter there at the time of the 1851 census and married Mary Ann 
Bryant (born about 1833 in Frampton Cotterell, a daughter of Jonathan, hatter, and Hester Bryant of Goose 
Green there), on 24 June 1856 at St Peter's. Their marriage was witnessed by Maria Howes and George 
Skidmore.  
 
They emigrated to Australia sailing on The Bee on 14 January 1857 arriving in Victoria on 18 April. They went to 
Beechworth, Victoria where gold had been discovered in February 1852, resulting in thousands of speculators 
rushing there from all over the world. By 1867 four million ounces of gold had been mined, and the fields and 
the population went into a decline. According to an account written by William John Skidmore of Beechworth 
in May 1960, relating his memories of his family, four men came together on The Bee - John Skidmore (whom 
he mistakenly thought was from Cornwall), Harry Turner, Samuel Hollister and perhaps Daniel Palmer.  
 
Further, W.J. Skidmore states that John Skidmore married twice. Mary Ann Skidmore died at the age of 29 in 
1864. 
 
Beechworth's Powder Magazine was one of several built on the Victorian goldmines towards the end of the 
1850s. It was closed in 1918 and lay neglected for many years until local residents, inspired by Mr John (Jack) 
Skidmore and the Progress Association raised funds for urgent restoration work. The Magazine was described 
in 1966 as 'one of the most important gold era relics intact in Australia'. Skidmore Road (which leads from 
Camp Street to the Magazine) was named after Mr John Skidmore in recognition of his efforts in conservation. 

                                                                                                                                                                                     
Both battalions sent many drafts overseas.  On 18th July 1916, for example, one draft from the 1/7th joined A 
Company of the 2nd Devons to fight in the Cuinchy sector on the Somme. But both cyclist battalions remained in 
England throughout the war. http://www.keepmilitarymuseum.org. 
See also http://rls.org.uk/database/record.php?usi=000-000-001-309-L for general notes on Cycling for a photograph 
of Army Cyclists in WW1. 
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The descendants of John Skidmore are said to have largely removed to Melbourne, some 125 miles south west 
of Beechworth. He died aged 91 in Beechworth on 9 March 1925 and was buried in the Presbyterian section of 
Beechworth cemetery

47
. John Skidmore the elder, a pensioner of Camp Street Beechworth, made a will in 

1924, which mentions his sister-in-law Mary Ann Skidmore of Frampton Cotterell, England and her daughter 
Martha Skidmore.

48
. 

Children of John and Mary Ann (Bryant) Skidmore, 
i.  Eliza, born 6 July 1856 at Frampton Cotterell. Her birth certificate shows that she was the  

daughter of John Skidmore of Frampton Cotterell, and his wife Mary Ann, formerly Bryant. She 
went with her parents to Australia the following year and in 1882 married Alexander Main (said 
to have been born in Gloucestershire though his birth registration there has not been found) and 
had four children - William, Alex, Beatrice and Emily. 

born in Victoria, Australia
49

, 
162.  ii.  WILLIAM, born 1858. 
163.  iii.  GEORGE, born 1860. 
164.  iv.  EDWARD, born 4 November 1861. 

v. James, born in 1863 and died that year aged 3 months. 
vi. John, born in 1864 and died that year aged 7 months. 
?vii.  A daughter, said to have married a Mr Barnes of Rutherglen. 

 
96.  GEORGE

6
 SKIDMORE, a son of Edward [50] and Elizabeth (Hibbs) Skidmore, was born at Frampton 

Cotterell and baptised there on 20 December 1836. He married Elizabeth Huish (who was born about 1836 at 
Winterbourne, daughter of John Huish) on 15 May 1858 at St James, Mangotsfield. He was an agricultural 
labourer living at Hambrook, Mangotsfield in 1861. He was called George Scudamore in 1871, at least for the 
purposes of the census that year, though thereafter he is always called Skidmore. He lived on Church Lane in 
Frampton Cotterell in 1871, where he was groom to the Frampton Iron Works, and was later a market 
gardener living in 1891 and 1901 at Goose Green, Frampton Cotterell.  
 
He appears to be the George Skidmore elected to the Frampton Cotterell parish council in March 1897, as 
reported in the Bristol Times and Mirror of 20 March 1897. The following men were elected: *J. Marsh, *J. 
Davis jun., *J. Davis sen., E. Turner, *H. Gibbs, George Skidmore, Elias Dando, H. Player, *J. Matthews. (*Old 
members). On the evening of 20 April the first meeting of the newly-elected council was held at the British 
School. Messrs Henry Gibbs [chairman], W. Hardwick, J. Matthews, J. Davis senior, J. Davis junior, James 
Brimble, Edwin Turner [vice-chairman], G. Skidmore and E. Dando present. Six overseers were elected - 
Messrs. James Marsh, W. Alsopp, W.K. Meredith, E. Turner. Mr John Long Champion (a grocer and shopkeeper 
of Gladstone House, Frampton Cotterell) was elected waywarden for the year. On 2 May that year the council 
met to discuss 'what form the commemoration of her Majesty's long reign should take in the parish' and, after 
considerable discussion, it was decided that a fête should be held on Tuesday June 15. It was agreed that a tea 
should be given to all children resident in the parish under the age of 15, and 'something in the nature of a free 
dinner or its equivalent to the aged poor'. Mr Jeffery Matthews was appointed treasurer and the sum of £12 
12s was subscribed in the room before the meeting closed. At the December meeting of the council later that 
year G. Skidmore put forward the motion that 'the Lawford's-Gate Highway Board be requested to deepen, 
cleanse and cover in the ditch at Adam's Land, which was frequently a 'large stagnant pool....dangerous to the 
public health'. He also reported the dangerous condition of a path over a disused railway embankment behind 
the parish church, and 'gave notice of motion for the next meeting'. 
 
On 18 August 1897 the 37th annual show of the Frenchay and South Gloucestershire Horticultural Society was 
held in the grounds of Starshawes Court, Yate. The Bristol Times and Mirror of the next day reported that 'the 
cottagers exhibits displayed an improvement on some past years and if the fruit is excepted, this section of the 
show was decidedly good. In the cottagers section G. Skidmore took 3rd prize for the best collection of 
vegetables and the same for round potatoes, for runner beans and for broad beans, and he took 1st prize for 
Victoria asters. W. Skidmore took the prize for lettuces and came 2nd with the gooseberries.  
 

                                                           
47

  Private correspondence from Burke Museum, Beechworth in 1991. 
48

  Victoria Probate online. 
49

  Australian Birth Index 1788-1922. 
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George Skidmore died at Goose Green on 5 March 1909 aged 71, leaving a will which named as executor his 
son Albert Edward Skidmore, miner. His widow died two months later on 3 June 1909 aged 73; Mr Skidmore, 
his wife and daughters Harriet and Rose are buried in St tŜǘŜǊΩǎ /ƘǳǊŎƘȅŀǊŘΦ 
Children of George and Elizabeth (Huish) Skidmore, baptised at All Saints, Winterbourne Down, 

i.  Annie, born 1859Q2 at Moorend. She died aged 5 and was buried on 19 June 1864 at St John the  
Baptist, Frenchay in Winterbourne, but called 'of Mangotsfield'. 

ii.  Minnie Virginia, born at Moorend and baptised 2 March 1862.  
She had a child Edith Lloyd, born about 1890 in Abertillery, Monmouthshire, who was living with 
Minnie's parents in 1901 and was cared for by Minnie's sister Rose after their deaths in 1909. 
Minnie was living in Abertillery in 1891 as the wife of David Lloyd, a coal miner from that town, 
born there about 1860. Other children in this household were Charlie C. Lloyd, born about 1882 
in Manchester (who is called Charles Carter, David's stepson in 1901) and John George Lloyd, 
born about 1888 in Abertillery. Their home in 1901 was 79 Cwm Street. 
The death of a Minnie Lloyd aged 40 in 1902Q1 was registered at Bedwellty (which district 
included Abertillery). 

165. iii.  ALBERT EDWARD, born 1863Q3 at Mangotsfield. 
iv.  Rosina, baptised 3 September 1865 and called Rose. She had some form of physical handicap  

and worked as a tailoress from her parents' home until the time of their deaths. By 1911 she was 
living in Clyde Road, Frampton Cotterell with her niece Edith Lloyd, also a tailoress. She died 
unmarried on 23 June 1949, aged 82. 

166. v.  FRED, baptised 21 December 1866. 
vi.  Elizabeth Anne, born 1869Q3. A tailoress, she married, on 5 December 1893 at Frampton  

Cotterell, William Cooper, a coal miner from Cwm, Ebbw Vale, Monmouthshire (born about 1870 
in Radstock, Somerset, son of Samuel Cooper, tailor). The witnesses were Frederick William 
Lewis and Clara Jane Cooper. William and Elizabeth Cooper were living with their daughters in 
1901 on Green Street in Abertillery.  

167. vii.  WILLIE, born around September 1870. 
viii.  Harriet Martha, born 1874Q4. She was a tailoress living at home in 1891, and died unmarried on  

16 June 1895 aged 20, buried 21 June at St Peter's. 
 
97.  EDWARD

6
 SKIDMORE was born on 12 December 1839 (baptised 7 January 1844) at Frampton Cotterell, 

a son of Edward [50] and Elizabeth (Hibbs) Skidmore. He was an errand boy in the 1851 census and was still at 
home in 1861, but married Sarah Hill (born about 1839 at Stinchcombe, Gloucestershire) in 1865Q2 in Dursley 
registration district.  
 
A hatter in Hoxton, London in 1871, by 1881 they were living in Camberwell, London - firstly at 24 Coopers 
Road (1881) and later at 32 Cowan Street  (1891). He died on 20 March 1898 aged 58 at 58 Conduit Place, 
Bristol and was buried at St Peter's, Frampton Cotterell on 24 March. He left a will naming his wife as executor. 
She and her daughter Minnie returned to Brockridge Hill in Frampton Cotterell by 1901 where they were 
needlewomen. Mrs Skidmore died in 1922 aged 82. 
Children of Edward and Sarah (Hill) Skidmore, 

i.  Minnie, born in 1872Q1 at Hoxton, London. She was a collar warehouse assistant in 1891, and  
living unmarried with her mother in 1901. She became a music teacher and died in 1934 at 
Frampton Cotterell, where she is buried in the Zion Chapel graveyard. 

ii. Emma, baptised 14 June 1874 at St Michael's, Winterbourne. Her death registration has not  
been found in Gloucestershire or London but she does not appear in censuses. 

 
98. HENRY

6
 SKIDMORE, born on 6 May 1842 (baptised 7 January 1844), was a son of Edward [50] and 

Elizabeth (Hibbs) Skidmore. He was at home in 1861 an agricultural labourer. He married Mary Ann Huish 
(born in 1843 at Hambrook, Winterbourne, daughter of William and Mary Ann (Huxtable) Huish) on 30 April 
1865 at Holy Trinity, Bristol, and is called a labourer of Winterbourne at the christening of their first two 
children

50
.  

                                                           
50

 In April 1871 Wakefield, a member of the Christy family, was conducting a final factory review in Frampton Cotterell in  
the year the place was closed. Wakefield noted that Edward Skidmore's son Henry 'is fur cutting with House. Gets 
about 12 to 15s a week. He got some skins himself to cut. Gave 3s per dozen for them.' My thanks to Chris Heal for this 
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They were living at the time of the 1871 census at Stapleton, Gloucestershire where he was a coachman and 
gardener at Lodge Stables. By 1881 the family had moved into Bristol and were at 31 Amberley Street, St Philip 
and St Jacob. Henry remained a gardener and lived with his family at 13 Conduit Street, St James and St Paul, 
Bristol until at least 1901. 
 
By the time of the 1911 census, Henry and wife and their daughter Martha had returned to Frampton Cotterell 
and were living in Church Lane. He died on 4 April 1922, aged 79 at Ashley House, Frampton Cotterell, leaving 
a will which named as executor William George Ray, pilot. His widow died on 29 December 1928, aged 84 at 47 
St Thomas Street, Sheffield, and named in her will William Skidmore, widower and steel warehouseman. They 
are buried in St tŜǘŜǊΩǎ ŎƘǳǊŎƘȅŀǊŘ ŀǘ CǊŀƳǇǘƻƴ /ƻǘǘŜǊŜƭƭΦ She and her daughter Martha were remembered in 
the will of Henry's brother John Skidmore of Beechworth, Australia in 1924. 
Children of Henry and Mary Ann (Huish) Skidmore, 
168.  i.  EDWARD HENRY, was born in 1865Q4. 

ii.  Florence Annie, born 1868Q1 in Hambrook in Winterbourne, and baptised Florence Augusta on  
12 April 1868 at St aƛŎƘŀŜƭΩǎ ²ƛƴǘŜǊōƻǳǊƴŜΦ She was a servant in Old Market, Bristol in 1881 and 
then, until at least 1901, a parlour maid to the Bobbett family in Westbury. At the time of the 
1911 census she was housekeeper for the family of William George Ray at Stanley House, Church 
Path, Pill. 

iii.  Martha, born 1870Q1 at Hambrook in Winterbourne, and baptised 19 March 1870 at All Saints,  
Winterbourne Down. She died unmarried on 8 January 1935, and is buried at St tŜǘŜǊΩǎΦ 

iv.  Elizabeth Louisa, born 1871Q2. She was a tailoress living at home in 1901 and died in 1904Q4  
aged 33. 

169. v.  CHARLES HERBERT, born 1873Q3. 
170. vi.  WALTER, born 1875Q2.  

vii.  Arthur James, born 1880Q2 at Barton Regis. He died there in 1897Q2 aged 17. 
171. viii.  EDWIN ALFRED, born 1884Q4.. 
 
99. DANIEL

6
 SKIDMORE/ SCUDAMORE, born 1847Q1 and baptised 18 August 1856 at the Zion Chapel in 

Frampton Cotterell, was a son of Edward [50] and Elizabeth (Hibbs) Skidmore. He was a blacksmith, called 
Scudamore, by the time of the 1871 census, lodging in Wells, Somerset. Daniel Scudamore married Elizabeth 
Ann Rowland (born 1851Q3 in Coalpit Heath, perhaps the daughter of Moses Rowland, a coal miner, and his 
wife Mary Ann) on 27 August 1876 at St tƘƛƭƛǇΩǎΣ /ŀƳōŜǊǿŜƭƭΣ [ƻƴŘƻƴΦ ¢ƘŜȅ ǎŜǘǘƭŜŘ ƛƴ ǘƘŜ Kentish Town area of 
St Pancras, London at 99 Castle Road and later Malden Road, where he was a farrier and smith. During the 
1890s he set up his own business from his home in Newberry Mews, Kentish Town. Mrs Scudamore died in 
1907Q1, her husband in 1918 aged 71. 
Children of Daniel and Elizabeth Ann (Rowland) Scudamore, born in London, 

i. Rose Elizabeth, born 1877Q3 in Islington. She was at the time of the 1891 census domestic  
servant to a grocer's family in Kentish Town and in 1901 a cook to the family of physician Robert 
P. Bakewell in Hampstead, London. 
Rosa Elizabeth Scudamore married Philip Henry Bond [Harry], a timberman's assistant 
underground (born 1885 in Kensington, London, son of Harry Bond, a carpenter) at St Michael's, 
Abertillery on 10 January 1909. Fred Skidmore was a witness. They were living with their 
daughter Edith in 1911 at 25 Griffin Street, Sixbells, Abertillery. 

ii. Alice Clara, born 1879Q1 in Kentish Town. A housemaid in Islington in 1901 and domestic nurse  
to a family in Fellows Road, Hampstead in 1911. 

iii. Annie Eliza, born around October 1880 in Kentish Town. She died in 1885Q4 aged 5 years. 
iv. Edward John, born 1882Q3. A farrier who worked for his father, he perhaps married in 1907Q3  

in the Hendon registration district of London. He died aged only 25 in 1908Q1. 
172. v. HENRY GEORGE, born 1888Q1. 

vi. William Charles, aged 6 months at the time of the 1891 census. He died in 1893Q1 aged 2. 
vii. Frank Ernest, born 23 May 1894 in Kentish Town. A French polisher, he was living with his father  

                                                                                                                                                                                     
information. This description by Wakefield does not fit neatly into the rest of Henry [98]'s history but is included here 
in the absence of another Henry son of Edward Skidmore. 



Skidmore (Scudamore) Families of Frampton Cotterell     Linda Moffatt © 2015 
 

65 

 

in 1911. He was part of the 1st Cycling Battalion Royal Fusiliers and on 29 August 1914 signed 
with the 25th (City of London) Reserve Cycling Battalion The London Regiment. He held the rank 
of Cyclist until March 1916, when he transferred to the Royal Field Artillery as a driver. 
Mr Scudamore married in 1920 and died in 1970 aged 75. 

viii. Daniel Moses, born 1896Q3. He died in 1902Q1 aged 5. 
 
100. OLIVER

6
 SKIDMORE, born 1846Q1 at Frampton Cotterell, was a son of Nathan [51] and Mary (Thatcher) 

Skidmore. He was living at the time of the 1861 census at his parents' home in Frampton Cotterell, a pupil 
teacher at the British School. By 1871 he was a schoolmaster at Wellingborough, Northamptonshire. He 
married firstly Charlotte James Perkins (born 1853Q3 in Brawdy, Pembrokeshire) at Haverford West in 
1877Q4. He was a schoolmaster, living in 1881 with his wife and son at the Board SchoolmŀǎǘŜǊΩǎ IƻǳǎŜΣ 
Kilgetty Lane, St Issells, Pembrokeshire. 
 
His wife died in 1898Q aged 45, and he married secondly Jessie Martha Beddoe (born about 1871 in Penally, 
Pembrokeshire) in 1900Q4.  

Mr Skidmore was head teacher at 
Stepaside School. He died in 1934 aged 
88, his wife in 1950. 
 

Stepaside Old School 
www.experiencepembrokeshire.com 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Children of Oliver and Charlotte James (Perkins) Skidmore, born in St Issells, 
173. i.  WILLIAM JAMES, born 1879Q3. 

ii.  Esther Mary, born 1882Q1. She was a post office clerk in Bristol in 1901, boarding with a family  
in St George. 

iii. Herbert John, born 1886Q2. A plumber in Tenby in 1901, when he was boarding with the family  
of stonemason Thomas Griffiths, who was also from St Issells. A plumber boarding in Aberdare in 
1911 and still single. 

 
101. ROBERT

6
 SCUDAMORE, born 1853Q3 at St [ŜƻƴŀǊŘΩǎΣ London, was a son of Robert [53] and Elizabeth 

(Byrne) Scudamore. He enlisted in the army on 31 October 1870 at the age of 17 and served with the 4th 
Regiment of Foot for many years. He married firstly Elizabeth Sarah Anne Bolter (1860-1880) on 26 December 
1877 at St DŜƻǊƎŜΩǎΣ .ƛǊƳƛƴƎƘŀƳΦ IŜ ǿŀǎ ƭƛǾƛƴƎ ƛƴ муум ƛƴ .ƻǿŜǊƘŀƳ .ŀǊǊŀŎƪǎΣ [ŀƴŎŀǎǘŜǊ ǿƘŜǊŜ ƘŜ ǿŀǎ ŀ 
sergeant at this depot for the Infantry Brigade. His 10-year old brother-in-law Richard John Bolter (born in 
Chester) lived there too. 
 
He married secondly Katie Wilson (1865-1947) from Darlington, Yorkshire on 10 January 1886 at St aŀǊȅΩǎ 
Church, Poona, India. They were living in 1901 in a cottage near Home Farm, possibly called Stile House, 
Bradfield, Berkshire, where he was an army pensioner and drill instructor. He died in 1908Q3 in London and his 
widow and three younger children were living by 1911 at 64 Mill Lane, Brixton, London.  
Mrs Scudamore died in 1947 at Poona, India. 
Children of Robert and Elizabeth (Bolter) Scudamore

51
, 

i. Alberta Elizabeth, born 16 December 1878 at Farnham, Surrey. She married James Dobson on 26 
 February 1900 at Kings Norton, Birmingham. Mrs Bolter died in 1908 aged 29. My thanks to her 
 great granddaughter Debra Flaherty for this information. 
ii. Robert Richard, born 2 June 1880 at Preston, Lancashire, who died in infancy the same year. 

Children of Robert and Katie (Wilson) Scudamore, 

                                                           
51

  The work of the late John Selwyn Hunt. 
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iii. Robert Charles Rex, born 16 April 1887 in Quetta, India. He enlisted on 23 July 1915 as a motor  
driver in the Army Service Corps. He went to France in September 1915 but was invalided home 
two months later. Between May 1916 and September 1918 he served with British Forces in 
India. He travelled home in the autumn of 1918 and was admitted to Banstead Asylum with 
'confusional insanity', 'aggravated' by his war service. He died on 27 March 1920 and is buried at 
West Norwood Cemetery. His medals were sent to his mother Mrs Katie Wilson of 34 Tulse Hill, 
Brixton. 

iv. Alfred Allen Victor, born 1 June 1888 in Quetta. He was a clerk before he enlisted at Hounslow  
on 10 September 1906 at the age of 18 years 3 months. In 1911 he was a Lance Corporal in the 
2nd Battalion, The Prince Albert's Somersetshire Light Infantry at Saint Andrew's Barracks, Malta 
and then served in China around 1912 and 1913. He was discharged at his own request, having 
been granted a Commission in the 10th Battalion, Kings Own --- Light Infantry, in May 1915

52
. 

He married firstly Emily Jane Ward (born 1882, died 8 October 1939) in 1917. On his return from 
a trip to Canada in September 1923 aboard the Montcalm, he was returning to Tulse Hill, 
London. He married secondly Cora Spraggs (born 26 February 1891, and died his widow in 1971) 
in 1940. A schoolmaster, he died at Westcliffe-on-Sea, Essex, on 7 July 1963, aged 75 and 
without issue. 

v. George Prince Mountford, born 24 October 1890 in Karachi. A Lance Corporal in the Kings Own 
 Regiment. He was a 2nd Lieutenant in the Royal Lancashire Regiment in World War I and was 
 killed at Ypres in May 1915. 
vi. Katie Eileen, born 12 January 1894 in Lancaster. A cashier in a provisions store. She died 
 unmarried at Lambeth, London, on 18 October 1987. 
vii. Grace Miriam Honora, born 13 August 1897 in Camberley, Surrey. She did not marry and died in 
 1974 aged 77. 

                                                           
52

  War Office Documents at the National Archives. 
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SEVENTH GENERATION 
 
 
104. FREDERICK

7
 SKIDMORE, born 1863Q1 in Winterbourne, baptised Fred on 22 March 1863, was a son of 

George [55] and Sophia (Maggs) Skidmore. He appears to be the Fred Skidmore who married Mary Hayward 
(born about 1865, daughter of William Hayward, a collier) on 28 September 1884 at All Saints, Winterbourne 
Down. Jesse Turner and Ellen Hayward were witnesses. An agricultural labourer like his father, he lived at 
Harcomb's Hill, Winterbourne. At some point in the 1890s he became a mason's labourer and his wife and 
daughters were tailors, working at their home. Mrs Skidmore and her daughter Alice continued to live at 
Winterbourne Down and were sewing machinists in 1911, making trousers in a wholesale clothing factory. 
Children of Frederick and Mary (Hayward) Skidmore, born and baptised at Winterbourne Down, 

i. Elizabeth Ellen, born about 1884. Called Pattie in the census of 1901. She appears to be the Edith  
Ellen Skidmore (who was 27 and born at Winterbourne Down), a servant in Redland Park at the 
time of the 1911 census. 

ii. Florence Mary, born 1886Q1, baptised 16 April 1886. She married Charles Edward Petrie, a  
labourer (born about 1884, son of Edward Petrie, labourer) at Frampton Cotterell on 12 May 
1906, witnessed by Ernest William Petrie and her sister Alice. They lived at Winterbourne Down. 

iii. Alice Victoria, born 7 May (baptised 5 August) 1888. 
 
105. CHARLES

7
 SKIDMORE, son of George [55] and Sophia (Maggs) Skidmore, was born in 1865Q4 in 

Winterbourne and baptised 11 February 1866. He married Minnie Bryant (born about 1866Q2 in Coleford, 
Somerset, apparently a daughter of Azariah Bryant, a coal miner, and his wife Elizabeth (?Ashman)) in 1890Q2 
in Frome registration district. At the time of the 1891 census they were working at the home of clergyman 
Henry Stewart of South End House, Hursley, Hampshire - Charles as coachman, his wife a housemaid. He 
remained a coachman and when Rev. Stewart moved to South End House, Pokesdown, Hampshire, Charles 
and his young family moved to 151 Parkwood Road there. 
By 1911 they were living with their two younger sons at Helvetia West Road, Boscombe Park, Hampshire. Mr 
Skidmore was a coachman at Bath Hotel. 
Children of Charles and Minnie (Bryant) Skidmore, 

i. Harold Bryant, born 1891Q4 in Lyndhurst, Hampshire.  
ii. Frederick Maxwell, born 20 February 1894 in Harlesden, Middlesex. A book binder in 1911. He  

served a gunner with the Royal Field Artillery in WW1. 
Mr Skidmore died in 1983 aged 89, in the Bournemouth area, apparently unmarried. 

175. iii. Edward Victor, born 19 June 1897 in Lyndhurst, Hampshire. He married in 1932 and died in 1977  
aged 80 in Dorset. A daughter. 

 
106. ALBERT

7
 SKIDMORE, born 1868Q2 in Winterbourne, baptised 10 May 1868 at St Michael's there, was a 

son of George [55] and Sophia (Maggs) Skidmore. He is perhaps the young man from Winterbourne who 
(giving his age as 21) was boarding in 1891 in Penmaen hamlet, Mynyddyslwyn, Monmouthshire, a stone 
quarryman. William Shepherd from Bedminster was head of household and other men from Winterbourne 
were boarding there too.  
 
He appears to have married Mary Ann Hayman on 18 September 1897 at Bridgerule, Devon. She was born in 
Poundstock, Cornwall, daughter of labourer Thomas Hayman. She gave her name as Maud at the times of the 
1901 and 1911 censuses and is perhaps the 4-year old Maud Hayman living in 1881 in Higher Penhallum, 
Jacobstow, Cornwall with her parents Thomas Hayman, an agricultural labourer, and Mary Ann. 
 
At the time of the 1901 census Albert Skidmore, then a navvy, was living with his family in Hambrook, 
Mangotsfield, Gloucestershire. During the 1900s they lived in Barnstaple and Ilfracombe and in 1911 Maud 
Skidmore and her children were housed in the Barnstaple Union Workhouse and Cottage Homes in Barnstaple. 
 
The death of Maud M. Skidmore was registered at Barnstaple in 1952 aged 75. 
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Children of Albert and Maud (Hayman) Skidmore, 
i. Stanley Thomas H., birth registered in 1896Q4 as Hayman, called Skidmore and said in the 1901  

census to have been born in Bridge Row (?Bridge Rule), Devon. He was a cow boy on a farm in 
Somers Hiscote, Tawstock, Barnstaple in 1911. He died in 1962 aged 65. 

ii. Rosina Edith May, baptised 28 August 1898Q at All Saints, Winterbourne Down, daughter of  
Albert, labourer of Winterbourne Down, and Maud. She married in 1920. 

iii. Albert Charles, born in Hambrook, on 19 August 1900 according to his death registration in 1972  
in West Glamorgan. No marriage yet found. 

iv. Ivy May, born about 1905 in Barnstaple. She married in 1926. 
v. Henry Leonard, born 1908Q1 in Ilfracombe. He died in 1920 aged 12. 
vi. Hilda V, registered as Hilda in 1910Q1, born in Ilfracombe. She married in 1931. 
vii. Edward F./ Frank E., born February or March 1911 in Barnstaple, died there in 1951 aged 40. 

 
107. EDWIN SKIDMORE alias EDWARD

7
 SKIDMORE, reportedly aged 32 in 1911 and born in Winterbourne, 

appears to be the Edwin Skidmore born in 1876Q2, baptised 13 August 1876 at St Michael's, Winterbourne, 
son of George [55] and Sophia (Maggs) Skidmore. Called Edward in the censuses of 1891 and 1901. An 
excavator on the railway in 1901. 
 
He married Mary Jane Colborn (born 1879Q4 in Iron Acton, daughter of John Colborn, a stone cutter of Clay 
Lane, and his wife Eliza) in 1906Q2 in the Chipping Sodbury registration district. By the time of the 1911 census 
he was a horse driver and groom, living with his wife and children at Rouncival Street, Chipping Sodbury. 
 
Edward Skidmore died in Sodbury registration district in 1945 aged 68. 
Children of Edward and Mary Jane (Colborn) Skidmore, 

i. Florence Beatrice, born 1906Q2 in Iron Acton. She married in 1930. 
and born in Chipping Sodbury, 

ii. Stella Grace, born 1907Q3. 
iii. Edward John, born 1 July 1909. Died 1992. 
iv. Harold, born around 18 June 1910. Died 1994, aged 83. 
v.-vi. 2 further sons. 

 
109. HARRY

7
 SKIDMORE, son of Henry [56] and Mary (Maggs) Skidmore, was baptised on 13 August 1865 at 

All Saints, Winterbourne Down. He was baptised and married as Harry Skidmore but is called Henry in some 
censuses. He worked at the Swan Inn, Winterbourne before his marriage at St Michael's, Winterbourne on 23 
July 1888 to Clara Player, a near neighbour of his uncle George Skidmore. She was born in 1864Q2 in Quarry 
Barton, Hambrook, daughter of John Player, an agricultural labourer, and his wife Ann. Alfred Jones and 
Elizabeth Skidmore, Harry's sister, were witnesses; they married on the same day.  
 
At the time of the 1891 census he was a plasterer living at Quarry Barton. Around 1895 they moved to 
Frampton Cotterell, where their home in 1901 appears to have been in the area of Northwoods House. By 
1911 the family was at Watley's End, Winterbourne. Henry Skidmore aged 59 of Watley's End was buried at St 
Michael's, Winterbourne on 16 October 1924. His wife died in 1923 aged 59. 
Children of Harry and Clara (Player) Skidmore, born in Winterbourne, 

i. Parker Allen, born 1889Q2. He lived with his maternal grandparents and later his aunt Harriet  
Ann (Player) Miles at Quarry Barton. He worked for a market gardener and married, on 29 April  
1911 at White's Hill Chapel, Winterbourne, Mary Corbett. He was a postman at the time he 
enlisted into the Royal West Kents on 18 April 1916. He left England in January 1917 and in July 
1917 was awarded the Military Medal for acts of gallantry in the field. He was captured at 
Cambrai at the end of November 1917 and was a prisoner in Dulmen Prisoner of War Camp in 
Germany. He was repatriated in January 1919. Mr Skidmore died in 1965 aged 76. 

176. ii. ARTHUR EDGAR
8
, born 1891Q1. A domestic gardener in 1911, he appears to have become a  

collier in Teryberth and married in Gelligaer, Glamorgan in 1919. He died in 1977. 
iii. Ida Jane, born 1892Q2. A sewing machinist in a wholesale tailoring factory in 1911. She married  

in 1914. 
iv. Harry, a twin, born 1895Q4. 
v. John, a twin, born 1895Q4. 
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vi. Millicent, born 1902Q4. She married in 1924. 
vii. A child who did not survive. 

 
110. GEORGE

7
 SKIDMORE, born 1871Q1 at Winterbourne and three months old on census night April 2nd, 

was a son of John [57] and Elizabeth (Merrick) Skidmore. I have so far been unable to find George and his 
cousin William [109] in the census of 1891. A stone quarryman, he married Lillie Mary Tanner on 19 April 1897 
at St Saviour, Coalpit Heath. She was born about 1872 in Westerleigh, daughter of Alfred Tanner, a coal miner 
of Coalpit Heath, and his wife Jane.  
 
George and Lillie Skidmore were living in Nicholas Lane, Winterbourne in 1901 but by 1911 he had become a 
coal miner and the family had moved to 38 Hanbury Street, Glan Nant, Pengram, Glamorganshire. 
Children of George and Lillie Mary (Tanner) Skidmore, born in Winterbourne, baptised at St Michael's, 

i. Millicent Blanche, born 8 May (baptised 30 July) 1899. She married in 1928. 
177. ii. THOMAS ALFRED

8
, born 12 December 1900, baptised 3 March 1901. He married in 1925. 

iii. Frank, born 12 October (baptised 30 November) 1902. 
iv. Norah May, born 15 September 1903, baptised 12 June 1904. 
v. Reginald George, born 1908Q3 in Pengam. 

178. vi. LESLIE O.
8
, born 1912Q2. He married in 1931. 

vii. Lillie G., born 1915Q1. She died later that year. 
 
112. JOHN

7
 SKIDMORE, born 11 February 1882 and baptised on 9 April at St Michael's, Winterbourne, was a 

son of John [57] and Elizabeth (Merrick) Skidmore. John was a horse driver in 1901, perhaps on the same farm 
at which his father was a carter or perhaps the local colliery. 
 
He married Madeline Edwards of Winterbourne, (born 1878Q2, daughter of George Edwards, a quarryman, 
and his wife Jane), on 2 April 1904 at St Michael's there. The witnesses were Charles Rodman and Bessie 
Skidmore. By the time of the 1911 census, Mr Skidmore had become a coal miner and their home was at 
Crossley Cottages in Winterbourne. 
Children of John and Madeline (Edwards) Skidmore, baptised at St Michael's, Winterbourne, 

i. Ivy May, born 15 July (baptised 18 September) 1904. She married in 1927. 
ii. Elsie Rosina (her birth and death were registered as such), baptised and buried as Elois Rosina  

Skidmore. She was born 21 May (baptised 25 July) 1906 and died at the age of 4, buried at 
Winterbourne on 1 October 1910. 

iii. Ada Vera Jane, born 23 February (baptised 26 May) 1909. She married in 1931. 
iv. Dennis Graham John, born 23 February (baptised 30 April) 1911. He married in 1943. 
v. Percy Reginald, a twin, born 5 May (baptised 3 July) 1913. He died at 8 weeks and was buried  

along with his twin on 9 July. 
vi. Dulcie Rosina, twin to Percy Reginald. Died at 8 weeks. 

179. vii. BERTRAM GEORGE
8
, baptised 11 April 1915. He married in 1941. 

 
113. EDWARD

7
 SKIDMORE, a stone quarry worker, was born around February 1881 at Tidenham, 

Gloucestershire, a son of William [59] and Mary (Shaw) Skidmore. He married Maud Mary Willey on 14 
December 1903 at Woodstock, Chepstow, according to a private submission to the IGI which also names her 
parents as William and Eliza (Horner) Willey. She was born in Honiton, Devon, her birth apparently that 
registered at Chard in 1884Q2. The census of 1891, when this family were in the parish of Upottery, Devon, 
shows her birthplace as Yarcombe, which is between Honiton and Chard. 
 
Edward and Maud Skidmore were living by 1911 at Stoulgrove Lane, Woodcroft, Chepstow, at which time Mr 
Skidmore was a quarryman working for Richardson & Son. 
Children of Edward and Maud Mary (Willey) Skidmore, born in Chepstow,  
180 i. ALBERT WILLIAM

8
, born 1905Q1. He married in 1929. 

ii. Daisy Olga Maud, born 1906Q1. 
181. iii. EDWARD GEORGE

8
, born 1908Q1. He married in 1928. 

iv. Cicely Emma, born 1910Q2. She married in 1927. 
182. v. BERNARD

8
, born 1912Q2. He married in 1937. 

183. vi. HAROLD J.
8
, born 1914Q2. He married in 1934. 
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vii.-x. 3 further sons and a daughter. 
 
114. WILLIAM

7
 SKIDMORE, whose birth was registered in 1873Q4 as Willie Skidmore, was the son of Ann 

Skidmore the daughter of George [27]. He was baptised at St Michael's, Winterbourne on 14 September 1873. 
 
He appears to have married Sarah Ann Monk (born about 1874 in Winterbourne, daughter of William Monk) 
on 2 August 1897 at Christ Church, Downend. Like his supposed half-brother Henry Pullin, William was a 
quarryman and was living at the time of the 1901 census at The Street, Winterbourne. His wife and children 
were living at 74 Lawn Road, Fishponds, Bristol by about 1905. Mr Skidmore was away at the time of the 1911 
census building houses in Port Talbot. 
 
Mrs Skidmore's could be the death at the age of 38 registered at Bristol in 1913Q1. 
Children of William and Sarah Ann (Monk) Skidmore, born in Winterbourne, baptised at St Michael's, 

i. Gertrude Hannah, born 28 October 1898, baptised 20 November 1898 at SS Philip & Jacob,  
Bristol. 

ii. William Frederick, born 10 January (baptised 26 February) 1899. 
iii. Kathleen, born 10 September (baptised 7 October) 1900. She died in Bristol in 1911Q3 aged 11. 
iv. Walter Harry, born about 1904. He married in 1933 and died in 1945 aged 41. 
v. Herbert Charles, born 1910Q3. He died in Bristol in 1912Q3 aged 2. 

 
115.  JOHN

7
 SKIDMORE, born 1854Q1 in Long Ashton, Somerset, was a son of Hester Skidmore, the daughter 

of John [29] and Ellen (Parsloe) Skidmore. He was raised by his maternal grandparents in Long Ashton and was 
a railway engine cleaner at the time of the 1871 census. He married Maria Beacham (born 1853Q4 in Long 
Ashton, daughter of Richard Beacham, an agricultural labourer, and his wife Sarah) in 1875Q1. By 1881 he was 
a dairyman living at Headley House, Bedminster and he and his wife later ran their business from their home at 
17 Mansfield Road, Bedminster. Maria Skidmore died in Long Ashton in 1926 aged 72. 
Children of John and Maria (Beacham) Skidmore, born at Bishopsworth, Somerset, 

i. Wilfred John, baptised 20 April 1877 at St John's, Bedminster. He died in 1878Q1. 
186. ii. WILLIAM JOHN

8
, registered in 1881Q2 but said to be 2 months old on census night, April 5th. I  

believe he was enumerated in the 1901 census as William Saitmone, when he was a collier 
boarding with the Brooks family at 40 Glyngwyn Street, Mountain Ash, Glamorganshire. 
 
He appears to have married Catherine Selby (born about 1886 in Bristol) in 1908Q1 in 
Pontypridd. They were living in 1911 at 25 Victoria Street, Llanbradach, Glamorganshire, where 
he was a collier. The death of Catherine Skidmore aged 71 was registered at East Glamorgan in 
1958. 
Children of William John and Catherine (Selby) Skidmore, born in Wales, 

i. Kate, born about 1909, perhaps Kathleen Ellen registered at Pontypridd in 1908Q4. 
ii. Annie, born about 1910. 
iii. William H. J., born 1913Q2.   
iv. Edward E., born 1915Q1.    
v.-vii. A further son and 2 daughters. 

iii. Bessie Maria, born 1889Q1. She married Sidney F. Blackmore, an insurance agent (born about  
1884 in Dundry, Somerset) in 1910Q4 in Bristol. They were living at Greyfield Villa, Bishopsworth 
Common in 1911. 

iv. Ellen Sarah, born 1890Q1, called Eleanor in the 1891 census. In service in 1911 and living with  
her mother. 

v. Edward Charles, born 29 January 1895. A young man at Kingswood Reformatory School in 1911.  
He served in WW1 with the Dorsetshire Regiment and also the Somerset Light Infantry. He died 
in 1970 aged 75. 

vi. Lilian Mildred, born 1896Q4. A cigarette packer in 1911. 
 
117. WILLIAM EDWARD

7
 SKIDMORE, born 1862Q4 in Blaenavon, Monmouthshire, was a son of William [63] 

and Eunice Sarah (Brain) Skidmore. A coal miner, he married in 1887Q2 Virginia Bird. She was born in Sedgley, 
Staffordshire and registered Vergina Bird in 1864Q3, daughter of James Bird, blacksmith. Her father moved 
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before 1867 with his wife Eliza (Potts) and children to Worksop, Nottingham, then around 1870 to Llanelly, 
Breconshire and, around 1891, to Abertillery, Monmouthshire.  
 
Edward Skidmore (as he was called in the censuses of 1891 and later) lived with his family in Abertillery, firstly 
at 1 Division Street and, by 1901 when he was running his own grocery shop, at 32 Church Street. His wife died 
in 1908Q1 aged 42 and by the time of the 1911 census the family were at 162 Richmond Road, Sixbells and Mr 
Skidmore had become a coal miner. He died in 1933 aged 70. 
Children of William Edward and Virginia (Bird) Skidmore, born in Abertillery, 

i. Eunice, born 1887Q4 at Cwmtillery, called Winnie in the 1891 census. She married  
Richard Perkins, a coal miner (born about 1881 in Whorlton, Shropshire) in 1910Q3 and they 
were living at the time of the 1911 census at 40 Jubilee Road, Bedwellty. 

ii. Gwladys, born 1889Q4. She died in 1893Q3 aged 3. 
iii. Olive, born about 1892. She married William J. Thomas in 1913 and had children. 
iv. Eliza Maud, born 1895Q1. She married in 1924. 
v. Frederick James, born 1897Q2. 
vi. Berkley Brain, born 1901Q2. He married in 1928. He died in 1965 aged 64. 
vii. Arthur, born 8 November 1904. He died in 1985 aged 80. 
viii. & ix. 2 further children who did not survive. 

 
118. JOSEPH SAMUEL

7
 SKIDMORE, known in America as SAMUEL JOSEPH SKIDMORE, was born in Bitton, 

Gloucestershire, the son of Joseph [64] and Sarah (Sweet) Skidmore. His birth was registered in 1862Q2, 
though his American documents give his birth in March 1861. He followed his uncle Thomas to Canandaigua, 
Ontario County, New York where he was a clerk in a shoe store in 1880. In 1900 he was a lodger (and a 
widower with a young son) with Mrs Eva A. Parmele at 63 Balmforth Avenue in Danbury, Fairfield County, 
Connecticut. He was then employed as a hat blocker, and married Mrs Parmele about 1901. They had moved 
by 1910 to Norwalk, Connecticut, where he was employed as a hatter in a felt hat factory. They lived at 10 
Winsfield Street in Norwalk, and were there at the same address in 1930. 
A child of Samuel Joseph Skidmore by his first wife, 

i. Thomas or Thomas Samuel, born in June 1891 in Connecticut. He was living in 1910, a box  
maker. He is perhaps the factory worker, unmarried who gave his age as 45, rooming on 
Prospect Avenue, Brooklyn, New York City in 1930. 

 
119.   CHARLES

7
 SKIDMORE, born 1859Q2 in St George, Bristol, baptised 19 June at SS Philip & Jacob, was a 

son of Thomas [66] and Celia (Tyler) Skidmore. A boot rivetter, he married Emma Hayden (born perhaps 
1860Q1, daughter of John Hayden) on 31 October 1880 at St Luke's, Barton Hill. She lived with her parents - 
John and Emma Hayden - at first in St Philip's, Bristol then in the 1860s in Bridgewater, Somerset (her father's 
home town) before returning by 1871 to Aiken Street, St George's, Bristol, when her father was a labourer in a 
brick yard. Charles and Emma Skidmore lived at Bright Street, St George's and later Prattens Court, Little Ann 
Street, St Phillip's, Bristol.  
 
Charles enlisted with the 4th Bn, the Somerset Light Infantry on 3 July 1891. He served in the 2nd Boer War of 

1899-1902
53

. At the time of the 1901 census, Mrs Skidmore was living with their younger children at 9 Phoenix 

Street. They were reunited by 1911 and living at 8 Newbridge Road, Brislington, Bristol. Mrs Skidmore was 
then a forewoman at the Great Western Cotton Co., where her daughters Elizabeth and Celia were winders. 
Mr Skidmore died at Bristol in 1927 aged 68. His wife's was perhaps the death at Bristol registered in 1942 
aged 83 (see also Emma Skidmore who died in Bristol in 1943 aged 85). 
Children of Charles and Emma (Hayden) Skidmore, born in St George, 

i. Emma, born 3 February 1881 at Bright Street and baptised on 27 February at SS Philip & Jacob.  
Called Emily in the census of 1901, a cotton spinner boarding in Gt Western Lane, Bristol. A 
laundry worker in 1911. 

ii. Edward, born 1882Q1. He enlisted on 19 January 1898 with the 3rd Gloucestershire Regiment.  

                                                           
53

  British Army Service Records at findmypast.co.uk and UK Military Campaign Medal & Award Rolls 1793-1949 at 

 Ancestry.co.uk. 
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He was then a labourer living at 4 Tichborne Street. The name of his employer is difficult to read 
on his enlistment papers but could be Tinmock. He died on 15 May 1908 at Dalhousie, Bengal, 
India

54
. 

iii. Sarah Ann, born 1883Q4. She died at the age of 15 in 1898Q4. 
191. iv. JOHN

8
 [Jack], born 1885Q2 at Bush Street, Barton Hill, Bristol. A stable boy in 1901 but, with his  

brother Charles, a carter for Thomas Hill Timber Merchants in 1911. He enlisted on 24 August 
1914 at Bristol and joined the Royal Field Artillery. He served in France from May 1915, where 
his skill with horses was put to use as a driver. His army records show he was B.A.C. (?Brigade 
Ammunition Column) with the 48th Brigade. 
He married in 1917 and had a son and a daughter. 

and born in St Jude's parish, 
v. Charles, born 1889Q4, a twin, born in Ann Street, St Jude's, Bristol. A carter, he enlisted, on 12  

December 1915 at Bristol, with what was to become the Labour Corps. He left for France on 3 
October 1916 and served with 155th Labour Company

55
. 

His death was perhaps that registered at Bristol in 1946 aged 56. 
vi. Elizabeth, born 1889Q4, a twin. 
vii. Celia, born 1894Q2 in Phoenix Street. She married in 1918. 
viii. A further child who did not survive. 

 
120. GEORGE HENRY

7
 SKIDMORE, born 1861Q3 and baptised 1 September at St George, Bristol, was a son of 

Charles [67] and Mary Ann (Bird) Skidmore. He began his working life as a boot riveter and married Elizabeth 
Hares on 19 December 1886 at Emmanuel, Bristol. She appears to be the child whose birth was registered at 
Clifton in 1865Q3, born in St George's, daughter of David Hares, a labourer, and his wife Elizabeth. 
 
Kelly's Directory of 1889 lists George Henry Skidmore, boot maker & earthenware dealer at Redfield Road, St 
George. He was living with his family in 1891 close to his parents at 17 Victoria Place, St George, by which time 
he had become the sub-postmaster. By 1901 this family has moved to 213 Church Road (close to Mr 
Skidmore's father). He was then, in addition to being sub-postmaster, keeper of a stationery shop. He reported 
at the time of the 1911 census that he and his wife were divorced. Mr Skidmore died in 1918Q1 aged 56. 
Children of George Henry and Elizabeth (Hares) Skidmore, born in Bristol, 

i. Lilian Maud, born 1888Q1. A school teacher. 
ii. Millicent Ida, born 1889Q3. She and her sister worked for the Post Office and assisted their  

father. She married in 1916. 
iii. Ella Constance, born 1890Q4. She married Sydney C. John in 1914. 
iv. Francis Reginald, baptised 30 November 1900 at St Matthew's, Moorfields, Bristol. He died in  

Victoria, Australia, aged 67. 
 
121. ARTHUR HENRY

7
 SKIDMORE, son of Joseph [68] and Mary Blanch (Legg) Skidmore, was born in 1871Q1 

in the Fishponds/ Stapleton area of Bristol and baptised on 6 June at St Michael's, Two Mile Hill.
56

 Known as 
Henry Skidmore, he became after his stepfather's death a boot finisher and lived with his aunt Mary Ann 
(Legg) Jones and family in Victoria Road, St George. 
 
He married Sarah Taylor (born about 1873 in Bitton, daughter of Joseph Taylor) on 19 October 1891 at St 
Mary's, Bitton and they were living in 1901 at Lodge Hill, Fishponds, Bristol. Sarah Skidmore died in 1907 aged 
34 and was buried 9 August at Holy Trinity, Kingswood. Mr Skidmore married secondly Annie Norris (born 
about 1870 in Bradford On Avon, Wiltshire) at Bradford on Avon in 1910Q4, and was living in 1911 at 12 Court 
Road, Kingswood, Bristol with his wife and three sons. He died in 1955 aged 84. 
Children of Arthur Henry and Sarah (Taylor) Skidmore, 
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  India, Select Deaths and Burials, 1719-1948 at Ancestry.com. 
55

  The Labour Companies of the Labour Corps carried out a whole range of defence works duties in the UK and in  
overseas theatres, especially in France and Flanders. These included road and railway building/repair, moving 
ammunition and stores, loading and unloading ships and trains, burial duties and at home agriculture and forestry. 

56
  He was said in the census of 1871, at the age of 3 months, to be 'deaf and dumb' though this would appear to have  

been an error and should have been entered against George Legg (next above on the census sheet), his mother's 
younger brother. 




